
 

                         

 

 

 

                             

 

 

TOWN OF MELBOURNE BEACH 

 

REGULAR TOWN COMMISSION MEETING 

 

 

MARCH 20, 2024 

 

AGENDA PACKET 

 

1



TABLE OF CONTENTS 
AGENDA MARCH 20, 2024 

 
MEETING AGENDA – ADDITIONS/DELETIONS/CHANGES – Pages 3-5  
 

CONSENT AGENDA  
A. Reappointment of Parks Board Member Lisa Kishegyi – Page 6 
B. Approval of the site plan for 526 Sunset Blvd – New home – Pages 7-51 
 
PROCLAMATIONS/PRESENTATIONS/AWARDS 
A. Fire Department presentation including a proclamation commemorating 33 years of dedicated 

volunteer service to the Town of Melbourne Beach provided by Retired Fire Lieutenant Stephen 
Stewart, the swearing in of two new State Certified Volunteer Firefighters Michael Bellucco and George 
Walters, and acceptance of a donation from the MBVFA – Pages 52-54 

B. Presentation by Town Attorney Ryan Knight – Pages 55-67 
C. Fiscal Year 2023 Financial Audit presented by James Moore – Pages 68-143 
 
FINANCE/BUDGET REPORT – Pages 144-159 
 

DEPARTMENT AND BOARD/COMMITTEE REPORTS 
A. Public Works Department – Pages 160-161 
B. Building Department – Pages 162-167 
C. Code Enforcement – Pages 168-170 
D. Fire Department – Pages 171-175 
E. Police Department – Pages 176-186 
F. Town Clerk – Page 187 
 

UNFINISHED BUSINESS 
A. Consideration of pricing contract renewal with Waste Pro – Pages 188-195 
B. Consideration of a volunteer Beach Ambassador program – Pages 196-198 
C. Consideration on ordinance language changes related to sheds – Pages 199-203 
D. Consideration of language for the second kitchen repeal ordinance – Pages 204-213 
E. Consideration to obtain a traffic engineer study for traffic calming device options – Pages 214-215 
F. Consideration of upcoming Regular Town Commission Meeting dates – Page 216 
 
NEW BUSINESS 
A. Consideration of salary for Police Chief Tim Zander – Page 217 
B. Consideration of Resolution 2024-02 – Budget Amendment – Pages 218-220 
C. Discussion of prohibiting sleeping/camping in all zoned public places, vehicles, or any properties within 

Town limits – Pages 221-223 
D. Discussion on installing a children’s gaga ball pit – Pages 224-244 
E. Discussion on Code review, revision, and training related to short-term rentals and Town rules as to 

occupant, noise, parking, and similar short-term rental issues – Pages 245-261 
F. Discussion on creating a Citizen Advisory Board – Pages 262-268 
 

TASK LIST – Pages 269-270 

2



Town of Melbourne Beach 
 
 

REGULAR TOWN COMMISSION MEETING 

March 20, 2024 at 6:00 p.m. 

COMMUNITY CENTER – 509 OCEAN AVENUE 

 
 

PUBLIC NOTICE 

AGENDA 
 

 

The Town Commission will conduct a Regular Town Commission Meeting 

on Wednesday, March 20, 2024, in the Community Center 

to address the items below 

 

 

 

Commission Members: 

Mayor Alison Dennington 

Vice Mayor Sherri Quarrie 

Commissioner Corey Runte 

Commissioner Marivi Walker 

Commissioner Adam Meyer 

 

Staff Members: 

Town Manager Elizabeth Mascaro 

Town Attorney Ryan Knight 

Town Clerk Amber Brown 

 

 

 

 

Notice: Commission discussion and possible action may occur during any Commissioner Meeting. The following sections 

of the Agenda are always subject to such discussion and possible action without further motion by the Commission: 

Changes to the Agenda, Public Hearings, Unfinished Business, and New Business. 

The public is advised that members of the Town Commission may be in attendance and participate in proceedings of the 

board. Attorney General Opinions (AGO) AGO 91-95, AGO 98-14, AGO 2000-68. 

PURSUANT TO SECTION 286.0105, FLORIDA STATUTES, THE TOWN HEREBY ADVISES THE PUBLIC THAT: In order to appeal 

any decision made at this meeting, you will need a verbatim transcript of the proceedings. It will be your responsibility to 

ensure such a record is made. Such person must provide a method for recording the proceedings verbatim as the Town 

does not do so. 

In accordance with the Americans with Disability Act and Section 286.26, Florida Statutes, persons needing special 

accommodations for this meeting shall, at least 5 days prior to the meeting, contact the Office of the Town Clerk at (321) 

724-5860 or Florida Relay System at 711. 

 

3



1. Call to Order  
 

2. Roll Call  
 

3. Pledge of Allegiance and Moment of Silence 
 

4. Meeting Agenda – Additions/Deletions/Changes 
 

5. Consent Agenda 

A. Reappointment of Parks Board Member Lisa Kishegyi 

B. Approval of the site plan for 526 Sunset Blvd – New home 
 

6. Proclamations/Presentations/Awards  

A. Fire Department presentation including a proclamation commemorating 33 years of 

dedicated volunteer service to the Town of Melbourne Beach provided by Retired Fire 

Lieutenant Stephen Stewart, the swearing in of two new State Certified Volunteer 

Firefighters Michael Bellucco and George Walters, and acceptance of a donation from the 

MBVFA - Followed by a brief reception 

B. Presentation by Town Attorney Ryan Knight 

C. Fiscal Year 2023 Financial Audit presented by James Moore 
 

7. Finance/Budget Report 
 

8. Department and Board/Committee Reports 

A. Public Works Department 

B. Building Department 

C. Code Enforcement 

D. Fire Department 

E. Police Department 

F. Town Clerk 
 

9. Public Comment (Non-Agenda Items) 

After being acknowledged by the Mayor, members of the public should state their name and 

address for the record. The Commission encourages citizens to prepare their comments in 

advance. Each individual will have three (3) minutes to address the Commission on any 

topic(s) related to Town business, not on the Agenda.   
 

10. Public Hearings/Special Orders 
 

11. Unfinished Business 

A. Consideration of pricing contract renewal with Waste Pro – Town Manager Elizabeth 

Mascaro 

B. Consideration of a volunteer Beach Ambassador program – Town Manager Elizabeth 

Mascaro 

C. Consideration on ordinance language changes related to sheds – Building Official Robert 

Bitgood 

D. Consideration of language for the second kitchen repeal ordinance – Town Attorney Ryan 

Knight 

E. Consideration to obtain a traffic engineer study for traffic calming device options – Town 

Manager Elizabeth Mascaro 

F. Consideration of upcoming Regular Town Commission Meeting dates – Commissioner 

Corey Runte 

4



 

12. New Business 

A. Consideration of salary for Police Chief Tim Zander – Town Manager Elizabeth Mascaro 

B. Consideration of Resolution 2024-02 – Budget Amendment – Finance Manager Jennifer 

Kerr 

A RESOLUTION OF THE TOWN OF MELBOURNE BEACH, 

BREVARD COUNTY, FLORIDA, AMENDING THE BUDGET 

FOR THE FISCAL YEAR 2023-2024; AMENDING RESOLUTION 

NO 2023-09; AMENDING EXPENDITURES FOR ALL FUNDS 

INCLUDING THE TOWN’S GENERAL FUND; ESTABLISHING 

AUTHORITY FOR THE TOWN MANAGER TO IMPLEMENT 

THE BUDGET; AND PROVIDING FOR ADOPTION 

 

C. Discussion of prohibiting sleeping/camping in all zoned public places, vehicles, or any 

properties within Town limits – Vice Mayor Sherri Quarrie 

D. Discussion on installing a children’s gaga ball pit – Commissioner Corey Runte 

E. Discussion on Code review, revision, and training related to short-term rentals and Town 

rules as to occupant, noise, parking, and similar short-term rental issues – Mayor Alison 

Dennington 

F. Discussion on creating a Citizen Advisory Board – Mayor Alison Dennington 
 

13. Administrative Reports  

A. Town Attorney 

B. Town Manager 
 

14. Commission Reports 
 

15. Task List 
 

16. Public Comment 
 

17. Adjournment 

5



 
1. Name: __________________________________  Home Phone: _______________________ 

2. Home Address: ______________________________________________________________ 

3. Mobile Phone: ____________________ E-mail address: ______________________________ 

4. Business Name: ________________________ Business Phone: _______________________ 

5. Resume or Education & Experience: ______________________________________________ 
  (Use additional sheets if necessary or submit resume) 

6. Date of birth: ______________________ (to verify voter registration) 
                   (optional) 

7. Are you a qualified elector of the town?     YES  NO   

8. Are you a resident of the town?      YES  NO  

9. Do you reside in the town for at least ten (10) months of each calendar year?    YES  NO   

10. Do you hold a public office?     YES  NO   

11. Do you currently serve on a Town board?  YES  NO  

 If yes, which board? ___________________________________ 

12. Please check the board(s) you are interested in serving on: 

□ Audit Committee 

□ Board of Adjustment 

□ Civil Service Board 

□ Code Enforcement Board 

□ Environmental Advisory Board 
 

□ History Center Board 

□ History Preservation and Awareness 

□ Parks Board 

□ Planning and Zoning Board 

□ Police Pension Fund Board of Trustees

13. Why do you think you are qualified to serve on this board? _________________________ 
 ________________________________________________________________________ 
14. Would you consider serving on another board other than the one(s) you have selected above?     
  YES  NO 
Note: Persons appointed to certain town boards must file a financial disclosure form with the Brevard 
County Supervisor of Elections and Florida Commission on Ethics. If you have any questions, please 
call the Town Clerk’s office at 724-5860. 
 
Signature: ______________________________________  Date: ______________ 

TOWN BOARD VOLUNTEER APPLICATION 
                                                                               Town of Melbourne Beach 

507 Ocean Avenue 
Melbourne Beach, Florida 32951 

Phone: (321) 724-5860     Fax:  (321) 984-8994 

6

townclerk
Rectangle



7



8



9



10



11



12



13



14



15



16



17



18



19



20



21



22



23



24



25



26



27



28



29



30



31



32



33



34



35



36



37



38



39



40



41



42



43



44



45



46



47



48



49



50



51



Attachments: Proclamation 

Date Prepared: 3-13-2024 

Prepared By: Fire Chief Gavin Brown 

Meeting Date: March 20, 2024 

 
Agenda Category: 

X Proclamations & Awards  Public Hearings 

X Presentations  Old Business 

 Boards & Committees  New Business 

 Consent  Other:  

 

Subject: A presentation from the Melbourne Beach 
Volunteer Fire Department including a 
proclamation commemorating 33 years of 
dedicated volunteer service to the Town of 
Melbourne Beach provided by Ret. Fire 
Lieutenant Stephen Stewart, the swearing in of 
two new State Certified Volunteer Firefighters 
(Michael Bellucco and George Walters), and 
acceptance of a donation from the MBVFA. 

Recommended Action:  
 

Background Information:  

1. After 33 years of service to the Melbourne Beach 

Vol. Fire Department, Volunteer Fire Lieutenant 

Stephen Stewart is finally retiring from active 

duty.  Lieutenant Stewart joined the Fire 

Department in 1990, serving in many capacities 

along the way, including as a Marine Rescue 

Team Member, State Certified Volunteer 

Firefighter, and Fire Lieutenant.  In addition to 

responding to emergency calls for service, over 

the course of his volunteer career, Lt. Stewart 

has received multiple commendations for his 

above and beyond service, and has served on 

multiple strike teams for countywide wildfire 

incidents, disaster response teams for hurricane 

events, and community outreach teams to assist 

with special community events.   

 

52



 

2. It is a large commitment for volunteers to give up 

the amount of time required to obtain their State 

of Florida Volunteer Firefighter certification.  

George Walters and Michael Bellucco have been 

volunteering with the Department since 2022, and 

over the past year, they have both completed 

more than 200 hours of formal classroom & 

practical training pertaining to critical topics such 

as safety, communications, structural and 

wildland fire suppression, rescue, first aid, CPR, 

hazardous materials, and property conservation.  

Out of 13 students in the original class, only 3 (2 

from Melbourne Beach) have been able to 

complete all of the necessary requirements to 

become State certified.  (We anticipate 3 more 

from Melbourne Beach and 1 more from Indian 

Harbour Beach will be able to obtain their 

certification shortly.) 

 

3. The Melbourne Beach Volunteer Firefighters 

Association would like to donate funds for use by 

the Fire Department to purchase 4 new AED 

training units, additional Stop the Bleed kits, misc. 

classroom consumable items, and hydration 

supplies for emergency scenes (drinking waters 

& electrolyte packets).   

 

 

53



COMMEMORATING 33 YEARS OF DEDICATED VOLUNTEER SERVICE TO THE TOWN 

OF MELBOURNE BEACH PROVIDED BY RET. FIRE LIEUTENANT STEPHEN STEWART 
 

  

WHEREAS, Lieutenant Stephen Stewart joined the Melbourne Beach Volunteer Fire 
Department in 1990, and has faithfully served his community as a volunteer 
firefighter for 33 years; and 

 
WHEREAS, Lieutenant Stewart was a founding member of the Department’s Water Rescue 

Team, which was established in 1995 as one of the first in Brevard County; and 
 

WHEREAS, over the course of his volunteer career, Lieutenant Stewart has served the 
Department in many capacities, including as a Marine Rescue Team Member, State 
Certified Volunteer Firefighter, and Fire Lieutenant; and 

 
WHEREAS, Lieutenant Stewart has received multiple commendations during his many years of 

volunteer service, including being named as Melbourne Beach’s Volunteer 
Firefighter of the Year twice, and receiving multiple training attendance and 
emergency response awards; and 

 

WHEREAS, in addition to responding to local emergency calls for service, Lieutenant Stewart 
has served on multiple strike teams for countywide wildfire incidents, disaster 
response teams for hurricane events, and community outreach teams to assist with 
special events such as Fire Prevention Week at local schools and the Fire 
Department’s holiday events; and 

 
WHEREAS, today, even after his retirement from active duty, Lieutenant Stewart continues to 

be active in supporting the Department, passing on his vast experience and 
knowledge to the Department’s new volunteer firefighters;  

 
NOW, THEREFORE, be it resolved that I, Mayor Alison Dennington, and the members of the Town of 

Melbourne Beach Commission, on behalf of a grateful community, do hereby 
recognize all that Lieutenant Stephen Stewart has accomplished in support of 
the Melbourne Beach Volunteer Fire Department, and formally extend our thanks 
for his above and beyond service in keeping our community safe for the past 33 
years. Thank you Lieutenant Stewart for all you have done for the Town of 
Melbourne Beach and congratulations on your well-earned retirement after a 
lifetime of service! 

54



Section I 

Town Charter 
Overview 

55



Town of Melbourne 
Beach

Town Charter

56



Basic Forms of Municipal Government
• Florida League of Cities Municipal Officials Manual

• (1) Council-Weak Mayor
• Mostly in smaller towns

• Mayor is rotated among the elected council members on an annual basis

• Council retains collective control over administration, including appointment and 
dismissal of municipal employees and appointments to boards and commissions

• Generally, the Mayor’s authority is little, if any, greater than that of the other council 
members

• Department heads report to the council as a whole

57



Basic Forms of Municipal Government
• (2) Council-Strong Mayor

• Distinct division of powers between the council and the mayor

• Mayor is the chief executive, and the office of mayor has substantial influence in the 
policymaking process and substantial control over administration

• Mayor holds important budgetary and appointing powers, along with the power to
veto legislative actions of the council

• Mayor has general power to appoint people to boards and commissions

• (3) Council-Manager
• Manager is the chief administrative officer of the city

• Manager supervises and coordinates the departments, appoints and removes their 
directors, prepares the budget for the council’s consideration, and makes reports and 
recommendations to the council

58



Basic Forms of Municipal Government
• (3) Council-Manager (cont.)

• Manager fully responsible for municipal administration
• Mayor is ceremonial head of municipality, presides over council meetings and may 

serve as the spokesperson for the city
• Mayor may be an important political figure but has little, if any, role in day-to-day 

municipal administration
• Widely viewed as a way to take politics out of municipal administration
• Manager expected to abstain from any and all political involvement
• Counsel members are expected to refrain from intruding on the Manager’s role as chief 

executive and expected to abstain from seeking to individually interfere in 
administrative matters, including actions on personnel matters

• Some city charters provide that interference in administrative matters by an elected
city official is grounds for removal from office (not present in Town’s Charter)

59



Town Form of Government
• Council-Manager (see FLC Florida Municipal Officials Manual)

• Manager is the Chief Administrative Officer of the Town
• Supervises and coordinates the departments

• Appoints and removes department directors

• Prepares budget for Commission consideration

• Makes reports and recommendations to the Commission

• Widely viewed as a way to take politics out of municipal administration
• Manager expected to abstain from political involvement

• Commission members and other political leaders are expected to refrain from intruding on the 
Manager’s role as Chief Executive

• Hired and fired by the Commission, is subject to the authority of the Commission, but council 
members are expected to abstain from seeking to individually interfere in administrative 
matters

60



Article II - Section 2.01
• General Powers and Duties of the Town Commission

• “All powers of the Town shall be vested in an elected Commission, except as
otherwise provided by law or by this Chapter. The Commission shall provide for
the exercise by the Town of its municipal powers and for the performance of all
duties and obligations imposed on the Town by law.

61



Article II – Sections 2.07 & 2.08
• Mayor

• Shall be a voting member of the Commission

• Presiding Officer of the Commission

• Titular head of the Town Government for ceremonial purposes and for the purpose of 
civil process

• Vice-Mayor
• Elected annually by the Commissioners

• Shall act temporarily as Mayor in the absence or disability of the Mayor

62



Article II – Section 2.12
• Legislative Procedure

• Three (3) members of the Commission constitute a quorum

• No action shall be valid or binding unless adopted by the affirmative vote of at least 
three (3) members of the Commission

• Commission shall determine its own rules and order of business 

63



Article III – Section 3.01
• Powers and Duties of the Town Commission

• All powers of the Town shall be vested in an elected commission

• Responsible to the citizens for the proper functioning of all Town affairs, shall have 
power and are required to:
• Appoint, suspend, or remove the Town Manager, Town Clerk, or Town Attorney or any 

members of any board, commission or agency, who are appointed by the Town Commission

• Approve any additions or deletions of staff positions upon recommendation of Manager

• Provide policy direction to, and exercise control over, the Town Manager as may be required

• Approval annual Town budget and periodically review financial status of Town

• Provide Town representation on intragovernmental groups

• Perform such other duties as may be prescribed by ordinance or resolution

64



Article III – Section 3.03
• Office of Town Manager

• Appointed by Town Commission

• Chief Administrative Officer

• Direct and supervises the administration of all departments except Town Attorney

• Prepares annual budget and advises Town as to the financial condition and future 
needs of the Town

• Sees that all laws, Charter provisions, ordinances, resolutions and other acts of the 
Commission subject to enforcement by her are faithfully executed

• Makes recommendations to Commission

• Commission or members shall not give orders or directions to any officer or employee 
under the supervision of the Manager (except for purpose of inquiries and 
investigations)

65



Article III – Section 3.04
• Office of the Town Clerk

• Hired by Town Manager to serve the Commission

• Town Manager has exclusive supervisory authority, including the authority to manage, 
discipline, and terminate consistent with the Town’s employment polices, without 
consent of the Town Commission

• Duties include: custodian of official records as the Commission may prescribe; attestor 
to contracts; chief registration and elections officer of the Town; and other duties so 
prescribed by the Town Commission or Town Manager

66



Article III – Section 3.05
• Office of Town Attorney

• Appointed by Commission

• Legal advisor and attorney to the officers of the Town in matters affecting the Town or
relating to their official duties

• Prosecute and defend on behalf of Town all civil actions

• Prepare and endorse written instruments

• Other duties as the Commission may require or as may be prescribed by general state
law

67



Regular Town Commission Meeting Agenda    
 

Section:   Presentations  

Meeting Date:  March 20, 2024  

Subject: Presentation and Review of Town Audit for Fiscal Year 2023 by 
James Moore    

Submitted By:  Jennifer Kerr, Finance Manager 

 

Background Information 
 
Audit for Fiscal Year 2023 
 
Recommendation:   

Review Audit  

Attachments:  

Fiscal Year 2023 Audit  

68



888-387-6851
www. jmco .com

T own  o f  Me l bou rne  Beach ,
F l o r i da

Annual Audit for the Year Ended 
September 30, 2023

Presented by:
Zach Chalifour, CPA

69

http://www.jmco.com/


Auditors’ Reports

• Independent Auditors’ Report (pages 1-3)
• Unmodified Opinion

• Report on Internal Control and Compliance(pages 56-57)
• No material weaknesses

• Management Letter Required by Chapter 10.550, Rules of the AG (pages 58-60)
• 2 other recommendations – Budget Amendments, Capital Asset Inventory

• Independent Accountants’ Examination Report (page 61)
• Town in compliance with state statutes over investment activity/policies

70



General Fund (Page 15)

Fund Balance 9/30/2023 9/30/2022 9/30/2021 9/30/2020

Nonspendable $            135,391 $            85,624 $              57,713 $              55,802
Restricted 39,508 20,148 15,833 11,233
Committed -0- -0- -0- -0-
Assigned -0- -0- -0- -0-

Unassigned 2,942,727 2,743,773 2,691,625 2,489,781
Total $         3,117,626 $         2,849,545 $         2,765,171 $         2,556,816

71



General Fund (continued)

Total Assigned/Unassigned Fund Balance $ 2,942,727

2023 Expenditures and Transfers Out $ 4,053,347

Percentage Unassigned Fund Balance
as a percentage of Expenditures : 72.6%

Prior Year % 71.5 %

GFOA Minimum Rec. = 2 Months At least 16.7%

72



Pension Funds  

• Net Pension Liability – recorded in financial statements
- Governmental Activities: $1.1 million net pension liability from Police & FRS

• Police pension (unfunded) liability history – amounts and % 
funded:

Year
Net Pension 

Liability Funded %
2023 $        522,066 89.39%
2022 1,418,444 73.39%

2021 238,957 95.16%
2020 916,021 80.44%

73



Other Items

• Other governmental funds
• $2,772,003 total fund balance
• No individual deficit fund balances

• ARPA
• $1,651,815 award recognized in FY22
• $829K in current year expenditures
• $759,385 in assigned fund balance for capital improvements

• Net Pension Liability – FRS allocation
• Governmental Activities: $620,025
• Overall impact of pension liability
• All Town contributions made

74



QUESTIONS

75



 

 

March 13, 2024 

To the Honorable Mayor and Town Commission Members, 
  Town of Melbourne Beach, Florida: 

We have audited the financial statements of the Town of Melbourne Beach, Florida (the Town) as of and 
for the year ended September 30, 2023, and have issued our report thereon dated March 13, 2024. 
Professional standards require that we advise you of the following matters relating to our audit. 

Our Responsibility in Relation to the Financial Statement Audit 

As communicated in our engagement letter dated July 26, 2021, our responsibility, as described by 
professional standards, is to form and express an opinion about whether the financial statements that have 
been prepared by management with your oversight are presented fairly, in all material respects, in 
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. Our audit of 
the financial statements does not relieve you or management of your respective responsibilities. 

Our responsibility, as prescribed by professional standards, is to plan and perform our audit to obtain 
reasonable, rather than absolute, assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material 
misstatement. An audit of financial statements includes consideration of internal control over financial 
reporting as a basis for designing audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for 
the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control over financial 
reporting. Accordingly, as part of our audit, we considered the internal control of the Town  solely for the 
purpose of determining our audit procedures and not to provide any assurance concerning such internal 
control. 

We are also responsible for communicating significant matters related to the audit that are, in our 
professional judgment, relevant to your responsibilities in overseeing the financial reporting process. 
However, we are not required to design procedures for the purpose of identifying other matters to 
communicate to you.  

We have provided our findings regarding significant control deficiencies over financial reporting and 
material weaknesses and material noncompliance, and other matters noted during our audit in a separate 
letter to you dated March 13, 2024. 

Planned Scope and Timing of the Audit  

We conducted our audit consistent with the planned scope and timing we previously communicated to 
you. 

Compliance with All Ethics Requirements Regarding Independence 

The engagement team, others in our firm, and our firm has complied with all relevant ethical requirements 
regarding independence.  

We have applied safeguards related to our preparation of the Town’s financial statements, including, but 
not limited to, an assessment of management’s skills, knowledge, and experience, and by obtaining a 
completed financial statement disclosure checklist from management. 

76



Town of Melbourne Beach, Florida 
March 13, 2024 
Page 2 

 

Significant Risks Identified 

Professional standards require that we, as auditors, identify significant risks that impact the audit based 
upon the nature of the organization and design our audit procedures to adequately address those risks. As 
part of the audit process, we have identified the following significant risks, which are being 
communicated solely to comply with auditing standards and do not represent any specific finding and/or 
concerns related to the audit: 

 Override of internal controls by management 
 Improper revenue recognition due to fraud 
 Improper use of restricted resources 

 
Our audit was designed to adequately address the above risks and no issues were noted that impacted our 
ability to render an opinion on the financial statements.    

Qualitative Aspects of the Entity’s Significant Accounting Practices  

Significant Accounting Policies 

Management has the responsibility to select and use appropriate accounting policies. A summary of the 
significant accounting policies adopted by the Town is included in Note 1 to the financial statements. 
There have been no initial selection of accounting policies and no changes in significant accounting 
policies or their application during 2023. No matters have come to our attention that would require us, 
under professional standards, to inform you about (1) the methods used to account for significant unusual 
transactions and (2) the effect of significant accounting policies in controversial or emerging areas for 
which there is a lack of authoritative guidance or consensus. 

Significant Accounting Estimates 

Accounting estimates are an integral part of the financial statements prepared by management and are 
based on management’s current judgments. Those judgments are normally based on knowledge and 
experience about past and current events and assumptions about future events. Certain accounting 
estimates are particularly sensitive because of their significance to the financial statements and because of 
the possibility that future events affecting them may differ markedly from management’s current 
judgments. 

The most sensitive accounting estimates affecting the financial statements are: 

Management’s estimate of the allowance for doubtful accounts was based on historical water 
revenues, historical loss levels, and an analysis of the collectability of individual accounts. We 
evaluated the key factors and assumptions used to develop the allowance in determining that it is 
reasonable in relation to the financial statements taken as a whole and in relation to the applicable 
opinion units. 

Management’s estimate of useful lives for depreciation was based on past history within each 
capital asset class. We evaluated the key factors and assumptions used to develop the useful lives in 
determining that it is reasonable in relation to the financial statements taken as a whole and in 
relation to the applicable opinion units. 

Management’s estimates of the net pension liability and total OPEB liability were based on actuarial 
factors and were calculated by actuaries independent of the Town. We evaluated the key factors and 
assumptions used to develop the net pension liability and total OPEB liability in determining that it 
is reasonable in relation to the financial statements taken as a whole and in relation to the applicable 
opinion units. 

77



Town of Melbourne Beach, Florida 
March 13, 2024 
Page 3 

 

Management’s estimate of due from other governments related to disaster recovery reimbursements 
due from FEMA. We evaluated the key factors and assumptions used to develop the net receivable 
balance in determining that it is reasonable in relation to the financial statements taken as a whole 
and in relation to the applicable opinion units. 

Financial Statement Disclosures  

Certain financial statement disclosures involve significant judgment and are particularly sensitive because 
of their significance to financial statement users. The most sensitive disclosures affecting the Town’s 
financial statements relate to: 

The Deposits and Investments note summarizes the Town’s deposits and investments, including 
any risks or concentrations in investments held. 

The Long-Term Debt note to the financial statements summarizes the Town’s long-term debt 
obligations, including future debt service payments. 

The Employee’s Retirement Plans note to the financial statements summarizes the basic 
information regarding the Town’s pension plans and the net pension liability. 

Significant Unusual Transactions 

There were no significant unusual transactions identified as a result of our audit procedures that were 
brought to the attention of management and required to be communicated to you. 

Significant Difficulties Encountered during the Audit 

We encountered no significant difficulties in dealing with management relating to the performance of the 
audit. 

Uncorrected and Corrected Misstatements  

For purposes of this communication, professional standards require us to accumulate all known and likely 
misstatements identified during the audit, other than those that we believe are trivial, and communicate 
them to the appropriate level of management. Further, professional standards require us to also 
communicate the effect of uncorrected misstatements related to prior periods on the relevant classes of 
transactions, account balances or disclosures, and the financial statements as a whole and each applicable 
opinion unit. The following summarizes uncorrected financial statement misstatements whose effects in 
the current and prior periods, as determined by management, are immaterial, both individually and in the 
aggregate, to the financial statements taken as a whole and each applicable opinion unit: 

 None noted. 

In addition, professional standards require us to communicate to you all material, corrected misstatements 
that were brought to the attention of management as a result of our audit procedures. The following 
material misstatements that we identified as a result of our audit procedures were brought to the attention 
of, and corrected by, management: 

 $100,000 adjustment to reclass capital outlay to prepaid items for fire truck deposit in the general 
fund 

 $14,000 adjustment to reclass prepaid items to expenses for assets placed into service in the 
current year. 

 $7,000 adjustment to increase accounts receivable and FPL utility tax revenue for proper year-end 
cutoff 

78



Town of Melbourne Beach, Florida 
March 13, 2024 
Page 4 

 

Disagreements with Management 

For purposes of this letter, professional standards define a disagreement with management as a matter, 
whether or not resolved to our satisfaction, concerning a financial accounting, reporting, or auditing 
matter, which could be significant to the Town’s financial statements or the auditors’ report. No such 
disagreements arose during the course of the audit. 

Circumstances that Affect the Form and Content of the Auditors’ Report 

For purposes of this letter, professional standards require that we communicate any circumstances that 
affect the form and content of our auditors’ report. We identified no circumstances that affect the form 
and content of the auditors’ report as a result of our audit procedures. 

Representations Requested from Management 

We have requested certain representations from management that are included in the management 
representation letter dated March 13, 2024. 

Management’s Consultations with Other Accountants 

In some cases, management may decide to consult with other accountants about auditing and accounting 
matters. Management informed us that, and to our knowledge, there were no consultations with other 
accountants regarding auditing and accounting matters. 

Other Significant Matters, Findings, or Issues 

In the normal course of our professional association with the Town, we generally discuss a variety of 
matters, including the application of accounting principles and auditing standards, operating and 
regulatory conditions affecting the entity, and operational plans and strategies that may affect the risks of 
material misstatement. None of the matters discussed resulted in a condition to our retention as the 
Town’s auditors. 

Other Matters 

With respect to the supplementary information accompanying the financial statements, we made certain 
inquiries of management and evaluated the form, content, and methods of preparing the information to 
determine that the information complies with accounting principles generally accepted in the United 
States of America, the method of preparing it has not changed from the prior period, and the information 
is appropriate and complete in relation to our audit of the financial statements. We compared and 
reconciled the supplementary information to the underlying accounting records used to prepare the 
financial statements or to the financial statements themselves. 

This report is intended solely for the information and use of the Town Commission and management of 
the Town of Melbourne Beach, Florida and is not intended to be and should not be used by anyone other 
than these specified parties. 

Very truly yours, 

 

 

JAMES MOORE & CO., P.L. 

79



 

 

TOWN OF MELBOURNE BEACH, FLORIDA 

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

SEPTEMBER 30, 2023 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

80



 

- i - 

TOWN OF MELBOURNE BEACH, FLORIDA 
TABLE OF CONTENTS 
SEPTEMBER 30, 2023 

 
 

Financial Section 
 
Independent Auditors’ Report .................................................................................................................. 1 - 3 
Management’s Discussion and Analysis ................................................................................................ 4 - 12 
Basic Financial Statements 
 Government-wide Financial Statements 
  Statement of Net Position .................................................................................................................. 13 
  Statement of Activities ...................................................................................................................... 14 
 Fund Financial Statements 
  Balance Sheet—Governmental Funds .............................................................................................. 15 
  Reconciliation of the Balance Sheet  Governmental Funds to the Statement of Net Position ........ 16 
  Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund 
   Balances—Governmental Funds ...................................................................................................... 17 
  Reconciliation of the Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and 
   Changes in Fund Balances of Governmental Funds to the Statement of Activities ......................... 18 
  Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances –  
   Budget and Actual – General Fund .................................................................................................. 19 
   Budget and Actual – ARPA Fund .................................................................................................... 20 
  Statement of Fiduciary Net Position – Fiduciary Funds ................................................................... 21 
  Statement of Changes in Fiduciary Net Position – Fiduciary Funds................................................. 22 
 Notes to Financial Statements ......................................................................................................... 23 - 47 
 
Required Supplementary Information 
 Schedule of Changes in Total OPEB Liability and Related Ratios ........................................................ 48 
 Schedule of Changes in Net Pension Liability and Related Ratios ........................................................ 49 
 Schedule of Contributions ...................................................................................................................... 50 
 Schedule of Investment Returns ............................................................................................................. 51 
 Schedule of Proportionate Share of Net Pension Liability – FRS/HIS .................................................. 52 
 Schedule of Contributions – FRS/HIS ................................................................................................... 53 
  
Combining Nonmajor Governmental Funds Financial Statements 
  Combining Balance Sheet—Nonmajor Governmental Funds .......................................................... 54 
  Combining Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund 
   Balances—Nonmajor Governmental Funds ..................................................................................... 55 
 

Compliance Section 

Independent Auditors’ Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting and On Compliance 
   and Other Matters Based on an Audit of Financial Statements in Accordance with 
   Government Auditing Standards ....................................................................................................... 56 - 57 
Independent Auditors’ Management Letter Required by Chapter 10.550, 
   Rules of the State of Florida Office of the Auditor General ............................................................. 58 - 60 
Independent Accountants’ Examination Report............................................................................... ........... 61 
Management’s Response to Findings…........................................................................................... ........... 62 
 
 

81



 

 
- 1 - 

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT 

To the Honorable Mayor and Town Commission, 
  Town of Melbourne Beach, Florida: 

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements 

Opinions 

We have audited the financial statements of the governmental activities, each major fund, and the 
aggregate remaining fund information of the Town of Melbourne Beach, Florida, (the Town), as of and 
for the year ended September 30, 2023, and the related notes to the financial statements, which 
collectively comprise the Town’s basic financial statements as listed in the table of contents. 

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the 
respective financial position of the governmental activities, each major fund, and the aggregate remaining 
fund information of the Town, as of September 30, 2023, and the respective changes in financial position 
and, where applicable, cash flows thereof for the year then ended in accordance with accounting 
principles generally accepted in the United States of America. 

Basis for Opinions 

We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of 
America (GAAS) and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing 
Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States. Our responsibilities under those 
standards are further described in the Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 
section of our report. We are required to be independent of the Town and to meet our other ethical 
responsibilities, in accordance with the relevant ethical requirements relating to our audit. We believe that 
the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinions. 

Responsibilities of Management for the Financial Statements 

The Town’s management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial 
statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America 
and for the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and 
fair presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or 
error. 

In preparing the financial statements, management is required to evaluate whether there are conditions or 
events, considered in the aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about the Town’s ability to continue as a 
going concern for twelve months beyond the financial statement date, including any currently known 
information that may raise substantial doubt shortly thereafter. 

82



 

- 2 - 

Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are 
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors’ report that 
includes our opinions. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not absolute assurance and 
therefore is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with GAAS will always detect a 
material misstatement when it exists. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from 
fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional 
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. Misstatements are considered material 
if there is a substantial likelihood that, individually or in the aggregate, they would influence the judgment 
made by a reasonable user based on the financial statements. 

In performing an audit in accordance with GAAS, we: 

 Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. 
 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to 

fraud or error, and design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks. Such procedures 
include examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial 
statements. 

 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures 
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the Town’s internal control. Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed. 

 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant 
accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluate the overall presentation of the 
financial statements. 

 Conclude whether, in our judgment, there are conditions or events, considered in the aggregate, that 
raise substantial doubt about the Town’s ability to continue as a going concern for a reasonable period 
of time. 

We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the 
planned scope and timing of the audit, significant audit findings, and certain internal control–related 
matters that we identified during the audit. 

Required Supplementary Information 

Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the management’s 
discussion and analysis and required supplementary information, as listed in the table of contents, be 
presented to supplement the basic financial statements. Such information is the responsibility of 
management and, although not a part of the basic financial statements, is required by the Governmental 
Accounting Standards Board, who considers it to be an essential part of financial reporting for placing the 
basic financial statements in an appropriate operational, economic, or historical context. We have applied 
certain limited procedures to the required supplementary information in accordance with auditing 
standards generally accepted in the United States of America, which consisted of inquiries of 
management about the methods of preparing the information and comparing the information for 
consistency with management’s responses to our inquiries, the basic financial statements, and other 
knowledge we obtained during our audit of the basic financial statements. We do not express an opinion 
or provide any assurance on the information because the limited procedures do not provide us with 
sufficient evidence to express an opinion or provide any assurance. 

83



 

- 3 - 

Supplementary Information 

Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming opinions on the financial statements that collectively 
comprise the Town’s basic financial statements. The combining nonmajor governmental funds financial 
statements are presented for purposes of additional analysis and are not a required part of the basic 
financial statements.  

The combining nonmajor governmental funds financial statements are the responsibility of management 
and were derived from and relate directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare 
the basic financial statements. Such information has been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in 
the audit of the basic financial statements and certain additional procedures, including comparing and 
reconciling such information directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the 
basic financial statements or to the basic financial statements themselves, and other additional procedures 
in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America. In our opinion, 
the combining nonmajor governmental funds financial statements are fairly stated, in all material respects, 
in relation to the basic financial statements as a whole.  

Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards 

In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated March 13, 
2024, on our consideration of the Town’s internal control over financial reporting and on our tests of its 
compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements and other 
matters. The purpose of that report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control over 
financial reporting and compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the 
effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting or on compliance. That report is an integral part 
of an audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering the Town’s 
internal control over financial reporting and compliance. 

Daytona Beach, Florida 
March 13, 2024 

84



 

- 4 - 

Town of Melbourne Beach, Florida 
Management’s Discussion and Analysis 

As management of the Town of Melbourne Beach (the Town), we offer readers of the Town's financial 
statements this narrative overview and analysis of the financial activities of the Town for the fiscal year 
ended September 30, 2023. 

Financial Highlights 

•  The assets of the Town of Melbourne Beach exceeded its liabilities at the close of the 2023 fiscal year 
by $12,461,886 (net position). Of this amount, $8,143,835 is net investment in capital assets while 
restricted net position is $465,279. $3,852,772 (unrestricted net position) may be used to meet the 
government’s ongoing obligations to citizens and creditors. 

•  The total net position increased $851,823 from the previous year. 

•  As of the close of fiscal year 2023, the Town's governmental funds reported combined ending fund 
balances of $5,889,629, a decrease of $(534,023) in comparison with the prior year. While 
$1,205,487 represents the portion restricted by outside parties, $1,602,241 is assigned for capital 
improvements and town parks, and $2,942,727 of the governmental funds balance is available for 
spending at the government's discretion (unassigned fund balance). An additional $135,391 of 
governmental fund balance is non-spendable for current obligations and $3,783 is committed for 
stormwater utility. 

• At the end of the 2023 fiscal year, unassigned fund balance for the general fund was $2,942,727 or 
85.5% of total general fund expenditures. 

• The Town's total long-term liabilities decreased by $952,269 during the 2023 fiscal year. This reflects 
primarily the repayment of outstanding balances for bonds and notes. 

Overview of the Financial Statements 

This discussion and analysis is intended to serve as an introduction to the Town's basic financial 
statements. The Town's basic financial statements comprise three components: 1) government-wide 
financial statements, 2) fund financial statements, and 3) notes to the financial statements. This report also 
contains other supplementary information in addition to the basic financial statements themselves. 

Government-wide financial statements 

The government-wide financial statements are designed to provide readers with a broad overview of the 
Town's finances, in a manner similar to a private-sector business. 

The statement of net position presents information on all of the Town's assets and liabilities, with the 
difference between the two reported as net position. Over time, increases or decreases in net position may 
serve as a useful indicator of whether the financial position of the Town is improving or deteriorating. 

The statement of activities presents information showing how the government's net position changed 
during the most recent fiscal year. All changes in net position are reported as soon as the underlying event 
giving rise to the change occurs, regardless of the timing of related cash flows. 

Thus, revenues and expenses are reported in this statement for some items that will only result in cash 
flows in future fiscal periods (e.g., uncollected taxes and earned but unused vacation leave). The 
governmental activities of the Town include general government, public safety, physical environment, 
and recreation. The government-wide financial statements can be found on pages 13-14 of this report. 

85



 

- 5 - 

Fund financial statements 

A fund is a grouping of related accounts that is used to maintain control over resources that have been 
segregated for specific activities or objectives. The Town, like other state and local governments, uses 
fund accounting to ensure and demonstrate compliance with finance-related legal requirements. All of the 
funds of the Town can be divided into two categories: governmental funds and fiduciary funds. 

Governmental funds 

Governmental funds are used to account for essentially the same functions reported as governmental 
activities in the government-wide financial statements. However, unlike the government-wide financial 
statements, governmental fund financial statements focus on near-term inflows and outflows of spendable 
resources, as well as on balances of spendable resources available at the end of the fiscal year. Such 
information may be useful in evaluating a government's near-term financing requirements. 

Because the focus of governmental funds is narrower than that of the government-wide financial 
statements, it is useful to compare the information presented for governmental funds with similar 
information presented for governmental activities in the government-wide financial statements. By doing 
so, readers may better understand the long-term impact of the government’s near-term financing 
decisions. Both the governmental fund balance sheet and the governmental fund statement of revenues, 
expenditures, and changes in fund balances provide a reconciliation to facilitate this comparison between 
governmental funds and governmental activities. 

The Town maintains 15 individual governmental funds, including the General Fund, American Rescue 
Plan, Capital Projects Fund, two Debt Service Funds (combined), Building Department, Police Education, 
Police Donations, Law Enforcement Forfeiture, Building Education, Stormwater Utility, Historic 
Preservation, Old Town Hall, Ocean State Park, and Ryckman Crossover Parking. The General Fund, 
American Rescue Plan, two Debt Service Funds (combined), and Capital Projects Fund are reported as 
major funds. 

Information is presented separately in the governmental fund balance sheet and in the governmental fund 
statement of revenues, expenditures and changes in fund balances for the major funds. Data from the non-
major governmental funds are combined into a single, aggregated presentation. Individual fund data for 
each of these non-major governmental funds is provided in the form of combining statements elsewhere 
in this report. 

The Town adopts an annual appropriated budget for its General Fund. A budgetary comparison statement 
has been provided for the general fund to demonstrate compliance with this budget. The basic 
governmental fund financial statements can be found on pages 15-18 of this report. 

Fiduciary funds 

Fiduciary funds are used to account for resources held for the benefit of parties outside the government. 
Fiduciary funds are not reflected in the government-wide financial statement because the resources of 
those funds are not available to support the Town's own programs. The accounting used for fiduciary 
funds is much like that used for proprietary funds. The basic fiduciary fund financial statements can be 
found on pages 21-22 of this report. 

Notes to the financial statements 

The notes provide additional information that is essential to a full understanding of the data provided in 
the government-wide and fund financial statements. The notes to the financial statements can be found on 
pages 23-47 of this report. 

86



 

- 6 - 

Other information 

In addition to the basic financial statements and accompanying notes, this report also presents certain 
required supplementary information concerning the Town's progress in funding its obligation to provide 
pension benefits and other post-employment benefits to its employees. Required supplementary 
information can be found on pages 48-53 of this report. 

The combining statements referred to earlier in connection with non-major governmental funds are 
presented immediately following the required supplementary information. Combining and individual fund 
statements and schedules can be found on pages 54-55 of this report. 

Government-wide Financial Analysis 

The following is a summary of the Town’s governmental activities net position for each of the past two 
years: 

 2023 2022 

Assets   
Current and other assets $ 5,974,378 $ 6,495,529 
Capital assets, net 9,305,940 8,757,030 

Total assets 

$ 15,280,318 $ 15,252,559 

Deferred outflows of resources $ 632,246 $ 983,138 

Liabilities   
Current liabilities $ 90,215 $ 86,893 
Noncurrent liabilities 2,668,009 4,306,878 

Total liabilities $ 2,758,224 $ 4,393,771 

Deferred inflows of resources $ 692,454 $ 231,863 

Net position   
Net investment in capital assets $ 8,143,835 $ 6,597,713 
Restricted 465,279 870,207 
Unrestricted 3,852,772 4,142,043 

Total net position $ 12,461,886 $ 11,610,063 

As noted earlier, net position may serve over time as a useful indicator of a government's financial 
position. In the case of the Town, assets exceeded liabilities by $12,461,886 at the close of the 2023 fiscal 
year. By far the largest portion of the Town's net position (65.4% percent) reflects its investment in 
capital assets (e.g., land, buildings, machinery and equipment, infrastructure and improvements), less any 
related debt used to acquire those assets that are still outstanding. The Town uses these capital assets to 
provide services to citizens; consequently, these assets are not available for future spending. Although the 
Town's net investment in capital assets is reported net of related debt, it should be noted that the resources 
needed to repay this debt must be provided from other sources, since the capital assets themselves cannot 
be used to liquidate these liabilities. 

Of the remaining net position, $465,279 represents resources that are subject to external restrictions on 
how they may be used. These restrictions relate primarily to externally imposed restrictions on funding 
for debt and capital purposes. The remaining balance of the net position which represents amounts 
available to meet the Town's ongoing obligations to citizens and creditors at the discretion of the 
Commission is $3,852,772 for the 2023 fiscal year. 

87



 

- 7 - 

The following is a summary of the changes in the Town’s governmental activities net position for each of 
the past two years: 

 2023 2022 

Revenues:   
Program Revenues:   

Charges for Services $ 639,316 $ 545,792 
Operating Grants 222,166 1,838,398 
Capital Grants 5,000 7,337 

General Revenues:   
Property taxes 2,945,198 2,656,513 
Sales and use taxes 386,941 365,382 
Franchise and utility taxes 314,292 279,471 
Public services taxes 390,775 349,173 
Insurance premium taxes 52,693 45,792 
State revenue sharing 116,123 111,791 
Investment earnings (loss) 23,809 5,240 
Miscellaneous revenues 14,931 6,143 

Total Revenues 5,111,244 6,211,032 
Expenses:   

General government 1,505,066 1,341,289 
Public safety 1,975,386 1,998,549 
Physical environment 488,811 496,132 
Culture/recreation 236,718 163,958 
Interest on long-term debt 53,440 97,581 

Total Expenses 4,259,421 4,097,461 
Changes in net position 851,823 2,113,571 
Beginning net position 11,610,063 9,496,492 

Ending net position $ 12,461,886 $ 11,610,063 

Governmental activities 

Governmental activities increased the Town's net position by $851,823. This amount is primarily 
attributable to increases in property tax revenues.  

•     The Town’s total revenues related to governmental activities decreased by $1,099,788 from the prior 
year. Factors that contributed to a decrease in revenues are an decrease in General Revenue operating 
grants, due to the ARPA Funds, which were received in fiscal year 2022. 

•  Expenses related to governmental activities increased by $169,124 from the prior year. This is 
primarily related to an increase in general government expenses, which increased due to competitive 
salary raises and the rise of inflation in the economy.    

88



 

- 8 - 

Expenses and Program Revenues - Governmental Activities 

The following chart summarizes the Town’s program revenues and expenses by function:  

 -

 500,000

 1,000,000

 1,500,000

 2,000,000

 2,500,000

General
Government

Public Safety Physical
Environment

Recreation

Program Revenues

Expenses

 

 

89



 

- 9 - 

Revenues by Source - Governmental Activities 

The following chart summarizes the Town’s revenues by source: 

58%

8%

6%

8%

1% 2%

0%

0%
13%

4%

0% Property taxes

Sales and use taxes

Franchise and utility taxes

Public services taxes

Insurance premium taxes

State revenue sharing

Investment earnings (loss)

Miscellaneous revenues

Charges for services

Operating grants

Capital grants

 

Financial Analysis of the Government's Funds 

As noted earlier, the Town uses fund accounting to ensure and demonstrate compliance with finance-
related legal requirements. 

Governmental funds 

The focus of the Town's governmental funds is to provide information on near-term inflows, outflows and 
balances of spendable resources. Such information is useful in assessing the Town's financing 
requirements. In particular, unassigned fund balance may serve as a useful measure of a government's net 
resources available for spending at the end of the fiscal year. 

As of the end of the fiscal year 2023, the Town's governmental funds reported combined ending fund 
balances of $5,889,629, a decrease of $(534,023) in comparison with the prior year. As of the end of 
fiscal year 2023, $135,391 of the fund balance is designated as non-spendable to indicate that it is not 
available for new spending because it has already been spent on prepaid items. A portion of the fund 
balances is restricted in use by outside parties for the following: $281,357 for debt purposes; $7,706 for 
historic preservation; $734,742 for stormwater construction; $55,938 for Ocean State Park; $27,344 for 
beautification; $9,977 for environmental advisory; $1,293 for Christmas donations; $27,864 for law 
enforcement education; $25,761 for building department operations; and $19,606 for Old Town Hall. 

90



 

- 10 - 

Additionally, $1,602,241 has been assigned by the Town Commission for capital improvements and town 
parks. The remaining amount, $2,942,727 constitutes unassigned fund balance, which is available for 
spending at the government's discretion. 

The General Fund is the chief operating fund of the Town. At the end of the 2023 fiscal year, unassigned 
fund balance of the general fund was $2,942,727 while total general fund balance was $3,117,626. As a 
measure of the general fund’s liquidity, it may be useful to compare both unassigned fund balance and 
total fund balance to total fund expenditures. An excess of revenues over expenditures of $835,507 was 
partially offset by $612,830 of transfers to other funds during the year. 

The American Rescue Plan fund has a fund balance of $759,385.  The American Rescue Plan fund was 
revenues that will be earned to the extent of expenditures in accordance with the Town’s subrecipient 
agreement for approximately $1.65 million on Coronavirus State and Local Fiscal Recovery Funds. All 
related revenues have been earned due to the standard allowance of expenditures for payroll expenditures. 

The Debt Service Fund has a fund balance of $281,357. The net change during the current year in the debt 
service fund was ($410,645). The decrease was due to the collection funds and required transfers in less 
than the amount due for FY2023.  Additional monies collected will be used to prepay the debt. 

The Capital Projects Fund has a fund balance of $1,465,303. The net change in fund balance during the 
current year in the capital projects fund was $328,832. The increase was due primarily to the transfer of 
funds for future projects. There were minimal capital projects and other improvements in FY2023. 

The Nonmajor Funds have a fund balance of $265,958 at the end of the year. The net change during the 
current year in the funds was $137,491. The increase was primarily due to the Ryckman Crossover 
Parking Fund being established as a non-major fund in the current year. 

General Fund Budgetary Highlights 

Although the Town inputs the budget by line item, the tracking of the budget is done at the department 
level. Department budgeting allows management to check budgets for negatives by classifications in 
accordance with the State of Florida's Uniform Accounting System Manual. 

Capital Asset and Debt Administration 

Capital assets. The Town's investment in capital assets for its governmental funds as of September 30, 
2023, amounts to $9,305,940 (net of accumulated depreciation). This represents a net increase of 
$548,910. The current year additions include $32,076 of improvements, $378,233 of equipment and 
$730,768 in infrastructure. The Town had no projects under construction at the end of 2023. Current year 
depreciation expense totaled $582,655. 

91



 

- 11 - 

The following summaries the Town’s capital assets as of September 30, 2023 and 2022: 

 2023 2022 

Capital assets, not being depreciated    
Land $ 897,742 $ 897,742 
Construction in progress -  - 

Total capital assets, not being depreciated 897,742 897,742 

Capital assets, being depreciated    
Buildings and improvements 4,832,282 4,809,816 
Equipment 2,993,244 2,616,809 
Infrastructure 8,310,893 7,580,125 

Total capital assets, being depreciated 16,136,419 15,006,750 
Less: accumulated depreciation  (7,728,221)  (7,147,462) 
Total capital assets, being depreciated, net 8,408,198 7,859,288 

Governmental activities capital assets, net $ 9,305,940 $ 8,757,030 

Additional information on the Town's capital assets can be found in Note (7) on page 33 of this report. 

Long-term Debt. At the end of the 2023 fiscal year, the Town had total bonded debt and notes payable 
principal outstanding of $1,162,105. 

The following summaries the Town’s long-term debt (excluding the net pension liability and total OPEB 
liability) as of September 30, 2023 and 2022: 

 2023 2022 

Notes and bonds payable $ 1,102,000 $ 2,090,000 
Less deferred amounts:   
Original issue premium 73,951 87,007 
Original issue (discount)  (13,846)  (17,690) 

Total notes and bonds payable 1,162,105 2,159,317 
Capital leases - - 
Compensated absences 344,447 299,504 

Total  $ 1,506,552 $ 2,458,821 

The Town's long-term liabilities decreased by $988,000 during the current fiscal year. This decrease was 
attributable to repayment of bonds and notes. 

Additional information on the Town's long-term liabilities can be found in Note (8) on page 34 of this 
report. 

Economic Factors and Next Year's Budgets and Rates 

The Town Commission approved a millage rate of 4.5800 for Fiscal Year 2023. The millage rate for 
Fiscal Year 2022 was 4.6865. The taxable value of real property increased by 13.20% percent for Fiscal 
Year 2023 and is expected to increase in Fiscal Year 2024. 

92



 

- 12 - 

Other Factors 

The Building Department continues to receive permits daily for new home construction, major and minor 
remodels and pool installations. There were nine (9) new homes built and nine (9) new pool installations 
in FY2023. Permit fee revenue increased by 37.82% even though overall inspections decreased 8.87% 
over FY2022. Building revenue increased by 25.49% over FY2022. 

The Town continues to focus on upgrading its roads, stormwater system, parks, and services to the 
residents of our community. The Parking Kiosk that were installed at Ryckman Park and Ocean Park for 
paid parking located at Ryckman Park, Ocean Park, and the dune crossovers continues to bring in 
consistent revenue for Ocean Park, Ryckman Park, and dune crossover maintenance. The Police 
Department purchased two (2) new vehicles in FY2023. The Fire Department continues to provide fire 
protection, emergency medical care, and other emergency and non-emergency services to the citizens 
within the community. Funds continue to be set aside for the repaving of roads, dune crossovers, and 
Community Center upgrades which enables Public Works to continue to improve the Town.  

Requests for Information 

This financial report is designed to provide a general overview of the Town's finances for all those with 
an interest in the government's finances. Questions concerning any of the information provided in this 
report or requests for additional financial information should be addressed to the Finance Manager, 507 
Ocean Avenue, Melbourne Beach, Florida 32951. 

93



TOWN OF MELBOURNE BEACH, FLORIDA
STATEMENT OF NET POSITION - GOVERNMENTAL ACTIVITIES

SEPTEMBER 30, 2023

ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents 4,496,278$    
Investments 482,072
Receivables, net 114,206         
Due from other governments 746,431         
Prepaids 135,391         
Capital assets:

Non-depreciable capital assets 897,742         
Other capital assets, net of depreciation 8,408,198      

Total assets 15,280,318$  

DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES
Deferred outflows related to pensions 624,811$       
Deferred outflows related to OPEB 7,435             

Total deferred outflows of resources 632,246$       

LIABILITIES
Accounts payable 49,861$         
Accrued payroll and employee benefits 23,938           
Customer deposits 3,338             
Unearned revenue 7,612             
Accrued interest payable 5,466             
Noncurrent liabilities:

Due within one year:
Bonds and notes payable 222,000         
Compensated absences 172,224         

Due in more than one year:
Bonds and notes payable 940,105         
Compensated absences 172,223         

Total OPEB liability 19,366           
Net pension liability 1,142,091      

Total liabilities 2,758,224$    

DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES
Deferred inflows related to pensions 661,278$       
Deferred inflows related to OPEB 31,176

Total deferred inflows of resources 692,454$       

NET POSITION
Net investment in capital assets 8,143,835$    
Restricted for:

Debt service 275,891         
Capital projects 27,312           
Law enforcement 27,864           
Fire department 13,899           
Ocean Park 55,938           
Beautification 27,344           
Environmental advisory 9,977             
Christmas donations 1,293             
Building department education 25,761           

Unrestricted 3,852,772      
Total net position 12,461,886$  

The accompanying notes to financial statements are an integral part of this statement.

- 13 -

94



TOWN OF MELBOURNE BEACH, FLORIDA
STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES

FOR THE YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2023

Net (Expense)
Operating Capital Revenue and

Charges for Grants and Grants and Changes in
Functions/Programs Expenses Services Contributions Contributions Net Position

 
Governmental activities:  

General government 1,505,066$    30,046$         3,742$           -$               (1,471,278)$  
Public safety 1,975,386      436,957         81,896           5,000             (1,451,533)     
Transportation -                 1,500             -                 -                 1,500             
Physical environment 488,811         57,654           136,528         -                 (294,629)        
Culture and recreation 236,718         113,159         -                 -                 (123,559)        
Interest on long-term debt 53,440           -                 -                 -                 (53,440)          

Total governmental activities 4,259,421$    639,316$       222,166$       5,000$           (3,392,939)     

General revenues:
Property taxes 2,945,198      
Sales and use taxes 386,941         
Franchise and utility taxes 314,292         
Public service taxes 390,775         
Insurance premium taxes 52,693           

 State revenue sharing  116,123         
Investment earnings (loss) 23,809           
Miscellaneous revenues 14,931           
Total general revenues 4,244,762      

Change in net position 851,823         
Net position - beginning 11,610,063    

 Net position - ending 12,461,886$  

Program Revenues

The accompanying notes to financial statements are an integral part of this statement.

- 14 - 

95



TOWN OF MELBOURNE BEACH, FLORIDA
BALANCE SHEET

GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS
SEPTEMBER 30, 2023

Other Total
American Debt Capital Nonmajor Governmental

General Rescue Plan Service Projects Governmental Funds

ASSETS
Equity in pooled cash and cash equivalents 2,390,910$   759,385$      281,357$      797,264$      267,362$      4,496,278$   
Investments 482,072        -                -                -                -                482,072        
Receivables, net 114,206        -                -                -                -                114,206        
Due from other governments 77,697          -                -                668,039        695               746,431        
Prepaid items 135,391        -                -                -                -                135,391        

Total assets 3,200,276$   759,385$      281,357$      1,465,303$   268,057$      5,974,378$   

LIABILITIES
Accounts payable 48,677$        -$              -$              -$              1,184$          49,861$        
Accrued liabilities 23,023 -                -                -                915               23,938          
Customer deposits 3,338            -                -                -                -                3,338            
Unearned revenue 7,612            -                -                -                -                7,612            

Total liabilities 82,650          -                -                -                2,099            84,749          

FUND BALANCES
Nonspendable:

Prepaid items 135,391        -                -                -                -                135,391        
Restricted for:

Fire department 13,899 -                -                -                -                13,899          
Debt service -                -                281,357        -                -                281,357        
Historic preservation -                -                -                7,706            -                7,706            
Stormwater construction -                -                -                734,742        -                734,742        
Ocean Park -                -                -                -                55,938          55,938          
Beautification -                -                -                -                27,344          27,344          
Environmental advisory -                -                -                -                9,977            9,977            
Christmas donations -                -                -                -                1,293            1,293            
Law enforcement education -                -                -                -                27,864          27,864          
Building department 25,609          -                -                -                152               25,761          
Old Town Hall -                -                -                -                19,606          19,606          

Committed to:
Stormwater utility -                -                -                -                3,783            3,783            

Assigned to:
Capital improvements -                759,385        -                722,855        1,482,240     
Town parks -                -                -                -                120,001        120,001        

Unassigned 2,942,727     -                -                -                -                2,942,727     
Total fund balances 3,117,626     759,385        281,357        1,465,303     265,958        5,889,629     

Total liabilities and fund balances 3,200,276$   759,385$      281,357$      1,465,303$   268,057$      5,974,378$   

The accompanying notes to financial statements are an integral part of this statement.

- 15 -

96



TOWN OF MELBOURNE BEACH, FLORIDA
RECONCILIATION OF THE BALANCE SHEET OF GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS

TO THE STATEMENT OF NET POSITION
SEPTEMBER 30, 2023

Fund balances - total governmental funds 5,889,629$      

Amounts reported for governmental activities in the statement of net position are different because:

Capital assets used in governmental activities are not financial resources and,
therefore, are not reported in the funds

Total governmental capital assets 17,034,161      
Less: accumulated depreciation (7,728,221)       9,305,940        

On the governmental fund statements, a net pension liability is not recorded until an
amount is due and payable and the pension plan’s fiduciary net position is not sufficient
for payment of those benefits (no such liability exists at the end of the current fiscal 
year). On the Statement of Net Position, the Town's net pension liability of the defined
benefit pension plans is reported as a noncurrent liability. Additionally, deferred
outflows and deferred inflows related to pensions are also reported.

Net pension liability (1,142,091)       
Deferred outflows related to pensions 624,811           
Deferred inflows related to pensions (661,278)          (1,178,558)      

On the governmental fund statements, a total OPEB liability is not recorded unless an
amount is due and payable (no such liability exists at the end of the current fiscal 
year). On the Statement of Net Position, the Town's total OPEB liability is reported as
a noncurrent liability. Additionally, deferred outflows and deferred inflows related to
OPEB are also reported.

Total OPEB liability (19,366)            
Deferred outflows related to OPEB 7,435               
Deferred inflows related to OPEB (31,176)            (43,107)           

Long-term liabilities, including bonds payable and notes payable, are not due and
payable in the current period and, therefore, are not reported in the funds. These
liabilities and other long-term liabilities consist of the following:

Bonds and notes payable (1,162,105)       
Accrued interest payable (5,466)              
Compensated absences (344,447)          (1,512,018)      

Net position of governmental activities 12,461,886$    

The accompanying notes to financial statements are an integral part of this statement.

- 16 -

97



TOWN OF MELBOURNE BEACH, FLORIDA
STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE

GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2023

Other Total
American Debt Capital Nonmajor Governmental

General Rescue Plan Service Projects Governmental Funds
Revenues     

Taxes 3,473,059$    -$               528,382$       -$               -$               4,001,441$    
Licenses and permits 267,820         -                 -                 -                 3,248             271,068         
Intergovernmental 432,045         -                 -                 -                 -                 432,045         
Charges for services 24,025 -                 -                 -                 264,831         288,856         
Fines and forfeitures 41,652           -                 -                 -                 479                42,131           
Investment income (loss) 23,809           -                 -                 -                 -                 23,809           
Miscellaneous 13,614 -                 -                 16,930           30,544           

Total revenues 4,276,024      -                 528,382         -                 285,488         5,089,894      

Expenditures
Current:

General government 1,097,439      3,191             -                 -                 -                 1,100,630      
Public safety 1,735,893      -                 -                 -                 6,286             1,742,179      
Parks and recreation 19,768           -                 -                 -                 140,408         160,176         
Physical environment 381,641         1,693             -                 543                52,876           436,753         

Capital outlay 205,776         824,594         -                 61,807           48,900           1,141,077      
Debt service

Principal -                 -                 988,000         -                 -                 988,000         
Interest and fiscal charges -                 -                 69,638           -                 -                 69,638           
Debt issuance costs -                 -                 2,564             -                 -                 2,564             

Total expenditures 3,440,517      829,478         1,060,202      62,350           248,470         5,641,017      

Excess (deficiency) of revenues over 
expenditures 835,507         (829,478)       (531,820)       (62,350)         37,018           (551,123)       

Other financing sources (uses)
Transfers in 28,304           -                 121,175         391,182         133,373         674,034         
Transfers out (612,830)       (28,304)         -                 -                 (32,900)         (674,034)       
Proceeds from sale of capital assets 17,100           -                 -                 -                 -                 17,100           

Total other financing sources (uses) (567,426)       (28,304)         121,175         391,182         100,473         17,100           

Net change in fund balances 268,081         (857,782)       (410,645)       328,832         137,491         (534,023)       

Fund balances, beginning of year 2,849,545      1,617,167      692,002         1,136,471      128,467         6,423,652      

Fund balances, end of year 3,117,626$    759,385$       281,357$       1,465,303$    265,958$       5,889,629$    

The accompanying notes to financial statements are an integral part of this statement.

- 17 -

98



TOWN OF MELBOURNE BEACH, FLORIDA
RECONCILIATION OF THE STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES,

AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES OF GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS
TO THE STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES

FOR THE YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2023

Net change in fund balances - total governmental funds (534,023)$       

Differences in amounts reported for governmental activities in the statement of activities are:

Governmental funds report capital outlays as expenditures. However, in the statement of
activities, the cost of those assets is depreciated over their estimated useful lives.

Capital outlay expenditures 1,141,077        
Depreciation expense (582,655)         

Bond and loan proceeds are reported as financing sources in the governmental funds. However,
the issuance of debt is reported as long-term debt payable in the statement of net position.
Repayment of bond and note principal is an expenditure in the governmental funds, but
the repayment of debt principal reduces long-term liabilities in the statement of net position.
These amounts are as follows:

Principal repayment of general long-term debt 988,000           

In the statement of activities, only the gain/loss on sale/disposal of capital assets is reported.
However, in governmental funds, the proceeds from the sale increases financial resources.
Thus, the change in net position differs from the change in fund balance by the cost of
the capital assets sold/disposed. (9,512)             

Governmental funds report contributions to defined benefit pension plans as expenditures.
However, in the Statement of Activities, the amount contributed to defined benefit pension plans
reduces future net pension liability. Also included in pension expense in the Statement of Activities
are amounts required to be amortized.

Change in net pension liability and deferred inflows/outflows related to pensions (125,408)         

Under the modified accrual basis of accounting used in the governmental funds, expenditures
are not recognized for transactions that are not normally paid with expendable available
financial resources. In the statement of activities, however, which is presented on the accrual
basis, expenses and liabilities are reported regardless of when financial resources are available.
These adjustments are as follows:

Change in accrued interest on long-term debt 18,762             
Change in total OPEB liability 525                  
Change in compensated absences liability (44,943)           

Change in net position of governmental activities 851,823$         

The accompanying notes to financial statements are an integral part of this statement.

- 18 -

99



TOWN OF MELBOURNE BEACH, FLORIDA
STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE

BUDGET AND ACTUAL - GENERAL FUND
FOR THE YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2023

Budgeted Amounts
Variance with

Original Final Actual Final Budget
Revenues    

Taxes 3,265,002$    3,265,002$    3,473,059$    208,057$       
Licenses and permits 193,850         193,850         267,820         73,970           
Intergovernmental 357,100         357,100         432,045         74,945           
Charges for services 24,600           24,600           24,025 (575)              
Fines and forfeitures 17,000           17,000           41,652           24,652           
Investment income (loss) 4,000             4,000             23,809           19,809           
Miscellaneous 9,450             9,450             13,614 4,164             

Total revenues 3,871,002      3,871,002      4,276,024      405,022         

Expenditures
Current:

General Government:
Legislative 182,542         182,542         147,052         35,490           
Executive 210,230         199,480         184,970         14,510           
Finance 186,783         197,533         197,516         17                  
Legal 106,000         122,750         122,743         7                   
Grants & special projects 20,000           20,000           10,274           9,726             
Contingency and other 485,432         508,831         505,117         3,714             

Public Safety:
Police 1,353,738      1,322,952      1,256,777 66,175
Fire 378,041         412,470         315,103         97,367           
Building 220,085         220,085         216,171         3,914             
Code enforcement 19,316           19,316           15,991           3,325             

Parks and recreation 51,600           51,850           77,162 (25,312)         
Physical environment 434,111         433,861         391,641         42,220           

Total expenditures 3,647,878      3,691,670      3,440,517      251,153         

Excess (deficiency) of revenues over 
expenditures 223,124         179,332         835,507         656,175         

Other financing sources (uses)
Transfers in -                32,254           28,304           (3,950)           
Transfers out (160,683)       (616,781)       (612,830)       3,951             
Proceeds from sale of capital assets -                -                17,100           17,100           

Total other financing sources (uses) (160,683)       (584,527)       (567,426)       17,101           

Net change in fund balances 62,441           (405,195)       268,081         673,276         

Fund balances, beginning of year 2,849,545      2,849,545      2,849,545      -                

Fund balances, end of year 1,021,457$    2,444,350$    3,117,626$    673,276$       

The accompanying notes to financial statements are an integral part of this statement.

- 19 -

100



TOWN OF MELBOURNE BEACH, FLORIDA
STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE

BUDGET AND ACTUAL - ARPA FUND
FOR THE YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2023

Budgeted Amounts
Variance with

Original Final Actual Final Budget
Revenues    

Intergovernmental -$              -$              -$              -$              
Total revenues -                -                -                -                

Expenditures
Current:

General Government:
Finance 14,710           14,710           3,191             11,519           

Physical environment 27,000           27,000           1,693             25,307           
Capital outlay 1,460,663      1,460,663      824,594         636,069         

Total expenditures 1,502,373      1,502,373      829,478         672,895         

Excess (deficiency) of revenues over 
expenditures (1,502,373)    (1,502,373)    (829,478)       672,895         

Other financing sources (uses)
Transfers out (28,304)         (28,304)         (28,304)         -                

Total other financing sources (uses) (28,304)         (28,304)         (28,304)         -                

Net change in fund balances (1,530,677)    (1,530,677)    (857,782)       672,895         

Fund balances, beginning of year 1,617,167      1,617,167      1,617,167      -                

Fund balances, end of year (1,617,167)$   86,490$         759,385$       672,895$       

The accompanying notes to financial statements are an integral part of this statement.

- 20 -

101



TOWN OF MELBOURNE BEACH, FLORIDA
STATEMENT OF FIDUCIARY NET POSITION

FIDUCIARY FUNDS
SEPTEMBER 30, 2023

Municipal
Police

Officers'
Retirement
Trust Fund

 
ASSETS

Cash and cash equivalents with trustee 73,073$          

Investments, at fair value
Mutual and pooled funds 4,334,045       

Total assets 4,407,118$     

LIABILITIES
Prepaid employer contributions 8,455$            

NET POSITION
Restricted for pensions 4,398,663$     

The accompanying notes to financial statements are an integral part of this statement.

- 21 -

102



TOWN OF MELBOURNE BEACH, FLORIDA
STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN FIDUCIARY NET POSITION

FIDUCIARY FUNDS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2023

Municipal
Police

Officers'
Retirement
Trust Fund

 
Additions

Contributions:
Employer 199,315$        
Plan members 33,074            
State - insurance premium taxes 52,693            

Total contributions 285,082          

Investment earnings:
Interest and dividends 105,334          
Net appreciation (depreciation) in fair value of investments 428,118          

Total investment earnings 533,452          
Less: investment expense (20,500)           

          Net investment income (loss) 512,952          

Total additions 798,034          

Deductions
Benefit payments 279,174          
Administrative expenses 32,316            

Total deductions 311,490          

Change in net position 486,544          

Net position restricted for pensions, beginning of year 3,912,119       

Net position restricted for pensions, end of year 4,398,663$     

The accompanying notes to financial statements are an integral part of this statement.

- 22 -

103



TOWN OF MELBOURNE BEACH, FLORIDA 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

SEPTEMBER 30, 2023 

- 23 - 

(1) Summary of Significant Accounting Policies: 

The financial statements of the Town of Melbourne Beach, Florida (the Town), have been prepared in 
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America as applicable to 
governmental units. The Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) is the accepted body for 
promulgating governmental accounting and financial reporting principles. The following is a summary of 
the Town’s significant accounting policies: 

(a) Reporting entityThe Town is a municipal corporation created by the Laws of Florida, 
located in Brevard County. The Town was originally incorporated under the general Laws of Florida 
in 1923, and adopted its first charter in November 1973, under the provisions of Chapter 9833, Laws 
of Florida, Acts of 1923. The legislative branch of the Town is composed of an elected five-member 
Town Commission consisting of the Mayor and four commissioners. The Town Commission is 
governed by the Town Charter and by state and local laws and regulations. The Town Commission 
is responsible for the establishment and adoption of policy. The execution of such policy is the 
responsibility of the Commission-appointed Town Manager. 

The accompanying financial statements present the financial position, results of operations, and cash 
flows of the applicable funds governed by the Town Commission of the Town, the reporting entity 
of government for which the Town Commission is considered to be financially accountable. In 
evaluating the Town as a reporting entity, management has addressed all potential component units 
that may or may not fall within the Town’s oversight and control, and thus, be included in the 
Town’s financial statements. No such entities or component units have been identified. 

(b) Government-wide and fund financial statementsThe basic financial statements include 
both government-wide (based on the Town as a whole) and fund financial statements. Both the 
government-wide and fund financial statements (within the basic financial statements) categorize 
primary activities as either governmental or business-type. In the government-wide statement of net 
position, the governmental activities are presented on a consolidated basis and are reflected, on a 
full accrual, economic resource basis, which incorporates long term assets and receivables as well as 
long term debt and obligations. The Town has no business-type activities. 

The government-wide statement of activities reflects both the gross and net costs per functional 
category (public safety, physical environment, etc.), which are otherwise being supported by general 
government revenues (property, sales taxes, certain intergovernmental revenues, etc.). The statement 
of activities reduces gross expenses (including depreciation) by the related program revenues, 
operating and capital grants. The program revenues must be directly associated with the function or 
a business-type activity. The operating grants include operating-specific and discretionary (either 
operating or capital) grants while the capital grants column reflects capital-specific grants. 

The net cost (by function) is normally covered by general revenue (property, sales taxes, 
intergovernmental revenues, interest income, etc.). This government-wide focus is more on the 
sustainability of the Town as an entity and the change in aggregate financial position resulting from 
the activities of the fiscal period. The fund financial statements emphasize the major funds of the 
Town. 

104



TOWN OF MELBOURNE BEACH, FLORIDA 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

SEPTEMBER 30, 2023 

- 24 - 

(1) Summary of Significant Accounting Policies:  (Continued) 

The governmental funds’ major fund statements in the fund financial statements are presented on a 
current financial resource and modified accrual basis of accounting. This is the manner in which 
these funds are normally budgeted. This presentation is deemed most appropriate to demonstrate 
legal compliance and demonstrate how the Town’s actual experience conforms to the budgeted 
fiscal plan. Since the governmental fund statements are presented on a different measurement focus 
and basis of accounting than the government-wide statement, a reconciliation is presented on the 
page following the Governmental Funds – Balance Sheet and the Governmental Funds – Statement 
of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances, which briefly explains the adjustments 
necessary to transform the fund-based financial statements into the government-wide presentation. 

The Town’s fiduciary fund is presented in the fund financial statements by type (pension). Since, by 
definition, these assets are being held for the benefit of a third party (other local governments, 
private parties, pension participants, etc.) and cannot be used to address activities or obligations of 
the government, these funds are not incorporated into the government-wide statements. 

As a general rule, the effect of interfund Town activities has been eliminated from the government-
wide financial statements. 

(c) Measurement focus and basis of accounting—The government-wide financial statements 
are reported using the economic resources measurement focus and the accrual basis of accounting, 
as are the fiduciary fund financial statements. Revenues are recorded when earned and expenses are 
recorded when a liability is incurred, regardless of the timing of related cash flows. Property taxes 
are recognized as revenues in the year for which they are levied. Grants and similar items are 
recognized as revenue as soon as all eligibility requirements imposed by the provider have been 
met. 

Governmental fund financial statements are reported using the current financial resources 
measurement focus and the modified accrual basis of accounting. Revenues are recognized as soon 
as they are both measurable and available. Revenues are considered to be available when they are 
collectible within the current period or soon enough thereafter to pay liabilities of the current period. 
For this purpose, the government considers revenues to be available if they are collected within 60 
days of the end of the current fiscal period. 

Expenditures generally are recorded when a liability is incurred, as under accrual accounting. 
However, debt service expenditures, as well as expenditures related to compensated absences and 
pensions, are recorded only when payment is due. 

Taxes, intergovernmental revenue, licenses and permits, charges for services, and interest associated 
with the current fiscal period are all considered to be susceptible to accrual and so have been 
recognized as revenues of the current fiscal period. Grants and similar items are recognized as 
revenue as soon as all eligibility requirements imposed by the provider have been met. All other 
revenue items are considered to be measurable and available only when cash is received by the 
government. 

105



TOWN OF MELBOURNE BEACH, FLORIDA 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

SEPTEMBER 30, 2023 

- 25 - 

(1) Summary of Significant Accounting Policies:  (Continued) 

(d) Financial statement presentationThe financial transactions of the Town are recorded in 
individual funds. Each fund is accounted for by providing a separate set of self-balancing accounts 
that comprises its assets, deferred outflows, liabilities, deferred inflows, fund equity, revenues and 
expenditures/expenses. The various funds are reported by generic classification within the financial 
statements. 

The GASB Codification sets forth minimum criteria (percentage of the assets, liabilities, revenues or 
expenditures/expenses of all funds combined) for the determination of major funds. 

The Town reports the following major governmental funds: 

The General Fund accounts for all financial transactions not accounted for in other funds. The 
majority of current operating expenditures of the Town are financed through revenues received 
by the General Fund.  

The American Rescue Plan Fund is a special revenue fund used to account for revenues and 
expenditures funded by the American Rescue Plan Act of 2021. 

The Debt Service Fund is used to account for the accumulation of resources for, and payment 
of, general long-term debt principal, interest, and related costs. This fund type is used to 
provide for the debt service requirements of the Town’s governmental long-term debt. The 
Town operates multiple debt service funds that account for all general fund debt service 
expenses. 

The Capital Projects Fund is used to account for financial resources that are restricted, 
committed, or assigned to expenditure for capital outlay, including the acquisition or 
construction of capital facilities or other capital assets. The Town operates multiple capital 
projects funds that account for all general fund capital outlay expenses. 

Additionally, the Town reports the following fiduciary fund: 

The Municipal Police Officer’s Retirement Trust Fund accounts for the financial activities of 
the Police Officers’ Retirement Trust Fund, which accumulates financial resources to pay 
pension benefits to qualified police officers. 

106



TOWN OF MELBOURNE BEACH, FLORIDA 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

SEPTEMBER 30, 2023 

- 26 - 

(1) Summary of Significant Accounting Policies:  (Continued) 

(e) Budgets and budgetary accountingAnnual budgets for all governmental funds were 
adopted in compliance with Florida law. The basis on which the budgets are prepared is consistent 
with the basis of accounting utilized by the various fund types. The governmental funds' budgets are 
prepared on the modified accrual basis of accounting. The Town uses the following procedures in 
establishing the budgetary data reflected in the accompanying financial statements: 

i. Prior to September 1st, the Town Manager submits a preliminary budget to the Town 
Commission for the ensuing fiscal year. 

ii. Budget workshop sessions are scheduled by the Town Commission, as needed. 

iii. A general summary of the budget and notice of public hearing is published in a local 
newspaper. 

iv. Prior to October 1st, the budget is legally enacted through passage of a resolution. 

v. The Town Commission, by resolution, may make supplemental appropriations in excess 
of those estimated for the year up to the amount of available revenue. Prior to the end of 
the fiscal year, supplemental appropriations are made for unanticipated spending 
requirements by the Commission. 

vi. The Town Manager may make transfers within a department as long as the total budget 
for the department is not increased. Transfers of appropriations between departments 
require the approval of the Commission. The Town’s Ordinance establishes the level at 
which expenditures may not exceed appropriations at the department level. 

vii. Every appropriation lapses at the close of the fiscal year. 

The budgets for governmental funds that were either adopted or amended during the year by the 
Town Commission were prepared using the modified accrual basis of accounting in accordance 
with generally accepted accounting principles. Each of the Town’s governmental funds have legally 
adopted budgets. 

(f) Deposits and investmentsThe Town’s cash and cash equivalents are considered to be cash 
on hand, demand deposits, and short-term investments with original maturities of three months or 
less from the date of acquisition. 

Investments are recorded at fair value.  Accordingly, the change in fair value of investments is 
recognized as an increase or decrease to investment assets and investment income. 

(g) Receivables and payablesActivity between funds that are representative of 
lending/borrowing arrangements outstanding at the end of the fiscal year are referred to as either 
“due to/from other funds” (i.e., the current portion of interfund loans) or “advances to/from other 
funds” (i.e., the non-current portion of interfund loans). All other outstanding balances between 
funds are reported as “due to/from other funds.”  

All trade and property tax receivables are reported net of an allowance for uncollectible accounts, 
which is based upon management's analysis of historical trends. All unpaid property taxes 
receivable at year end are at least 180 days past due, at which time the applicable property is subject 
to lien, and penalties and interest are assessed; therefore, these amounts are fully allowed for an no 
provision for taxes receivable has been made on the Town’s financial statements. 

107



TOWN OF MELBOURNE BEACH, FLORIDA 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

SEPTEMBER 30, 2023 

- 27 - 

(1) Summary of Significant Accounting Policies:  (Continued) 

(h) Capital assetsCapital assets include property, plant, equipment and infrastructure assets. 
The terms general capital assets and general infrastructure assets relate only to the assets associated 
with governmental activities, whereas the terms capital assets and infrastructure assets relate to all 
such assets belonging to the Town. 

Capital assets are defined by the Town as assets with an initial individual cost of $5,000 or more and 
an estimated useful life of more than one year. Such assets are recorded at historical cost, if 
purchased or constructed. Contributed assets, including donations and easements or other intangible 
rights of use, are recorded at fair market value as of the date received. Additions, improvements and 
other capital outlays that significantly extend the useful life of an asset are only capitalized if they 
meet the dollar threshold above for capitalization. Maintenance and repairs of capital assets are 
charged to operating expenses.  

Depreciation is reported for the primary government using the straight-line method calculated on a 
service-life basis to amortize the cost of the asset over their estimated economic useful lives, which 
are as follows: 

Assets Years 

Building Improvements 7-30 years 
Buildings  25-40 years 
Equipment 3-18 years 
Infrastructure 20-50 years  
Leased Property 3-12 years 
Vehicles 5-15 years 

(i) Compensated absencesIt is the Town’s policy to permit employees to accumulate earned 
but unused vacation and sick pay benefits. All vacation and a portion of sick pay is accrued when 
incurred in the government-wide financial statements. A liability for these amounts is reported in 
governmental funds only if they have matured, for example, as a result of employee resignations and 
retirements. 

(j) Long-term obligationsIn the government-wide financial statements, long-term debt 
obligations are reported as liabilities, net of any outstanding premiums or discounts.  Debt issuance 
costs are expensed when paid. 

(k) Deferred outflows/inflows of resourcesIn addition to assets, the statement of financial 
position will, if required, report a separate section for deferred outflows of resources. This separate 
financial statement element, deferred outflows of resources, represents a consumption of net 
position that applies to a future period(s) and so will not be recognized as an outflow of resources 
(expense/expenditure) until then. Currently, this category consisted of deferred amounts related to 
pension, as discussed further in Note (9), and OPEB, as discussed further in Note (10). 

In addition to liabilities, the statement of financial position will sometimes report a separate section 
for deferred inflows of resources. This separate financial statement element, deferred inflows of 
resources, represents an acquisition of net position or fund balance that applies to future period(s) 
and so will not be recognized as an inflow of resources (revenue) until that time. Currently, this 
category consisted of deferred amounts related to pension, as discussed further in Note (9), and 
OPEB, as discussed further in Note (10). 

108



TOWN OF MELBOURNE BEACH, FLORIDA 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

SEPTEMBER 30, 2023 

- 28 - 

(1) Summary of Significant Accounting Policies: (Continued) 

(l) Fund equityIn the fund financial statements, governmental funds report fund balance 
classifications that comprise a hierarchy based primarily on the extent to which the Town is bound 
to honor constraints on the specific purposes for which amounts in those funds can be spent. Those 
classifications are as follows: 

Nonspendable – The nonspendable fund balance classification includes amounts that cannot be 
spent because they are either (a) not in spendable form or (b) legally or contractually required to 
be maintained intact. The “not in spendable form” criterion includes items that are not expected to 
be converted to cash such as inventories and prepaid amounts. It also includes the long-term 
amount of loans and notes receivable, as well as property held for sale unless the use of the 
proceeds from the collection of those receivables or from the sale of those properties is restricted, 
committed, or assigned. 

Restricted – Fund balance is reported as restricted when constraints placed on the use of resources 
are either externally imposed by creditors (such as through debt covenants), grantors, 
contributors, or laws or regulations of other governments or imposed by law through 
constitutional provisions or enabling legislation (i.e. when the government assesses, levies, 
charges, or otherwise mandates payment of resources from external resource providers) and 
includes a legally enforceable requirement that those resources be used only for the specific 
purposes stipulated in the legislation. 

Committed – Fund balance amounts that can only be used for specific purposes pursuant to 
constraints imposed by ordinance of the Town Commission are reported as committed fund 
balance. Those committed amounts cannot be used for any other purpose unless the Town 
removes or changes the specified use by taking the same type of action it employed to previously 
commit those amounts. 

Assigned – Fund balance amounts that are constrained by the government's intent to be used for 
specific purposes, but are neither restricted nor committed, are reported as assigned fund balance, 
except for stabilization arrangements. Assignments can be made by the Town Commission or the 
Town Manager. 

Unassigned – Unassigned fund balance is the residual classification for the general fund. This 
classification represents fund balance that has not been assigned to other funds and that has not 
been restricted, committed, or assigned to specific purposes within the general fund. 

For spendable resources, is the Town’s policy to use its resources in the following order as needed 
to fund expenses: restricted, committed, assigned, unrestricted. 

(m) Use of estimatesManagement uses estimates and assumptions in preparing financial 
statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. Those estimates and 
assumptions affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, the disclosure of contingent assets 
and liabilities, and the reported revenue and expenses. Actual results could vary from the estimates 
assumed in preparing the financial statements. 

 

109



TOWN OF MELBOURNE BEACH, FLORIDA 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

SEPTEMBER 30, 2023 

- 29 - 

(2) Reconciliation of Government-Wide and Fund Financial Statement: 

(a) Explanation of certain differences between the governmental fund balance sheet and the 
government-wide statement of net positionFollowing the governmental fund balance sheet is a 
reconciliation between fund balance – total governmental funds and net position – governmental 
activities as reported in the government-wide statement of net position. A detailed explanation of 
these differences is provided in this reconciliation. 

(b) Explanation of certain differences between the governmental fund statement of revenues, 
expenditures, and changes in fund balances and the government-wide statement of activities 
Following the governmental fund statement of revenues, expenditures, and changes in fund 
balances, there is a reconciliation between net changes in fund balances - total governmental funds 
and changes in net position of governmental activities as reported in the government-wide statement 
of activities. A detailed explanation of these differences is provided in this reconciliation. 

(3) Property Tax Calendar: 

Under Florida law, the assessment of all properties and collection of all county, municipal and school 
board property taxes are consolidated in the offices of the County Property Appraiser. State laws 
regulating tax assessment are designed to ensure a consistent property valuation method statewide and to 
permit municipalities to levy property taxes at a rate of up to 10 mills. For the fiscal year ended 
September 30, 2023, the millage rate assessed by the Town was 4.580 per $1,000. 

All property is assessed according to its fair market value on January 1 of each year. Each assessment roll 
is submitted to the Executive Director of the State Department of Revenue for review to determine if the 
rolls meet all of the appropriate requirements of State statutes. 

The current year taxes for the fiscal year, beginning October 1, are billed in the month of November and 
are due no later than March 31. On April 1, all unpaid amounts become delinquent and are subject to 
interest and penalties. 

Discounts are allowed for early payment at the rate of 4% in the month of November, 3% in the month of 
December, 2% in the month of January, 1% in the month of February, and without discount in March. 

The Town recognizes property tax revenues on an accrual basis. Delinquent taxes on real property bear 
interest of 18% per year.  On or prior to June 1 following the tax year, certificates are sold for all 
delinquent taxes on real property. After sale, tax certificates bear interest of 18% per year or any lower 
rate bid by the buyer. Application for a tax deed on any unredeemed tax certificates may be made by the 
certificate holder after a period of two years. The Town tax calendar is as follows: 

Valuation Date: January 1, 2022 
Preliminary Tax Roll Date: July 1, 2022 
Commission Tax Rate Hearings: September 2022 
Levy Date: November 1, 2022 
Due Date: March 31, 2023 
Lien Date: June 1, 2023 

110



TOWN OF MELBOURNE BEACH, FLORIDA 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

SEPTEMBER 30, 2023 

- 30 - 

(4) Deposits and Investments: 

The Town, for accounting and investment purposes, maintains a pooled noninterest-bearing banking 
account for substantially all Town funds. Additional accounts are held for various other purposes, or to 
segregate cash balances for amounts which are restricted or held on behalf of others. 

State statutes authorize the Town to invest excess funds in time deposits, obligations of, or obligations the 
principal and interest of which are unconditionally guaranteed by, the United States Government, 
commercial paper, corporate bonds, repurchase agreements and/or the State Board of Administration 
(SBA) Local-Government Surplus Trust Fund Investment Pool or other investment vehicles authorized by 
local ordinance. 

As of September 30, 2023, all Town deposits were covered by private bank acquired insurance, Securities 
Investor Protection Corporation (SIPC) insurance, private broker/dealer acquired insurance, Federal 
Depository Insurance Corporation (FDIC) insurance, and/or the State of Florida collateral pool 
established under the Florida Security for Public Deposits Act (the Act). The Act established guidelines 
for qualification and participation by banks and savings associations, procedures for administration of the 
collateral requirements and characteristics of eligible collateral. Under the Act, the qualified depository 
must pledge at least 50% of the average daily balance for each month of all public deposits in excess of 
any applicable deposit insurance. Additional collateral, up to 125% may be required if deemed necessary. 

Obligations pledged to secure deposits must be delivered to the State Treasurer, or with the approval of 
the State Treasurer to a bank, savings association, or trust company provided a power of attorney is 
delivered to the Treasurer. Under the Act, the Town is authorized to deposit funds only in Qualified 
Public Depositories. 

The Town is a member of Florida PRIME, the Local Government Surplus Funds Trust Fund Investment 
Pool (the Pool), that is administered by the State Board of Administration of Florida (SBA). This pool is a 
“2a-7 like” pool, which has the characteristics of a money market fund. Therefore, the fair value of 
investments held at the State Board of Administration Pool is the same as the fair value of the pooled 
shares. The Regulatory Oversight of the Local Government Surplus Funds Trust fund is governed by Ch. 
19-7 of the Florida Administrative Code, which identifies the Rules for the State Board of Administration. 
These rules provide guidance and establish the general procedure for the administration of the Local 
Government Surplus Funds Trust Fund. The Local Government Surplus Trust Fund is not a registrant 
with the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC); however, the Board has adopted operating 
procedure consistent with the requirements for a 2a-7 fund. As of September 30, 2023, the investment 
pool had a weighted average of 35 days to maturity. 

The Town held no assets or investments carried at fair value at September 30, 2023, and subject to the 
required disclosures of GASB 72. 

Town Investment Portfolio 

As of September 30, 2023, the Town’s governmental investment portfolio is composed of the following 
investments: 

 Credit 
Quality 
Rating  
(S&P) 

 Maturities (in Years) 

Investment Type 
Carrying 

Value Less Than 1 1-5 Over 5 

SBA funds AAAm $ 482,072 $ 482,072 $ -     $ -     

111



TOWN OF MELBOURNE BEACH, FLORIDA 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

SEPTEMBER 30, 2023 

- 31 - 

(4) Deposits and Investments: (Continued) 

Interest Rate Risk: The Town limits its exposure to fair value losses arising from increases in interest 
rates by limiting the investment of its operating funds in investments with maturities of less than one year. 
Substantially all of the Town’s surplus funds are invested in the Local Government Surplus Trust Fund. 
Investments held in the Town’s Police Officer’s Retirement Trust Fund are generally held to maturity to 
provide a stable investment interest rate platform which is vital to the projection of actuarial pension costs 
in the future. Interest rate risk exists when there is a possibility that changes in interest rates could 
adversely affect an investment’s fair value. The Town’s bank deposits are held in noninterest-bearing 
accounts. 

Credit Risk: Credit risk is the risk that a debt issuer or other counter-party to an investment will not fulfill 
its obligations. The Town’s portfolio is held entirely with public depositories and is invested in SBA 
funds, as described above. 

Concentration of Credit Risk: In addition to describing the credit risk of investments in the portfolio, 
governmental entities will need to disclose the concentration of credit risk with a single issuer, if 5 or 
more percent of the total assets of the portfolio are invested with one issuer. The Town’s policy limits 
certain type of investments to no more than 5% of the total portfolio. Investments issued or explicitly 
guaranteed by the U.S. government and investments in mutual funds, external investment pools and other 
pooled investments are excluded from the concentration of credit risk disclosure requirements. 

Custodial Credit Risk: All demand deposits are held with qualified public depositories, as defined above. 
In the case of investments, this is the risk that, in the event of the failure of the counterparty, the Town 
will not be able to recover the value of its investments or collateral securities that are in the possession of 
an outside party. As of September 30, 2023, the Town’s investment of $482,072 in SBA funds are backed 
by the full faith and credit of the State of Florida, or explicitly guaranteed by the State of Florida. 

Municipal Police Officers’ Retirement Trust Fund Investment Portfolio 

The Municipal Police Officers’ Retirement Trust Fund has adopted an investment policy which authorizes 
the pension manager to invest in equities, fixed income investments, money market funds, and pooled 
funds.  

The Plan is subject to using fair value measurement guidelines established by GASB Statement No. 72. 
These guidelines recognize a three-tiered fair value hierarchy, as follows: 

  Level 1: Quoted prices for identical investments in active markets; 
  Level 2: Observable inputs other than quoted market prices; and, 
  Level 3: Unobservable inputs. 

The following chart shows the Municipal Police Officers’ Retirement Trust Fund investment accounts by 
investment portfolios and their respective maturities (in years) and fair value measurement levels: 

Investment Type 
Carrying 

Value 

Maturities (in 
years) Less 

Than 1 
Credit Rating 
Range (S&P) 

Fair Value 
Hierarchy 

Classification 

Mutual funds – fixed income $ 1,357,083 $ 1,357,083 NR Level 1 
Mutual funds – equity 2,976,962 2,976,962 NR Level 1 

Total Portfolio $ 4,334,045 $ 4,334,045   

112



TOWN OF MELBOURNE BEACH, FLORIDA 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

SEPTEMBER 30, 2023 

- 32 - 

(4) Deposits and Investments: (Continued) 

Interest Rate Risk: Interest rate risk is the risk that changes in interest rates will adversely affect the fair 
value of investments. Generally, the longer the time to maturity, the greater the exposure to interest rate 
risk. The established performance objectives of the Pension Plan require investment maturities to provide 
sufficient liquidity to pay obligations as they become due. At September 30, 2023, all investments were 
held in cash or other assets that could be liquidated at any time. 

Credit Risk: Credit risk is the risk that a debt issuer or other counter-party to an investment will not fulfill 
its obligations. The Pension Plan utilizes portfolio diversification in order to limit investments to the 
highest rated securities as rated by nationally recognized rating agencies. All investments are rated within 
the investment policy guidelines at September 30, 2023. 

Concentration of Credit Risk: Concentration of credit risk is the risk of loss attributed to the magnitude of 
an investment in a single issuer. The Police Officer’s Retirement Trust Fund policy does not allow more 
than five (5) percent of its assets in the common stock, capital stock, or convertible securities of any one 
issuing company. At September 30, 2023, the investment portfolios met these limitations. 

Custodial Credit Risk: Custodial credit risk is the risk that the Town may not recover cash and 
investments held by another party in the event of financial failure. Custodial credit risk is limited since 
investments are held in independent custodial safekeeping accounts or mutual funds. 

Foreign Currency Risk: Foreign currency risk is the risk that changes in exchange rates will adversely 
affect the fair value of an investment. At September 30, 2023, the investment portfolio had no foreign 
investments. 

(5) Accounts Receivable: 

The Town’s receivables consists of $114,206 at September 30, 2023, all of which was included in the 
general fund and governmental activities. There was no allowance for doubtful accounts at September 30, 
2023. 

In addition to accounts receivable, the Town also recorded $746,431 in due from other governments at 
September 30, 2023 of which $668,734 relates to Federal and State reimbursements related to Hurricanes 
Matthew and Irma, both of which impacted the Town in fiscal year 2017. These amounts reflect 
management’s best estimate of recoveries based on costs incurred and approved project worksheets, and 
are subject to change pending adjustments made by the respective Federal and/or State agencies. 

(6) Interfund Loans, Advances, Fees and Transfers: 

The outstanding balances between funds are short-term loans to cover short-term cash flow needs and 
expected to be repaid in full over the course of the next fiscal year. There were no individual fund 
interfund receivables or payables for the primary government at September 30, 2023. 

 

 

 

 

113



TOWN OF MELBOURNE BEACH, FLORIDA 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

SEPTEMBER 30, 2023 

- 33 - 

(6) Interfund Loans, Advances, Fees and Transfers: (Continued) 

For the year ended September 30, 2023, interfund transfers consisted of the following: 

 Transfers Out: 

Transfers In: 
General 

Fund ARPA 
Ryckman 
Parking 

Ocean 
Parking Total 

General Fund $ -     $ 28,304 $ -     $ -     $ 28,304 
Beautification  -      -      30,000  -      30,000 
Debt Service   121,175  -      -      -      121,175 
Capital Projects  388,282  -      1,500  1,400  391,182 
Ryckman Parking  97,999  -      -      -      97,999 
Environmental   
Advisory Board 

 5,374  -      -      -      5,374 

Total $ 612,830 $ 28,304 $ 31,500 $ 1,400 $ 674,034 

The transfer from the general fund to the debt service fund represents the requirements for debt service. 
The transfers from the general fund to the capital projects fund represent capital expenditures paid for by 
the general fund. The transfer from the general fund to the Ryckman Crossover Parking fund represents 
amounts to be used on Ryckman Park and the crossover in the future. The transfer from the ARPA fund 
to the general fund represents an amount to help cover payroll expenditures. The transfer from the 
Ryckman Crossover Parking fund to the beautification fund represents amounts to be used on 
beautification in the future.  

(7) Capital Assets: 

Capital asset activity for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2023, is as follows: 

 
Beginning 
Balance Increases Decreases 

Ending 
Balance 

Governmental activities:     
Capital assets, not being depreciated      

Land $ 897,742 $ -     $ -     $ 897,742 
Construction in progress -  -      -      -     

Total capital assets, not being depreciated 897,742  -      -     897,742 
Capital assets, being depreciated      

Buildings and improvements 4,809,816 32,076  (9,610) 4,832,282 
Equipment 2,616,809 378,233  (1,798) 2,993,244 
Infrastructure 7,580,125  730,768   -   8,310,893 

Total capital assets, being depreciated 15,006,750 1,141,077  (11,408) 16,136,419 
Less: accumulated depreciation  (7,147,462)  (582,655)  1,896  (7,728,221) 
Total capital assets, being depreciated, net 7,859,288    558,422  (9,512) 8,408,198 

Governmental activities capital assets, net $ 8,757,030 $ 558,422 $ (9,512) $ 9,305,940 

Depreciation expense was charged to functions/programs as follows: 

Governmental activities:  
General governmental $ 350,541 
Public safety 107,799 
Physical environment 52,058 
Culture and recreation 72,257 

Total depreciation expense - governmental activities $ 582,655 

114



TOWN OF MELBOURNE BEACH, FLORIDA 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

SEPTEMBER 30, 2023 

- 34 - 

(8) Long-Term Debt: 

For the fiscal year ended September 30, 2023, a summary of the long-term liability transactions for the 
Town is as follows: 

 
Beginning 
Balance Additions Deletions 

Ending 
Balance 

Due Within 
One Year 

Governmental activities:      
Notes and bonds payable $ 2,090,000 $ -     $ (988,000) $ 1,102,000 $ 222,000 

Less deferred amounts:      
Original issue premium 87,007 -      (13,056) 73,951 -     
Original issue (discount)  (17,690) -      (3,844)  (13,846) -     

Total notes and bonds payable 2,159,317 -      (997,212) 1,162,105 222,000 
Compensated absences 299,504 168,669  (123,726) 344,447 172,224 
Governmental activities –  
Total long-term liabilities $ 2,458,821 $ 168,669 $ (1,120,938) $ 1,506,552 $ 394,224 

Notes and bonds payable at September 30, 2023, are comprised of the following obligations: 

Series 2017 Florida Municipal Loan Council Revenue Refunding Bonds, 
dated September 20, 2017, originally issued to partially defease the Florida 
Municipal Loan Council Revenue Bonds, Series 2005B, due in payments 
of principal plus interest ranging from 3.00% to 5.00% semiannually on 
April 1 and October 1 each year until final maturity on October 1, 2029.  $ 585,000 

Series 2009 Stormwater Improvement note payable, dated August 20, 2009, 
due in payments of principal plus interest at 4.23% semiannually on 
January 1 and July 1 through July 1, 2028. Repayment of loan balance is 
secured by a pledge of real property ad valorem tax revenues assessed at 
0.9999 mills on all property within the Town.  517,000 

Total long-term debt, governmental activities 
 

$ 1,102,000 

Annual debt service requirements to maturity for the Town’s notes and bonds payable are as follows: 

Year Ending 
September 30 Principal Interest Total 

2024 $ 222,000 $ 51,044 $ 273,044 
2025 321,000 37,279 358,279 
2026 154,000 23,007 177,007 
2027 90,000 15,800 105,800 
2028 110,000 11,050 111,050 

2029-2033 215,000 7,575 222,575 

Total $ 1,102,000 $ 145,755 $ 1,247,755 

115



TOWN OF MELBOURNE BEACH, FLORIDA 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

SEPTEMBER 30, 2023 

- 35 - 

(9) Employees’ Retirement Plans: 

A. Deferred Compensation Plan 

The Town offers employees’ participation in an unqualified deferred compensation plan created in 
accordance with Internal Revenue Code Section 457 to receive employee contributions, which is 
administered by Nationwide Retirement Solutions, P.O. Box 182797, Columbus, OH, 43218-2797. 
Annual contributions are limited to the amount allowed by federal tax laws. Employees immediately vest 
in the elective deferral contributions made to the 457 plan. The Town may also contribute to the plan for 
participants; these contributions vest at the time such contributions are made to the plan. For the year 
ended September 30, 2023, employee contributions were $19,320 and employer contributions were 
$13,202 to the 457 plan. 

B. Florida Retirement System 

Plan Description and Administration 

The Town participates in the Florida Retirement System (FRS), a multiple-employer, cost sharing defined 
public employee retirement system which covers all of the Town’s full-time employees. The System is 
administered by the State of Florida, Department of Administration, Division of Retirement to provide 
retirement and survivor benefits to participating public employees. Provisions relating to the FRS are 
established by Chapters 121 and 122, Florida Statutes; Chapter 112, Part IV, Florida Statutes; Chapter 
238, Florida Statutes; and FRS Rules, Chapter 60S, Florida Administrative Code; wherein eligibility, 
contributions, and benefits are defined and described in detail. The FRS is a single retirement system 
administered by the Department of Management Services, Division of Retirement, and consists of two 
cost-sharing, multiple-employer retirement plans and other nonintegrated programs. These include a 
defined-benefit pension plan (Plan), with a Deferred Retirement Option Program (DROP), and a defined-
contribution plan, referred to as the FRS Investment Plan (Investment Plan). 

In addition, all regular employees of the Town are eligible to enroll as members of the Retiree Health 
Insurance Subsidy (HIS) Program. The HIS is a cost-sharing, multiple-employer defined benefit pension 
plan established and administered in accordance with section 112.363, Florida Statutes. The benefit is a 
monthly payment to assist retirees of the state-administered retirement systems in paying their health 
insurance costs. For the fiscal year ended September 30, 2023, eligible retirees and beneficiaries received 
a monthly HIS payment equal to the number of years of service credited at retirement multiplied by 
$7.50. The minimum payment is $45 and the maximum payment is $225 per month, pursuant to section 
112.363, Florida Statutes. To be eligible to receive a HIS benefit, a retiree under one of the state-
administered retirement systems must provide proof of eligible health insurance coverage, which can 
include Medicare. 

116



TOWN OF MELBOURNE BEACH, FLORIDA 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

SEPTEMBER 30, 2023 

- 36 - 

(9) Employees’ Retirement Plans: (Continued) 

Benefits Provided and Employees Covered 

Employees enrolled in the Plan prior to July 1, 2011, vest at six years of creditable service and employees 
enrolled in the Plan on or after July 1, 2011, vest at eight years of creditable service. All vested members, 
enrolled prior to July 1, 2011, are eligible for normal retirement benefits at age 62 or at any age after 30 
years of service. All members enrolled in the Plan on or after July 1, 2011, once vested, are eligible for 
normal retirement benefits at age 65 or any time after 33 years of creditable service. Members of both 
Plans may include up to four years of credit for military service toward creditable service. The Plan also 
includes an early retirement provision; however, there is a benefit reduction for each year a member 
retires before his or her normal retirement date. The Plan provides retirement, disability, death benefits, 
and annual cost-of-living adjustments. Benefits under the Plan are computed on the basis of age and/or 
years of service, average final compensation, and service credit. Credit for each year of service is 
expressed as a percentage of the average final compensation. For members initially enrolled before July 1, 
2011, the average final compensation is the average of the five highest fiscal years’ earnings; for 
members initially enrolled on or after July 1, 2011, the average final compensation is the average of the 
eight highest fiscal years’ earnings. The total percentage value of the benefit received is determined by 
calculating the total value of all service, which is based on the retirement plan and/or class to which the 
member belonged when the service credit was earned. 

DROP, subject to provisions of Section 121.091, Florida Statutes, permits employees eligible for normal 
retirement under the Plan to defer receipt of monthly benefit payments while continuing employment with 
an FRS employer. An employee may participate in DROP for a period not to exceed 60 months after 
electing to participate, except that certain instructional personnel may participate for up to 96 months. 
During the period of DROP participation, deferred monthly benefits are held in the FRS Trust Fund and 
accrue interest. 

Employees may elect to participate in the Investment Plan in lieu of the FRS defined-benefit plan. 
Employer and employee contributions are defined by law, but the ultimate benefit depends in part on the 
performance of investment funds. The Investment Plan is funded by employer and employee 
contributions that are based on salary and membership class (Regular, DROP, etc.). Contributions are 
directed to individual member accounts, and the individual members allocate contributions and account 
balances among various approved investment choices. Employees in the Investment Plan vest at one year 
of service. 

Financial Statements 

Financial statements and other supplementary information of the FRS are included in the State’s 
Comprehensive Annual Financial Report, which is available from the Florida Department of Financial 
Services, Bureau of Financial Reporting Statewide Financial Reporting Section by mail at 200 E. 
Gaines Street, Tallahassee, Florida 32399-0364; by telephone at (850) 413-5511; or at the 
Department’s Web site (www.myfloridacfo.com). An annual report on the FRS, which includes its 
financial statements, required supplementary information, actuarial report, and other relevant 
information, is available from: 

Florida Department of Management Services 
Division of Retirement, Research and Education Services 
P.O. Box 9000 
Tallahassee, FL 32315-9000 
850-488-5706 or toll free at 877-377-1737 

117



TOWN OF MELBOURNE BEACH, FLORIDA 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

SEPTEMBER 30, 2023 

- 37 - 

(9) Employees’ Retirement Plans: (Continued) 

Contributions 

The Town participates in certain classes of FRS membership. Each class has descriptions and contribution 
rates in effect during the year ended September 30, 2023, as follows (contribution rates are in agreement 
with the actuarially determined rates): 

FRS Membership Plan & Class 
Through June 

30, 2023 
After June 30, 

2023 

Regular Class 11.91% 13.57% 
 

Current-year employer HIS contributions were made at a rate of 1.66% of covered payroll through June 
30, 2023, and 2.00% thereafter, which are included in the above rates. 

For the plan year ended June 30, 2023, actual contributions made for Town employees participating in 
FRS and HIS were as follows: 

Town Contributions – FRS  $         45,535 
Town Contributions – HIS  10,059 
Employee Contributions – FRS 18,179 

Net Pension Liability, Pension Expense, and Deferred Outflows and Inflows of Resources Related to 
Pensions 

At September 30, 2023, the Town reported a liability related to FRS and HIS as follows: 

Plan 
Net Pension 

Liability 
FRS $ 377,173 
HIS 242,852 

Total $ 620,025 

The net pension liability was measured as of June 30, 2023, and the total pension liability used to 
calculate the net pension liability was determined by an actuarial valuation as of that date. The Town’s 
proportion of the net pension liability was based on a projection of the Town’s long-term share of 
contributions to the pension plan relative to the projected contributions of all participating governmental 
entities, as actuarially determined. At June 30, 2023 and June 30, 2022, the Town’s proportionate share of 
the FRS and HIS net pension liabilities were as follows: 

Plan 2023 2022 
FRS 0.000946557% 0.000772082% 
HIS 0.001529169% 0.001177166% 

For the plan year ended June 30, 2023, pension expense was recognized related to the FRS and HIS plans 
as follows: 

FRS $ 96,885 
HIS 97,515 

Total $ 194,400 

118



TOWN OF MELBOURNE BEACH, FLORIDA 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

SEPTEMBER 30, 2023 

- 38 - 

(9) Employees’ Retirement Plans: (Continued) 

Deferred outflows/inflows related to pensions: 

At September 30, 2023, the Town reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of 
resources related to pensions from the following sources: 

Deferred 
O utflows of 
Resources

Deferred 
Inflows of 
Resources

Deferred 
O utflows of 
Resources

Deferred 
Inflows of 
Resources

Differences between expected and actual experience 35,413$           -$                3,555$             (570)$              

Changes of assumptions 24,587             -                  6,385               (21,044)           

Net difference between projected and actual investment earnings 15,752             -                  125                  -                  

Change in proportionate share 60,011             -                  41,005             (8,456)             

Contributions subsequent to measurement date 13,914             -                  3,374               -                  

Total 149,677$         -$                54,444$           (30,070)$         

FRS HIS

 

The above amounts for deferred outflows of resources for contributions related to pensions resulting from 
Town contributions subsequent to the measurement date and will be recognized as a reduction of the net 
pension liability in the year ended September 30, 2024. Other amounts reported as deferred outflows and 
deferred inflows of resources related to pensions being amortized for a period of greater than one year 
will be recognized in pension expense in succeeding years as follows: 

FRS HIS Total

2024 28,334$      4,584$        32,918$      
2025 11,919        5,777          17,696        
2026 75,055        3,268          78,323        
2027 15,965        1,486          17,451        
2028 4,490          4,148          8,638          

Thereafter -             1,737          1,737          
135,763$    21,000$      156,763$    

 

Actuarial assumptions: 

The actuarial assumptions for both defined benefit plans are reviewed annually by the Florida Retirement 
System Actuarial Assumptions Conference. The FRS has a valuation performed annually. The HIS 
Program has a valuation performed biennially that is updated for GASB reporting in the year a valuation 
is not performed. The most recent experience study for the FRS was completed in 2019 for the period 
July 1, 2013, through June 30, 2018. Because HIS is funded on a pay-as-you-go basis, no experience 
study has been completed. 

The total pension liability for each of the defined benefit plans was determined by an actuarial valuation, 
using the entry age normal actuarial cost method. Inflation increases for both plans is assumed at 2.40%. 
Payroll growth, including inflation, for both plans is assumed at 3.25%. Both the discount rate and the 
long-term expected rate of return used for FRS investments is 6.70%. This rate is consistent with the prior 
year rate. The plan’s fiduciary net position was projected to be available to make all projected future 
benefit payments of current active and inactive employees. Therefore, the discount rate for calculating the 
total pension liability is equal to the long-term expected rate of return. Because HIS Program uses a pay-
as-you-go funding structure, a municipal bond rate of 3.65% was used to determine the total pension for 
the program. This rate increased from the prior year rate, which was 3.54%. Mortality assumptions for 
both plans were based on the PUB-2010 base table varies by member category and sex, projected 
generationally with Scale MP-2018 details. 

119



TOWN OF MELBOURNE BEACH, FLORIDA 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

SEPTEMBER 30, 2023 

- 39 - 

(9) Employees’ Retirement Plans: (Continued) 

Long-term expected rate of return: 

To develop an analytical basis for the selection of the long-term expected rate of return assumption, in 
October 2023, the FRS Actuarial Assumptions conference reviewed long-term assumptions developed by 
both Milliman’s capital market assumptions team and by a capital market assumptions team from Aon 
Hewitt Investment Consulting, which consults to the Florida State Board of Administration. The table 
below shows Milliman’s assumptions for each of the asset classes in which the plan was invested at that 
time based on the long-term target asset allocation. The allocation policy’s description of each asset class 
was used to map the target allocation to the asset classes shown below. Each asset class assumption is 
based on a consistent set of underlying assumptions, and includes an adjustment for the inflation 
assumption. These assumptions are not based on historical returns, but instead are based on a forward-
looking capital market economic model.  

Asset Class 
Target 

Allocation 

Annual 
Arithmetic 
Expected 
Rate of 
Return 

Cash 1.0% 2.9% 
Fixed income 19.8% 4.5% 
Global equities 54.0% 8.7% 
Real estate 10.3% 7.6% 
Private equity 11.1% 11.9% 
Strategic investments 3.8% 6.3% 
Total 100.0%  

Sensitivity of the net pension liability to changes in the discount rate: 

The following presents the proportionate shares of the FRS and HIS net pension liability of the Town 
calculated using the current discount rates, as well as what the Town’s net pension liability would be if it 
were calculated using a discount rate that is 1% lower or 1% higher than the current rate:  

Plan 
Current 

Discount Rate 
NPL with 

1% Decrease 

NPL at 
Current 

Discount Rate 
NPL with  

1% Increase 

FRS 6.70% $ 644,288 $ 377,173 $ 153,699 
HIS 3.65% 277,057 242,852 214,499 

C. Municipal Police Officers’ Retirement Trust Fund 

The Town maintains a separate single-employer defined benefit pension plan for Police officers. 

Plan Description and Administration 

All full-time police officers are eligible to participate in the Police Officers’ Pension Plan (the Plan). This 
is a single employer, defined benefit pension plan. Benefit provisions and other requirements of the plan 
are established by Florida Statues and Town Ordinance 2012-02. It is accounted for as a retirement trust 
fund and reported on herein as part of the Town’s reporting entity. The plan is administered through its 
own Board of Trustees. Pension plan data is provided from an actuarial report as of October 1, 2022. 

120



TOWN OF MELBOURNE BEACH, FLORIDA 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

SEPTEMBER 30, 2023 

- 40 - 

(9) Employees’ Retirement Plans: (Continued) 

Benefits Provided and Employees Covered 

The Plan provides retirement, disability and death benefits to plan participants and beneficiaries. No cost 
of living adjustment is provided to retirees and beneficiaries. The Plan’s Board of Trustees has contracted 
with an actuary to provide an actuarial valuation of each plan as of October 1 of every other year. Current 
membership in the Plan was composed of the following at October 1, 2023: 

Inactive participants 8 
Active participants 3 
Retired participants 10 

Total current membership 21 

Benefits vest after ten years of service. Participants may retire upon attainment of the earlier of, age 55 
and completion of ten years of credited service, or age 52 and 20 years of credited service. Retirees are 
entitled to 3.0% of average monthly earnings times years of credited service. The plan also provides 
service-incurred disability compensation and early retirement. Early retirement may be taken at age 50 
and 10 years of credited service with reduced benefits.  

Financial Statements 

The financial statements of the Plan are prepared using the accrual basis of accounting. Plan member 
contributions are recognized in the period in which the contributions are due. The government’s 
contributions are recognized when due and a formal commitment to provide the contributions has been 
made. Benefits and refunds are recognized when due and payable in accordance with the terms of the 
plan. All plan investments are reported at fair value. Separate financial statements have not been prepared 
for the Plan. 

Contributions 

The participant contribution rates for the Plan are established by and may be amended by the Town 
Commission. Employees covered under the plan are required to make contributions of 5% of their 
compensation. The Town’s annual required contribution for the current year was determined as part of the 
October 1, 2023 actuarial valuations. The Town is required under the Florida Protection of Public 
Employee Retirement Benefits Act to contribute a payment which represents annual normal cost plus 
amortization of the unfunded actuarial accrued liability over various periods as prescribed by law. The 
Town’s contributions (and if applicable, any liquidations of a net pension obligation) to the Plan are 
funded by the General Fund. 

The State of Florida also makes contributions to the Plan in accordance with Chapter 185 of the Florida 
Statutes as amended by the State Legislature. This contribution by the State of Florida is first recognized 
as revenue in the General Fund before being transferred to the Pension Fund. The Town’s actual annual 
contribution for the plan is determined by subtracting estimated employee contributions and actual State 
of Florida contributions from the total annual required contribution as determined by the actuary. 

Contributions to the Plan for the year ended September 30, 2023, were as follows: 

Employee contributions $ 33,074 
Town contributions 199,315 
State contributions 52,693 

Total contributions $ 285,082 

Investment Policy 

See Note (4) for additional discussion of the investment policies for the Plan. 

121



TOWN OF MELBOURNE BEACH, FLORIDA 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

SEPTEMBER 30, 2023 

- 41 - 

(9) Employees’ Retirement Plans: (Continued) 

Net Pension Liability 

At September 30, 2023, the components of the net pension liability for the Plan were as follows: 

Total pension liability $ 4,920,729 
Plan fiduciary net position  (4,398,663) 

Net pension liability $ 522,066 

Plan fiduciary net position as percentage of total 
pension liability 89.39% 

The total pension liability was determined by an actuarial valuation as of October 1, 2023, with a 
measurement date of September 30, 2023, using the following actuarial assumptions to all measurement 
periods. 

Inflation 2.50% 
Salary increases Service based 
Discount rate 6.60% 
Investment rate of return 6.60% 

  Mortality rate:   
Mortaility Rate Healthy Active Lives: 

Female: PubS.H-2010 for Employees, set forward one year. 

Male: PubS.H-2010 (Below Median) for Employees, set forward one 
year. 

Mortality Rate Healthy Retiree Lives: 

Female: PubS.H-2010 for Healthy Retirees, set forward one year. 

Male: PubS.H-2010 (Below Median) for Healthy Retirees, set forward 
one year. 

Mortality Rate Beneficiary Lives: 

Female: PubG.H-2010 (Below Median) for Healthy Retirees. 

Male: PubG.H-2010 (Below Median) for Healthy Retirees, set back one 
year. 

Mortality Rate Disabled Lives: 

80% PubG.H-2010 for Disabled Retirees / 20% PubS.H-2010 for 
Disabled Retirees. 

 

All rates are projected generationally with mortality Improvements Scale MP-2018. The above described 
mortality assumption rates were mandated by Chapter 2015-157, Laws of Florida. The above rates are 
those outlined in Milliman’s July 1, 2019 FRS valuation report for special risk employees, with 
appropriate adjustments made based on plan demographics. 

The most recent actuarial experience study used to review the other significant assumptions was dated 
December 12, 2022. 

122



TOWN OF MELBOURNE BEACH, FLORIDA 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

SEPTEMBER 30, 2023 

- 42 - 

(9) Employees’ Retirement Plans: (Continued) 

The long-term expected rate of return on pension plan investments was determined using a building-block 
method in which best-estimate ranges of expected future real rates of return (expected returns, net of 
pension plan investment expenses and inflation) are developed for each major asset class. These ranges 
are combined to produce the long term expected rate of return by weighting the expected future real rates 
of return by the target asset allocation percentage and by adding expected inflation. 

Best estimates of arithmetic real rates of return for each major class included in the pension plan’s target 
asset allocation as of September 30, 2023, are summarized in the following table: 

Asset Class 
Target 

Allocation 

Long-Term 
Arithmetic 
Expected 
Rate of 
Return 

Domestic Equity 55% 7.50% 
International Equity 10% 8.50% 
Broad Market Fixed Income 30% 2.50% 
GTAA 5% 3.50% 
Total 100%  

Discount rate: 

The discount rate used to measure the total pension liability for the pension plan was 6.60%. The 
projection of cash flows used to determine the discount rate assumed the plan member contributions will 
be made at the current contribution rate and that Town contributions will be made at rates equal to the 
difference between actuarially determined contribution rates and the member rate. Based on those 
assumptions, the pension plan’s fiduciary net position was projected to be available to make all projected 
future benefit payments of current plan members. Therefore, the long-term expected rate of return on 
pension plan investments was applied to all periods of projected benefit payments to determine the total 
pension liability. 

123



TOWN OF MELBOURNE BEACH, FLORIDA 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

SEPTEMBER 30, 2023 

- 43 - 

(9) Employees’ Retirement Plans: (Continued) 

Changes in net pension liability: 

Changes in the plan’s net pension liability were as follows: 

 

Total Pension 
Liability 

(a) 

Plan 
Fiduciary Net 

Position (b) 

Net Pension 
Liability 
(a – b) 

Beginning Balance  $ 5,330,583 $ 3,912,119 $ 1,418,464 
Changes for year:    
    Service cost 124,081 -     124,081 
    Interest 356,110 -     356,110 
    Differences between expected/actual experience  (664,238) -      (664,238) 
    Change in assumptions  53,367  -      53,367  
    Contributions – employer -     199,315  (199,315) 
    Contributions – state -     52,693  (52,693) 
    Contributions – employee -     33,074  (33,074) 
    Net investment income -      512,952  (512,952) 
    Benefit payments, including refunds  (279,174)  (279,174) -     
    Administrative expenses -      (32,316) 32,316 
Net changes  (409,854)  486,544  (896,398) 

Ending Balance $ 4,920,729 $ 4,398,663 $ 522,066 

Sensitivity of the net pension liability to changes in the discount rate: 

The following presents the net pension liability (asset) of the Town calculated using the discount rate of 
6.60%, as well as what the Town’s net pension liability would be if it were calculated using a discount 
rate that is 1% lower (5.60%) or 1% higher (7.60%) than the current rate: 

Town’s Net Pension Liability (Asset) 
1% Decrease 

5.70% 

Current 
Discount Rate 

6.70% 
1% Increase 

7.70% 

Municipal Police Officers’ Retirement Trust Fund $ 1,114,677 $ 522,066 $       29,477 

Money-weighted rate of return: 

For the year ended September 30, 2023, the annual money-weighted rate of return on Plan investments, 
net of pension plan investment expense was as follows: 

Annual money-weighted rate of return 13.26% 

The money-weighted rate of return expresses investment performance, net of investment expense, 
adjusted for the changing amounts actually invested. 

Pension Expense and Deferred Outflows and Inflows of Resources Related to Pensions 

For the year ended September 30, 2023, the Town recognized pension expense of $244,843 in the Plan. 

124



TOWN OF MELBOURNE BEACH, FLORIDA 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

SEPTEMBER 30, 2023 

- 44 - 

(9) Employees’ Retirement Plans: (Continued) 

At September 30, 2023, the Town reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of 
resources related to pensions from the following sources: 

 

Deferred 
Outflows of 
Resources 

Deferred 
Inflows of 
Resources 

Differences between expected and 
actual experience 

$ 21,978 $ 620,210 

Changes of assumptions 180,012  10,998 
Net difference between projected and 

actual investment earnings 
218,700            - 

 $ 420,690 $ (631,208)

Amounts reported as deferred outflows and deferred inflows of resources related to pensions being 
amortized for a period of greater than one year will be recognized in pension expense in succeeding years 
as follows: 

2024 $     (56,053) 
2025  (29,903) 
2026  47,958 
2027  (172,520) 
2028 -  

Total $ (210,518) 

(10) Other Post-Employment Benefits (OPEB): 

Plan DescriptionEffective October 1, 2019, the Town implemented GASB Statement No. 75, 
Accounting and Reporting for Post-Employment Benefits Other Than Pensions, for certain post-
employment healthcare benefits provided by the Town. The Town elected to implement the requirements 
of this statement prospectively. No assets are held in trust for payment of the OPEB liability as the Town 
had no OPEB liability other than as arising from the implicit rate subsidy, as discussed in the following 
paragraph. 

Retirees and their dependents are permitted to remain covered under the Town’s respective health care 
plans as long as they pay a full premium applicable to the coverage elected. This conforms to the 
minimum required of Florida governmental employers per Chapter 112.08, Florida Statutes. The Other 
Post-Employment Benefit Plan does not issue a stand-alone report 

Benefits ProvidedThe Other Post Employment Benefit Plan is a single-employer benefit plan 
administered by the Town. Retirees are charged whatever the insurance company charges for the type of 
coverage elected, however, the premiums charged by the insurance company are based on a blending of 
the experience among younger active employees and older retired employees. The older retirees actually 
have a higher cost which means the Town is actually subsidizing the cost of the retiree coverage because 
it pays all or a significant portion of the premium on behalf of the active employee. GASB No. 75 calls 
this the “implicit rate subsidy.” 

125



TOWN OF MELBOURNE BEACH, FLORIDA 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

SEPTEMBER 30, 2023 

- 45 - 

(10) Other Post-Employment Benefits (OPEB): (Continued) 

Plan MembershipAt October 1, 2021, the date of the latest actuarial valuation, plan participation 
consisted of the following: 

Active Employees 20 
Inactive Employees -     
 20 

Total OPEB LiabilityThe Town’s total OPEB liability of $19,366 was measured as of September 30, 
2023, and was determined by an actuarial valuation as of that date utilizing the Alternative Measurement 
Method for small plans. 

Actuarial Assumptions and Other InputsThe total OPEB liability in the September 30, 2023 
actuarial valuation was determined using the following actuarial assumptions and other inputs, applied to 
all periods in the measurement, unless otherwise specified: 

Salary increases 3.00% 
Discount rate 4.91% 
Healthcare cost trend rate 8.00% 
Age-related morbidity rate 3.50% 
  

The Town does not a have a dedicated Trust to pay retiree healthcare benefits. The discount rate was 
based the S&P Municipal Bond 20 Year High Grade Rate Index as of September 30, 2023. 

Mortality rates were based on the sex-distinct rates set forth in the PUB-2010 Mortality Table (without 
income adjustments) for general employees, with full generational improvements in mortality using Scale 
MP-2020. 

For the fiscal year ended September 30, 2023, changes in the OPEB liability were as follows: 

 
Total OPEB 

Liability 

Balance at September 30, 2022 $ 17,636 
Changes for a year:  

Service cost 1,690 
Interest 934 
Demographic gain/loss    - 
Changes of assumptions  (279) 
Benefit payments – implicit rate subsidy  (615) 

Net changes  1,730 

Balance at September 30, 2023 $ 19,366 

Sensitivity of the total OPEB liability to changes in the discount rate: 

The following presents the total OPEB liability of the Town calculated using the discount rate of 4.91%, 
as well as what the Town’s total OPEB liability would be if it were calculated using a discount rate that is 
1% lower (3.91%) or 1% higher (5.91%) than the current rate: 

 1% Decrease 
Current 

Discount Rate 1% Increase 

Total OPEB Liability $ 21,606 $ 19,366 $ 17,410 

126



TOWN OF MELBOURNE BEACH, FLORIDA 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

SEPTEMBER 30, 2023 

- 46 - 

(10) Other Post-Employment Benefits (OPEB): (Continued) 

Sensitivity of the total OPEB liability to changes in the healthcare cost trend rate: 

The following presents the total OPEB liability of the Town as well as what the Town’s total OPEB 
liability would be if it were calculated using healthcare cost trend rates that are 1% lower or 1% higher 
than the current healthcare cost trend rates (8.00% graded down to 5.00%): 

 1% Decrease 
Current 

Trend Rates 1% Increase 

Total OPEB Liability $ 16,628 $ 19,366 $ 22,702 

OPEB Expense and Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred Inflows of Resources 

For the year ended September 30, 2023, the Town recognized OPEB expense of ($525) At September 30, 
2023, the Town reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to 
OPEB from the following sources: 

 Deferred Outflows 
of Resources 

Deferred Inflows of 
Resources 

Demographic gain/loss $            1,226  $ 4,190 
Changes of assumptions 6,209 26,986 
   Total   $       7,435   $     31,176 

Deferred outflows for contributions subsequent to the measurement date will be recognized in fiscal year 
2023. Other amounts reported as deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related 
to OPEB will be recognized in OPEB expense as follows: 

Year ended September 30: Amortization 

2024 $        2,534 
2025  2,534 
2026  2,534 
2027 2,534 
2028  2,534 

Thereafter            11,071 

(11) Risk Management: 

The Town is exposed to various risks of loss related to torts; theft of, damage to and destruction of assets; 
errors and omissions; and natural disasters for which the Town carries commercial insurance. Settled 
claims have not exceeded this commercial coverage in any of the past three fiscal years. There were no 
significant reductions in coverage from the prior year. 

The Town is engaged in routine litigation incidental to the conduct of its municipal affairs. In the opinion 
of the Town’s legal counsel, no legal proceedings are pending which would have a material adverse effect 
on the financial position or results of operations of the Town. 

127



TOWN OF MELBOURNE BEACH, FLORIDA 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

SEPTEMBER 30, 2023 

- 47 - 

(12) Commitments and Contingencies: 

The Town is engaged in various liability claims incidental to the conduct of its general government 
operations at September 30, 2023. The outcomes of established claims are included in these financial 
statements. In the opinion of the Town’s legal counsel, no legal proceedings are pending or threatened 
against the Town which are not covered by applicable insurance which would inhibit its ability to perform 
its operations or materially affect its financial condition. 

(13) Recent Accounting Pronouncements: 

The Governmental Accounting Standards Board (“GASB”) has issued several pronouncements that have 
effective dates that may impact future financial statements. Listed below are pronouncements with 
required implementation dates effective for subsequent fiscal years that have not yet been implemented. 
Management has not currently determined what, if any, impact implementation of the following will have 
on the Authority’s financial statements:  

(a) GASB issued Statement No. 101, Compensated Absences, in June 2022. GASB Statement No. 
101 amends the existing guidance related to the calculation and disclosures surrounding the 
liability for compensated absences. The provisions for GASB 101 are effective for fiscal years 
beginning after December 15, 2023.  

(b) GASB issued Statement No. 102, Certain Risk Disclosures, in December 2023. The objective 
of GASB 102 is to provide users of government financial statements with essential information 
about risks related to a government’s vulnerabilities due to certain concentrations or 
constraints. The effective date for implementation is fiscal years beginning after June 15, 2024, 
and all reporting periods thereafter. 

128



2023 2022 2021 2020 2019

Total OPEB Liability
Service cost 1,690$           1,732$           5,108$           5,385$           3,621$           
Interest 934                2,237             1,110             750                1,020             
Demographic gain/loss (213)               (1,359)            -                 (4,241)            -                 
Changes of assumptions (2,321)            (29,985)          (1,463)            9,070             183                
Benefit payments - implicit rate subsidy (615)               (300)               (46)                 (18)                 (56)                 
Net change in total OPEB liability                (525)           (27,675)               4,709             10,946               4,768 
Total OPEB liability - beginning of year 17,636           45,311           40,602           29,656           24,888           
Total OPEB liability - end of year 17,111$         17,636$         45,311$         40,602$         29,656$         

Notes to Schedule

Valuation date: 10/1/2021 10/1/2021 10/1/2019 10/1/2019 10/1/2018

4.91% 4.77% 2.43% 2.14% 3.58%

Changes of assumptions. Changes of assumptions and other changes reflect the effects of changes in the discount rate each period. The following are the discount rates 
used in each period:

Note 1:  GASB 75 requires information for 10 years. However, until a full 10-year trend is compiled, information is presented for only those years for which information 
is available.

TOWN OF MELBOURNE BEACH, FLORIDA
SCHEDULE OF CHANGES IN TOTAL OPEB LIABILITY

AND RELATED RATIOS
LAST 10 FISCAL YEARS

(UNAUDITED)

- 48 -

129



For the year ended September 30, 2023 2022 2021 2020 2019 2018 2017 2016 2015 2014

Total Pension Liability:
Sevice cost 124,081$         175,753$         145,752$         146,094$         139,118$         142,520$         92,471$           90,773$           95,129$           92,542$           
Interest 356,110           343,490           340,372           334,765           333,851           305,755           287,077           274,273           266,454           257,604           
Differences between expected and actual experience (664,238)          5,375               (143,105)          57,872             (189,455)          228,539           73,071             (80,473)            (3,954)              -                   
Changes of assumptions 53,367             133,969           175,817           (32,993)            -                   69,128             188,677           138,126           -                   -                   
Benefit payments, including refunds of employee contributions (279,174)          (260,771)          (270,233)          (278,077)          (278,532)          (297,428)          (268,593)          (260,105)          (250,963)          (233,262)          

Net change in total pension liability (409,854)          397,816           248,603           227,661           4,982               448,514           372,703           162,594           106,666           116,884           
Total pension liability - beginning of year 5,330,563        4,932,747        4,684,144        4,456,483        4,451,501        4,002,987        3,630,284        3,467,690        3,361,024        3,244,140        
Total pension liability - ending of year (a) 4,920,709$      5,330,563$      4,932,747$      4,684,144$      4,456,483$      4,451,501$      4,002,987$      3,630,284$      3,467,690$      3,361,024$      

Total Fiduciary Net Position:
Contributions - employer 199,315$         197,000$         252,549$         295,935$         262,309$         196,123$         223,500$         186,596$         222,353$         200,907$         
Contributions - state 52,693             45,792             42,470             42,206             40,536             78,809             36,787             32,271             -                   32,044             
Contributions - employee 33,074             31,345             28,185             29,060             28,033             28,500             28,084             23,298             22,464             21,403             
Net investment income 512,952           (778,626)          891,384           235,105           86,314             265,306           329,348           221,491           (22,583)            255,971           
Benefit payments, ncluding refunds of employee contributions (279,174)          (260,771)          (270,233)          (278,077)          (278,532)          (297,428)          (268,593)          (260,105)          (250,963)          (233,262)          
Administrative expense (32,316)            (16,411)            (18,688)            (15,989)            (16,914)            (24,645)            (14,945)            (16,803)            (23,280)            (8,111)              

Net change in plan fiduciary net position 486,544           (781,671)          925,667           308,240           121,746           246,665           334,181           186,748           (52,009)            268,952           
Plan fiduciary net position - beginning of year 3,912,119        4,693,790        3,768,123        3,459,883        3,338,137        3,091,472        2,757,291        2,570,543        2,622,552        2,353,600        
Plan fiduciary net position - end of year (b) 4,398,663$      3,912,119$      4,693,790$      3,768,123$      3,459,883$      3,338,137$      3,091,472$      2,757,291$      2,570,543$      2,622,552$      

Net pension liability - end of year (a) - (b) 522,046$         1,418,444$      238,957$         916,021$         996,600$         1,113,364$      911,515$         872,993$         897,147$         738,472$         

89.39% 73.39% 95.16% 80.44% 77.64% 74.99% 77.23% 75.95% 74.13% 78.03%

Covered payroll 661,476$         626,899$         563,692$         581,196$         560,662$         569,999$         561,681$         465,956$         467,561$         428,060$         

Net pension liability as a percentage of covered payroll 78.92% 226.26% 42.39% 157.61% 177.75% 195.33% 162.28% 187.36% 191.88% 172.52%

Plan fiduciary net position as a percentage of the total pension liability

TOWN OF MELBOURNE BEACH, FLORIDA
REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION

SCHEDULE OF CHANGES IN NET PENSION LIABILITY AND RELATED RATIOS
MUNICIPAL POLICE OFFICERS' RETIREMENT TRUST FUND

SEPTEMBER 30, 2023

- 49 -

130



2023 2022 2021 2020 2019 2018 2017 2016 2015 2014

Actuarially determined contribution 247,987$      266,244$      276,434$      333,839$      296,534$      274,568$      259,272$      218,394$      222,353$      232,950$      
Contributions in relation to the actuarially determined contributions 252,008        242,792        295,019        338,141        302,845        274,932        260,287        218,867        222,353        232,950        
Contribution deficiency (excess) (4,021)$         23,452$        (18,585)$       (4,302)$         (6,311)$         (364)$            (1,015)$         (473)$            -$              -$              

Covered payroll 661,476$      626,899$      563,692$      581,196$      560,662$      569,999$      561,681$      465,956$      467,561$      428,060$      

Contributions as a percentage of covered payroll 38.10% 38.73% 52.34% 58.18% 54.02% 48.23% 46.34% 46.97% 47.56% 54.42%

Notes to Schedule:
Valuation Date:    10/1/2021

Methods and assumptions used to determine contribution rates:
Mortality:

Interest Rate:

Retirement Age:

Early Retirement:

Disability Rates:

Termination Rates:

Salary Increases:

Payroll Growth:

Cost of Living:

Amortization Method:

Funding Method:

Asset Valuation Method:

Termination and Disability Rate Tables: % Becoming % Terminating

Disabled During During the

Age the Year Service Year

20 0.21% 0-3 18.00%

25 0.23% 4-5 6.50%

30 0.27% 6+ 0.00%

35 0.35%

40 0.45%

45 0.77%

50 1.50%

55 2.33%

60 + 3.14%

Healthy Active Lives:
Female: PubS.H-2010 for Employees, set forward one year. 
Male: PubS.H-2010 (Below Median) for Employees, set forward one year.
Healthy Inactive Lives:
Female: PubS.H-2010 for Healthy Retirees, set forward one year.
Male: PubS.H-2010 (Below Median) for Healthy Retirees, set forward one year.
Beneficiary Lives:
Female: PubG.H-2010 (Below Median) for Healthy Retirees.
Male: PubG.H-2010 (Below Median) for Healthy Retirees, set back one year.
Disabled Lives: 80% PubG.H-2010 for Disabled Retirees / 20% PubS.H-2010 for Disabled Retirees.
All rates are projected generationally with Mortality Improvement Scale MP-2018. We feel this assumption sufficiently accomodates future mortality improvements. 

6.90% (prior year 6.70%) per year compounded annually, net of investment related expenses. This assumption is supported by the target asset allocation of the trust and the 
expected long-term return by asset class. 

100% assumed retirement at the earlier of: 1) age 55 and 10 years of credited service, or 2) age 52 and 20 years of credited service, regardless of age. This assumption is 
supported by the October 9, 2017 experience study. 

Members are not assumed to take early retirement, based on results of the experience study dated October 9, 2017.

 It is assumed that 75% of disablements are service-related. This assumption is based on results of the experience study dated October 9, 2017.

Each year, the prior Actuarial Value of Assets is brought forward utilizing the
historical geometric four-year average Market Value return (net of fees). It is possible
that over time this technique will produce an insignificant bias above or below Market
Value of Assets.

New UAAL amortization bases are amortized over the following amortization periods:
Experience: 10 Years.
Assumption/Method Changes: 20 Years.
Benefit Changes: 30 Years. 

18.0% per year for the first three years of Credited Service, and 6.5% per year for the fourth and fifth years of Credited Service; no turnover is expected after the fifth year. 
This assumption is based on results of the October 9, 2017 experience study.

8.5% per year for less than two years of Credited Service, followed by 4.5% per year for two or more years of Credited Service. In addition, the projected salary at retirement 
is increased 15% to account for lump sum payments. This assumption is based on results of the October 9, 2017 experience study.

None for amortization of the Unfunded Actuarial Accrued Liability.This is in compliance with Part VII of Chapter 112, Florida Statutes.

N/A

Entry Age Normal Actuarial Cost Method.

SEPTEMBER 30, 2023
MUNICIPAL POLICE OFFICERS' RETIREMENT TRUST FUND

TOWN OF MELBOURNE BEACH, FLORIDA
REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION

SCHEDULE OF CONTRIBUTIONS

- 50 -

131



For the Year Ended September 30,
Annual Money-Weighted 

Rate of Return

2023 13.26%
2022 -16.71%
2021 23.65%
2020 6.78%
2019 2.59%
2018 8.59%
2017 11.96%
2016 8.64%
2015 -0.87%
2014 10.99%

TOWN OF MELBOURNE BEACH, FLORIDA
REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION

SCHEDULES OF INVESTMENT RETURNS
MUNICIPAL POLICE OFFICERS' RETIREMENT TRUST FUND

SEPTEMBER 30, 2023

- 51 -

132



As of the Plan Year Ended June 30,
2023 2022 2021 2020 2019 2018 2017 2016 2015 2014

Florida Retirement System (FRS)
Proportion of the net pension liability 0.000946557% 0.000772082% 0.000742826% 0.000682987% 0.000652773% 0.000593693% 0.000525938% 0.000564726% 0.000570663% 0.000546111%
Proportionate share of the net pension liability 377,173$        287,276$        56,112$              296,017$            224,806$            178,823$            155,569$            142,594$            73,709$              33,581$             
Covered payroll 605,972          429,087          420,250              454,238              419,289              359,702              358,623              352,113              362,777              245,833             

62.24% 66.95% 13.35% 65.17% 53.62% 49.71% 43.38% 40.50% 20.32% 13.66%

Plan fiduciary net position as a percentage of the total pension liability 82.38% 82.89% 96.40% 78.85% 82.61% 84.26% 83.89% 84.88% 92.00% 96.09%

Health Insurance Subsidy Program (HIS)
Proportion of the net pension liability 0.001529169% 0.001177166% 0.001186821% 0.001308514% 0.001253435% 0.001101056% 0.001122682% 0.001179170% 0.001038277% 0.000861064%
Proportionate share of the net pension liability 242,852$        124,681$        145,581$            159,767$            140,247$            116,537$            120,042$            137,427$            105,888$            80,512$             
Covered payroll 605,972          429,087          420,250              454,238              419,289              359,702              358,623              352,113              362,777              245,833             

40.08% 29.06% 34.64% 35.17% 33.45% 32.40% 33.47% 39.03% 29.19% 32.75%

Plan fiduciary net position as a percentage of the total pension liability 4.12% 4.81% 3.56% 3.00% 2.63% 2.15% 1.64% 0.97% 0.50% 0.99%

Proportionate share of the net pension liability as a percentage of covered 
payroll

Proportionate share of the net pension liability as a percentage of covered 
payroll

TOWN OF MELBOURNE BEACH, FLORIDA
SCHEDULE OF PROPORTIONATE SHARE OF NET PENSION LIABILITY

LAST 10 FISCAL YEARS
(UNAUDITED)

- 52 -

133



For the Fiscal Year Ended September 30,
2023 2022 2021 2020 2019 2018 2017 2016 2015 2014

Florida Retirement System (FRS)
Contractually required contribution 50,519$       33,443$       29,941$       22,693$       20,241$       16,920$       13,691$       13,772$       13,913$       11,962$       

Contributions in relation to the contractually required contribution 50,519         33,443         29,941         22,693         20,241         16,920         13,691         13,772         13,913         11,962         
Contribution deficiency (excess) -$             -$             -$             -$             -$             -$             -$             -$             -$             -$             

Covered payroll 646,551$     446,961$     429,437$     454,238$     419,289$     358,623$     358,623$     352,113$     362,777$     245,833$     
Contributions as a percentage of covered payroll 7.81% 7.48% 6.97% 5.00% 4.83% 4.72% 3.82% 3.91% 3.84% 4.87%

Health Insurance Subsidy Program (HIS)
Contractually required contribution 11,306$       7,420$         7,129$         7,540$         6,960$         5,971$         5,942$         6,044$         3,969$         2,950$         

Contributions in relation to the contractually required contribution 11,306         7,420           7,129           7,540           6,960           5,971           5,942           6,044           3,969           2,950           
Contribution deficiency (excess) -$             -$             -$             -$             -$             -$             -$             -$             -$             -$             

Covered payroll 646,551$     446,961$     429,437$     454,238$     419,289$     358,623$     358,623$     352,113$     362,777$     245,833$     
Contributions as a percentage of covered payroll 1.75% 1.66% 1.66% 1.66% 1.66% 1.66% 1.66% 1.72% 1.09% 1.20%

TOWN OF MELBOURNE BEACH, FLORIDA
SCHEDULE OF CONTRIBUTIONS

LAST 10 FISCAL YEARS
(UNAUDITED)

- 53 -

134



TOWN OF MELBOURNE BEACH, FLORIDA
COMBINING BALANCE SHEET

NONMJAOR GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS
SEPTEMBER 30, 2023

Total
Ryckman Nonmajor

Environmental Christmas Police Building Stormwater Ocean Crossover Police Governmental
Advisory Donations Education Education Utility State Park Parking Beautification Old Town Hall Donations Funds

ASSETS
Equity in pooled cash and cash equivalents 9,977$            1,293$           12,191$         152$              3,143$           57,305$         120,625$      27,397$         19,606$         15,673$         267,362$       
Due from other governments -                  -                 -                 -                 695                -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 695                

Total assets 9,977$            1,293$           12,191$         152$              3,838$           57,305$         120,625$      27,397$         19,606$         15,673$         268,057$       

LIABILITIES
Accounts payable -$                -$               -$               -$               55$                613$              464$              52$                -$               -$              1,184$           
Accrued payroll and employee benefits -                  -                 -                 -                 -                 754                160                1                    -                 -                 915                

Total liabilities -                  -                 -                 -                 55                  1,367             624                53                  -                 -                 2,099             

FUND BALANCES
Restricted for:

Ocean Park -                  -                 -                 -                 -                 55,938           -                 -                 -                 -                 55,938           
Beautification -                  -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 27,344           -                 -                 27,344           
Environmental advisory 9,977              -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 9,977             
Christmas donations -                  1,293             -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 1,293             
Law enforcement education -                  -                 12,191           -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 15,673           27,864           

Committed to:
Stormwater utility -                  -                 -                 -                 3,783             -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 3,783             

Assigned to:
Town parks -                  -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 120,001         -                 -                 -                 120,001         

Unassigned -                  -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 
Total fund balances 9,977              1,293             12,191           152                3,783             55,938           120,001         27,344           19,606           15,673           265,958         

Total liabilities and fund balances 9,977$            1,293$           12,191$         152$              3,838$           57,305$         120,625$      27,397$         19,606$         15,673$         268,057$       

The accompanying notes to financial statements are an integral part of this statement.

- 54 -

135



TOWN OF MELBOURNE BEACH, FLORIDA
COMBINING SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE

NONMAJOR GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2023

Total
Ryckman Nonmajor

Environmental Christmas Police Building Stormwater Ocean Crossover Police Governmental
Advisory Donations Education Education Utility State Park Parking Beautification Old Town Hall Donations Funds

Revenues      
Licenses and permits -$               -$               -$               612$              2,636$           -$               -$               -$               -$               -$               3,248$           
Charges for services -                 -                 -                 -                 55,018           110,064         99,489           -                 260                -                 264,831         
Fines and forfeitures -                 -                 479                -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 479                
Miscellaneous 5,000             -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 1,500             742                9,688             16,930           

Total revenues 5,000             -                 479                612                57,654           110,064         99,489           1,500             1,002             9,688             285,488         

Expenditures
Current:

Public safety -                 -                 -                 3,066             -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 3,220             6,286             
Parks and recreation 5,301             -                 -                 -                 -                 99,332           31,527           -                 4,248             -                 140,408         
Physical environment -                 -                 -                 -                 17,515           -                 -                 35,361           -                 -                 52,876           

Capital outlay -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 19,980           14,460           14,460           -                 -                 48,900           
Total expenditures 5,301             -                 -                 3,066             17,515           119,312         45,987           49,821           4,248             3,220             248,470         
Excess (deficiency) of revenues over 

expenditures (301)               -                 479                (2,454)            40,139           (9,248)            53,502           (48,321)         (3,246)            6,468             37,018           

Other financing sources (uses)
Transfers in 5,374             -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 97,999           30,000           -                 -                 133,373         
Transfers out -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 (1,400)            (31,500)         -                 -                 -                 (32,900)         

Total other financing sources (uses) 5,374             -                 -                 -                 -                 (1,400)            66,499           30,000           -                 -                 100,473         
Town Parks
Net change in fund balances 5,073             -                 479                (2,454)            40,139           (10,648)         120,001         (18,321)         (3,246)            6,468             137,491         

Fund balances, beginning of year 4,904             1,293             11,712           2,606             (36,356)         66,586           -                 45,665           22,852           9,205             128,467         

Fund balances, end of year 9,977$           1,293$           12,191$         152$              3,783$           55,938$         120,001$       27,344$         19,606$         15,673$         265,958$       

The accompanying notes to financial statements are an integral part of this statement.

- 55 -

136



 

 
- 56 - 

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL 
REPORTING AND ON COMPLIANCE AND OTHER MATTERS BASED ON AN AUDIT OF 

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS PERFORMED IN ACCORDANCE WITH GOVERNMENT 
AUDITING STANDARDS  

To the Honorable Mayor and Town Commission, 
  Town of Melbourne Beach, Florida: 

We have audited, in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of 
America and the standards applicable to the financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards 
issued by the Comptroller General of the United States, the financial statements of the governmental 
activities, each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of the Town of Melbourne 
Beach, Florida, (the Town) as of and for the year ended September 30, 2023, and the related notes to the 
financial statements, which collectively comprise the Town’s basic financial statements, and have issued 
our report thereon dated March 13, 2024. 

Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting 

In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements, we considered the Town's internal 
control over financial reporting (internal control) as a basis for designing audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances for the purpose of expressing our opinions on the financial statements, 
but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Town’s internal control. 
Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the effectiveness of the Town’s internal control. 

A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow 
management or employees in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent, or 
detect and correct misstatements on a timely basis. A material weakness is a deficiency, or a combination 
of deficiencies, in internal control, such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement 
of the entity's financial statements will not be prevented, or detected and corrected on a timely basis. A 
significant deficiency is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control that is less 
severe than a material weakness, yet important enough to merit attention by those charged with 
governance.  

Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the first paragraph of this 
section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be material 
weaknesses or significant deficiencies. Given these limitations, during our audit we did not identify any 
deficiencies in internal control that we consider to be material weaknesses. However, material weaknesses 
or significant deficiencies may exist that were not identified. 

Report on Compliance and Other Matters 

As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the Town's financial statements are free from 
material misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, 
contracts, and grant agreements, noncompliance with which could have a direct and material effect on the 
financial statements. However, providing an opinion on compliance with those provisions was not an 
objective of our audit and, accordingly, we do not express such an opinion. The results of our tests 
disclosed no instances of noncompliance or other matters that are required to be reported under 
Government Auditing Standards.  

137



 

- 57 - 

Purpose of this Report 

The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and compliance 
and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal 
control or on compliance. This report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with 
Government Auditing Standards in considering the entity’s internal control and compliance. Accordingly, 
this communication is not suitable for any other purpose. 

Daytona Beach, Florida 
March 13, 2024 

138



 

 
- 58 - 

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ MANAGEMENT LETTER REQUIRED 
BY CHAPTER 10.550, RULES OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA 

OFFICE OF THE AUDITOR GENERAL 

To the Honorable Mayor and Town Commission, 
  Town of Melbourne Beach, Florida: 

Report on the Financial Statements 

We have audited the financial statements of the Town of Melbourne Beach, Florida, as of and for the 
fiscal year ended September 30, 2023, and have issued our report thereon dated March 13, 2024. 

Auditors’ Responsibility 

We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of 
America; the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued 
by the Comptroller General of the United States; and Chapter 10.550, Rules of the Florida Auditor 
General.  

Other Reporting Requirements 

We have issued our Independent Auditors’ Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting and 
Compliance and Other Matters Based on an Audit of the Financial Statements Performed in Accordance 
with Government Auditing Standards; and Independent Accountant’s Report on an examination 
conducted in accordance with AICPA Professional Standards, Section 601, regarding compliance 
requirements in accordance with Chapter 10.550, Rules of the Auditor General. Disclosures in those 
reports and schedule, which are dated March 13, 2024, should be considered in conjunction with this 
management letter. 

Prior Audit Findings 

Section 10.554(1)(i)1., Rules of the Auditor General, requires that we determine whether or not corrective 
actions have been taken to address findings and recommendations made in the preceding annual financial 
audit report. The following is a summary of all findings and recommendations reported in our preceding 
annual financial audit report: 

2022-001 Reconciliation of Account Balances – Corrective action taken.  

2022-002 Budgetary Compliance – Corrective action taken.  

Official Title and Legal Authority 

Section 10.554(1)(i)4., Rules of the Auditor General, requires that the name or official title and legal 
authority for the primary government and each component unit of the reporting entity be disclosed in this 
management letter, unless disclosed in the notes to the financial statements. The legal authority for the 
primary government and component units of the reporting entity is disclosed in Note 1 of the basic 
financial statements. 

139



 

- 59 - 

Financial Condition and Management 

Sections 10.554(1)(i)5.a. and 10.556(7), Rules of the Auditor General, require us to apply appropriate 
procedures and communicate the results of our determination as to whether or not the Town has met one 
or more of the conditions described in Section 218.503(1), Florida Statutes, and to identify the specific 
conditions met. In connection with our audit, we determined that the Town, did not meet any of the 
conditions described in Section 218.503(1), Florida Statutes.  

Pursuant to Sections 10.554(1)(i)5.b. and 10.556(8), Rules of the Auditor General, we applied financial 
condition assessment procedures for the Town. It is management’s responsibility to monitor the Town’s 
financial condition, and our financial condition assessment was based in part on representations made by 
management and the review of financial information provided by same. 

Section 10.554(1)(i)2., Rules of the Auditor General, requires that we communicate any recommendations 
to improve financial management. In connection with our audit, we had the following recommendation: 

2023-001 – Budget Amendments 

During our audit, we noted increases to budgeted amounts for two general ledger accounts were 
made in the BS&A system to roll forward prior year unspent long-term capital appropriations. 
However, no formal resolution was adopted to amend the fiscal year 2023 budget to roll forward 
such appropriations. While the Town remained in budgetary compliance based on actual activity 
during the year and the final adopted budget excluding these items, to help avoid any potential 
budgetary compliance issue in the future, we recommend no such manual increases be made to 
BS&A final budgeted amounts in the absence of a formal budget amendment, and for any intended 
carryforward of unspent appropriations be adopted via a budget amendment resolution. 

2023-002 – Capital Asset Inventory 

During our audit, we noted there were a substantial number of fully depreciated capital assets, as 
well as a number of old assets that were initially capitalized prior to the Town adopting its current 
capitalization threshold of $5,000. As an added procedure related to internal controls over capital 
assets and to ensure accuracy of the Town’s capital asset schedule, we recommend a capital asset 
inventory be performed and that any old assets under the current depreciation threshold also 
adjusted for accordingly. 

Additional Matters 

Section 10.554(1)(i)3., Rules of the Auditor General, requires us to communicate noncompliance with 
provisions of contracts or grant agreements, or abuse, that have occurred, or are likely to have occurred, 
that have an effect on the financial statements that is less than material but which warrants the attention of 
those charged with governance. In connection with our audit, we did not note any such findings. 

Management’s Response to Recommendations 

The Town’s response to the recommendations identified in this letter is outlined as listed in the table of 
contents. The Town’s response was not subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the 
financial statements, and accordingly, we express no opinion on the response. 

140



 

- 60 - 

Purpose of this Letter 

Our management letter is intended solely for the information and use of the Legislative Auditing 
Committee, members of the Florida Senate and the Florida House of Representatives, the Florida Auditor 
General, Federal and State granting agencies, the Town Commission, management, and others within the 
Town and is not intended to be and should not be used by anyone other than these specified parties. 

Daytona Beach, Florida 
March 13, 2024 

141



 

- 61 - 

INDEPENDENT ACCOUNTANTS’ EXAMINATION REPORT 

To the Honorable Mayor and Town Commission, 
  Town of Melbourne Beach, Florida 

We have examined the Town of Melbourne Beach, Florida’s (the Town) compliance with Section 
218.415, Florida Statutes, Local Government Investment Policies (the Statute), for the year ended 
September 30, 2023. The Town’s management is responsible for the Town’s compliance with those 
requirements. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Town’s compliance based on our 
examination. Our responsibility is to obtain reasonable assurance by evaluating the Town’s compliance 
with those requirements and performing other procedures to obtain sufficient appropriate evidence to 
express an opinion that conveys the results of our evaluation based on our examination. 

Our examination was conducted in accordance with the attestation standards for a direct examination 
engagement established by the AICPA. Those standards require that we obtain reasonable assurance by 
evaluating whether the Town complied with Section 218.415, Florida Statutes, Local Government 
Investment Policies, for the year ended September 30, 2023 and performing other procedures to obtain 
sufficient appropriate evidence to express an opinion that conveys the results of evaluation of the Town’s 
compliance based on our examination during the year ended September 30, 2023. The nature, timing, and 
extent of the procedures selected depend on our judgment, including an assessment of risks of material 
noncompliance with those requirements, whether due to fraud or error. We believe that the evidence we 
obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a reasonable basis for our opinion. 

We are required to be independent of the Town, and to meet our other ethical responsibilities, in 
accordance with relevant ethical requirements relating to our examination engagement. 
 
In our opinion, the Town of Melbourne Beach, Florida complied, in all material respects, with the Statute 
for the year ended September 30, 2023. 

Daytona Beach, Florida 
March 13, 2024 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

142



 Town of Melbourne Beach 
             Brevard County’s Oldest Beach Community * Established 1883 

- 62 - 

March 13, 2024 
 

MANAGEMENT’S RESPONSE TO FINDINGS 
 
 
2023-001 Budget Amendments: The Town will complete a formal budget amendment for any 
expenditures that need to be increased from the original budget in BS&A. 

2022-002 Capital Asset Inventory: The Town will complete a capital asset inventory and review the 
existing schedule for adjustments arising from the inventory and to remove any old assets below the 
Town’s current capitalization threshold. 

 

Jennifer Kerr 
Finance Manager 

 

143



  
 

1 
 

Town of Melbourne Beach 
Finance Department 

 

Memo 
To: Mayor, Vice Mayor and Commissioners 
From: Jennifer Kerr, Finance Manager 
Date: March 13, 2024 

Re: February Fiscal Year 2024   

We are in the Fifth month of our fiscal year 2024. The target expenditure rate for February is 41.67%. All departments are in the 
process of purchasing all budget approved capital items. Some budget lines are fully expended early in the budget year while 
other lines like salaries and health insurance are paid on a monthly basis. The total General Fund expenditure rate, year to date 
is 45.39%. The Departmental expenditure rate breakdown is as follows:   
 

Legislative:  34.29% 
  Executive:  39.79% 
  Finance:                36.56%  
  Legal:    39.53% 
  Comp & Plan:     12.45% 
  General Services:  35.48% 
  Law Enforcement:  42.71% 
  Fire:    48.88% 
  Code:    32.89% 
  Public Works:   36.28% 
  Grounds Keeping:  26.92% 
  Parks:                  17.52%       
 
Discussion Items:  
 
The Town received Parking Revenue for February FY2024 in the amount of $10,287.42. Parking revenue for February 
FY2023 was $16,883.25.  
 

- A Fiscal Year (FY) parking comparison is attached.  
 
We have submitted the Florida Municipal Insurance Trust (FMIT) Safety Grant Application for an amount up to 
$5,000. The application can take a couple months to be processed and approved.     
 
 
 
 
 

144



Parking Revenue FY Comparison

FY22 Oct-22 Nov-22 Dec-22 Jan-22 Feb-22 TOTAL

FY23 Oct-23 Nov-23 Dec-23 Jan-23 Feb-23 TOTAL

Ocean 4,921.04 3,785.42 3,456.88 4,996.04 8,137.70 40,567.68

Ryckman 6,354.35 5,050.00 6,359.91 6,415.41 8,745.55 45,824.76

Total 11,275.39 8,835.42 9,816.79 11,411.45 16,883.25 86,392.44

FY24 Oct-23 Nov-23 Dec-24 Jan-24 Feb-24 TOTAL

Ocean 4,323.54 3,669.99 2,544.37 2,412.50 3,359.78 16,310.18

Ryckman 5,616.47 4,085.40 5,833.19 5,111.66 6,927.64 27,574.36

Total 9,940.01 7,755.39 8,377.56 7,524.16 10,287.42 43,884.54

145



REVENUES AND EXPENDITURES FOR TOWN OF MELBOURNE BEACH                                                                      
Balance As Of 02/29/2024                                                                                        

Fund: 001 GENERAL FUND
Account Category: Revenues Description ORIGINAL BUDGET Amended EncumbrancAvailable % Used

001-00-311.00.00 AD VALOREM TAXES 2,685,662.00 2,685,662.00 0.00 289,732.90 89.21
001-00-312.41.00 LOCAL OPTION COUNTY GAS TAX 125,000.00 125,000.00 0.00 97,778.70 21.78
001-00-314.10.00 UTILITY SERVICES TAX FPL 276,000.00 276,000.00 0.00 160,180.47 41.96
001-00-314.30.00 UTILITY SERVICES TAX WATER 54,000.00 54,000.00 0.00 34,115.38 36.82
001-00-314.40.00 UTILITY SERVICES TAX GAS 0.00 0.00 0.00 (380.31) 100.00
001-00-314.40.10 UTILTIY GAS TAX AMERIGAS 8,500.00 8,500.00 0.00 6,189.00 27.19
001-00-314.40.20 UTILITY GAS TAX SUBURBAN 1,300.00 1,300.00 0.00 1,061.83 18.32
001-00-314.40.30 UTILTIY GAS TAX FERRELL 2,500.00 2,500.00 0.00 1,157.77 53.69
001-00-314.40.40 UTILITY GAS TAX SAM'S GAS 100.00 100.00 0.00 (87.13) 187.13
001-00-315.00.00 COMMUNICATIONS SERVICE TAX 145,000.00 145,000.00 0.00 103,101.92 28.90
001-00-316.00.00 OCCP. LIC 15,000.00 15,000.00 0.00 3,894.45 74.04
001-00-323.10.00 FRANCHISE FEES FPL 215,000.00 215,000.00 0.00 156,981.88 26.99
001-00-323.70.00 FRANCHISE FEES SOLID WASTE 44,000.00 44,000.00 0.00 27,743.52 36.95
001-00-323.70.10 SOLID WASTE COMMERCIAL 15,000.00 15,000.00 0.00 9,543.68 36.38
001-00-329.20.00 BONFIRE PERMIT 350.00 350.00 0.00 (550.00) 257.14
001-00-329.50.00 LOW SPEED VEHICLE REGISTRATION 500.00 500.00 0.00 (400.00) 180.00
001-00-329.50.10 LOW SPEED VEHICLE PERMIT FEE 600.00 600.00 0.00 (100.00) 116.67
001-00-331.12.00 FEMA 0.00 0.00 0.00 (10,718.74) 100.00
001-00-334.10.00 FEMA STATE GRANT 0.00 0.00 0.00 (1,786.46) 100.00
001-00-334.40.00 FMIT SAFETY GRANT 7,000.00 7,000.00 0.00 7,000.00 0.00
001-00-335.12.00 STATE REVENUE SHARING PROCEEDS 112,000.00 112,000.00 0.00 67,795.23 39.47
001-00-335.15.00 ALCOHOLIC BEVERAGE LICENSES 4,300.00 4,300.00 0.00 4,202.11 2.28
001-00-335.18.00 HALF CENT SALES TAX LOCAL GOV 225,000.00 225,000.00 0.00 167,033.30 25.76
001-00-342.20.00 SAFETY INSPECT FEE VAC RENTAL 1,200.00 1,200.00 0.00 300.00 75.00
001-00-342.20.10 SAFETY RENEWAL-VAC RENTALS 1,600.00 1,600.00 0.00 400.00 75.00
001-00-345.10.00 VAC RENTAL APP FEE-INITITAL 4,000.00 4,000.00 0.00 1,000.00 75.00
001-00-345.10.10 VAC RENEWAL FEE - RENTALS 4,725.00 4,725.00 0.00 1,925.00 59.26
001-00-361.10.00 INTEREST ON INVESTMENTS 12,000.00 12,000.00 0.00 160.43 98.66

146



Description ORIGINAL BUDGET Amended EncumbrancAvailable % Used
001-00-369.00.00 MISCELLANEOUS REVENUE 2,500.00 2,500.00 0.00 (4,897.04) 295.88
001-00-369.00.49 INSURANCE RECOVERY 100.00 100.00 0.00 100.00 0.00
001-00-381.00.00 TRANSFERS IN 194,000.00 194,000.00 0.00 174,000.00 10.31

68.81
Department: 21 LAW ENFORCEMENT
001-21-312.52.00 INSURANCE PREMIUM TAX 45,500.00 45,500.00 0.00 45,500.00 0.00
001-21-337.20.00 SCHOOL RESOURCE OFFICER 68,500.00 68,500.00 0.00 34,250.00 50.00
001-21-337.90.01 OTHER GRANTS 6,000.00 6,000.00 0.00 6,000.00 0.00
001-21-351.00.00 FINES - LAW ENFORCEMENT 5,000.00 5,000.00 0.00 3,236.07 35.28
001-21-351.13.00 PARKING TICKETS 500.00 500.00 0.00 500.00 0.00
001-21-351.13.10 ACCIDENT REPORT 200.00 200.00 0.00 100.00 50.00
001-21-364.10.00 DISPOSAL OF ASSETS - VEHICLES 200.00 200.00 0.00 200.00 0.00
001-21-369.00.00 MISCELLANEOUS REVENUE 100.00 100.00 0.00 100.00 0.00

28.66
Department: 22 FIRE CONTROL
001-22-322.30.00 FIRE PROTECTIVE SERVICES 2,000.00 2,000.00 0.00 (910.00) 145.50
001-22-364.20.00 DISPOSAL OF ASSETS - OTHER 100.00 100.00 0.00 100.00 0.00
001-22-369.55.10 SHARED TRAINING 500.00 500.00 0.00 500.00 0.00

111.92
Department: 29 CODE ENFORCEMENT
001-29-359.00.00 OTHER FINES AND FORFEITURES 1,000.00 1,000.00 0.00 1,000.00 0.00

0.00
Department: 41 PUBLIC WORKS
001-41-364.10.00 DISPOSAL OF ASSETS - VEHICLES 500.00 500.00 0.00 500.00 0.00

0.00
Department: 72 PARKS & RECREATION
001-72-347.41.00 FOUNDER'S DAY 7,000.00 7,000.00 0.00 3,580.00 48.86
001-72-347.50.00 FACILITY RENTALS 6,000.00 6,000.00 0.00 4,475.00 25.42
001-72-366.19.00 TH DONATIONS - KIDS BUSINESS FAIR 5,000.00 5,000.00 0.00 (970.00) 119.40

60.64

Overall Revenue Rate: 67.60

147



Account Category: Expenditures Description ORIGINAL BUDGET Amended EncumbrancAvailable % Used
Department: 00 
001-00-581.00.00 TRANSFER OUT 441,761.00 441,761.00 0.00 0.00 100.00

441,761.00 441,761.00 0.00 0.00 100.00
Department: 11 LEGISLATIVE
001-11-500.11.00 EXECUTIVE SALARIES 16,200.00 16,200.00 0.00 10,716.73 33.85
001-11-500.12.00 REGULAR SALARIES 60,113.00 60,113.00 0.00 35,075.29 41.65
001-11-500.21.00 FICA TAXES - EMPLOYER PORTION 5,838.00 5,838.00 0.00 3,570.22 38.85
001-11-500.22.20 RETIREMENT TOWN EMPLOYEES 8,157.00 8,157.00 0.00 4,759.39 41.65
001-11-500.23.01 HEALTH INSURANCE 6,534.00 6,534.00 0.00 3,508.50 46.30
001-11-500.23.02 LIFE INSURANCE 71.00 71.00 0.00 37.22 47.58
001-11-500.25.00 UNEMPLOYMENT COMPENSATION 244.00 244.00 0.00 210.19 13.86
001-11-510.31.00 PROFESSIONAL SERVICES 250.00 250.00 0.00 250.00 0.00
001-11-510.40.00 TRAVEL & MEETINGS 4,465.00 4,465.00 0.00 3,970.38 11.08
001-11-510.40.10 TRAVEL & MEETINGS - STAFF 2,100.00 2,100.00 0.00 1,135.87 45.91
001-11-510.47.00 PRINTING 12,593.00 12,593.00 0.00 9,181.46 27.09
001-11-510.48.00 PROMOTIONAL ACTIVITIES 800.00 800.00 0.00 704.83 11.90
001-11-510.48.40 LEGAL NOTICES 10,000.00 10,000.00 0.00 9,992.10 0.08
001-11-510.49.50 ELECTION EXPENSE 11,000.00 11,000.00 0.00 948.16 91.38
001-11-510.54.00 DUES & SUBSCRIPTIONS 720.00 720.00 0.00 220.00 69.44
001-11-510.54.10 TRAINING & SCHOOLS 3,560.00 3,560.00 0.00 2,771.00 22.16
001-11-510.64.01 CAPITAL OUTLAY 85,700.00 85,700.00 4,740.00 63,924.65 25.41
001-11-543.00.00 LICENSES & FEES 34,267.00 34,267.00 0.00 16,836.48 50.87

34.29
Department: 12 EXECUTIVE
001-12-500.12.00 REGULAR SALARIES 147,720.00 147,720.00 0.00 88,097.71 40.36
001-12-500.21.00 FICA TAXES - EMPLOYER PORTION 11,301.00 11,301.00 0.00 6,182.72 45.29
001-12-500.22.01 RETIREMENT - ICMA 15,247.00 15,247.00 0.00 9,136.75 40.08
001-12-500.22.20 RETIREMENT TOWN EMPLOYEES 4,937.00 4,937.00 0.00 2,956.55 40.11
001-12-500.23.01 HEALTH INSURANCE 28,117.00 28,117.00 0.00 17,067.97 39.30
001-12-500.23.02 LIFE INSURANCE 828.00 828.00 0.00 448.09 45.88
001-12-500.25.00 UNEMPLOYMENT COMPENSATION 212.00 212.00 0.00 129.75 38.80
001-12-510.40.00 TRAVEL & MEETINGS 1,820.00 1,820.00 0.00 1,785.00 1.92
001-12-510.49.99 MISCELLANEOUS 300.00 300.00 0.00 300.00 0.00

148



Description ORIGINAL BUDGET Amended EncumbrancAvailable % Used
001-12-510.52.50 GAS & OIL 2,400.00 2,400.00 0.00 1,400.00 41.67
001-12-510.54.00 DUES & SUBSCRIPTIONS 3,511.00 3,511.00 0.00 2,124.73 39.48
001-12-510.54.10 TRAINING & SCHOOLS 1,680.00 1,680.00 0.00 1,680.00 0.00

39.79
Department: 13 FINANCE
001-13-500.12.00 REGULAR SALARIES 112,950.00 112,950.00 0.00 66,346.37 41.26
001-13-500.21.00 FICA TAXES - EMPLOYER PORTION 8,641.00 8,641.00 0.00 5,087.35 41.13
001-13-500.22.20 RETIREMENT TOWN EMPLOYEES 15,327.00 15,327.00 0.00 9,002.84 41.26
001-13-500.23.01 HEALTH INSURANCE 39,000.00 39,000.00 0.00 27,413.16 29.71
001-13-500.23.02 LIFE INSURANCE 297.00 297.00 0.00 229.44 22.75
001-13-500.25.00 UNEMPLOYMENT COMPENSATION 158.00 158.00 0.00 94.99 39.88
001-13-510.32.00 AUDITING SERVICES 32,600.00 32,600.00 0.00 27,850.00 14.57
001-13-510.32.90 BANKING FEES 12,916.00 12,916.00 0.00 8,914.64 30.98
001-13-510.40.00 TRAVEL & MEETINGS 1,221.00 1,221.00 0.00 1,191.25 2.44
001-13-510.47.00 PRINTING 216.00 216.00 0.00 216.00 0.00
001-13-510.54.00 DUES & SUBSCRIPTIONS 60.00 60.00 0.00 60.00 0.00
001-13-510.54.10 TRAINING & SCHOOLS 1,000.00 1,000.00 0.00 893.05 10.70
001-13-543.00.00 LICENSES & FEES 7,785.00 7,785.00 0.00 0.00 100.00

36.56
Department: 14 LEGAL COUNSEL
001-14-510.31.00 PROFESSIONAL SERVICES 97,000.00 97,000.00 0.00 63,770.77 34.26
001-14-510.31.01 CODE ENFORCEMENT ATTORNEY 10,000.00 10,000.00 0.00 930.00 90.70

39.53
Department: 15 COMPREHENSIVE PLANN
001-15-510.31.00 PROFESSIONAL SERVICES 26,000.00 26,000.00 0.00 22,763.70 12.45

12.45
Department: 16 FEMA - HURRICANE DAM
001-16-520.52.05 PROTECTIVE GEAR 0.00 0.00 0.00 67.76 100.00

100.00
Department: 19 GENERAL SERVICES
001-19-500.24.00 WORKERS COMPENSATION 3,687.00 3,687.00 0.00 3,687.00 0.00
001-19-510.31.00 PROFESSIONAL SERVICES 4,620.00 4,620.00 0.00 2,722.50 41.07

149



Description ORIGINAL BUDGET Amended EncumbrancAvailable % Used
001-19-510.31.11 SECURITY 1,000.00 1,000.00 0.00 1,000.00 0.00
001-19-510.34.10 JANITORIAL SERVICES 17,000.00 17,000.00 0.00 9,446.00 44.44
001-19-510.35.00 PRE-EMPLOYMENT EXP 400.00 400.00 0.00 400.00 0.00
001-19-510.41.00 TELEPHONE 25,080.00 25,080.00 0.00 15,397.06 38.61
001-19-510.41.10 COMMUNICATION SERVICES 45,372.00 45,372.00 0.00 23,146.43 48.99
001-19-510.43.00 STREET LIGHTS 50,400.00 50,400.00 0.00 33,396.39 33.74
001-19-510.43.10 ELECTRICITY 33,600.00 33,600.00 0.00 23,719.18 29.41
001-19-510.43.20 WATER & SEWER 3,650.00 3,650.00 0.00 2,437.83 33.21
001-19-510.43.50 WASTE TAX SERVICE 2,500.00 2,500.00 0.00 70.45 97.18
001-19-510.45.00 GENERAL LIABILITY INSURANCE 94,000.00 94,000.00 0.00 51,691.00 45.01
001-19-510.45.01 FLOOD INSURANCE 5,690.00 5,690.00 0.00 5,690.00 0.00
001-19-510.45.02 PROPERTY INSURANCE 128,000.00 128,000.00 0.00 79,180.17 38.14
001-19-510.45.03 AUTO INSURANCE 9,000.00 9,000.00 0.00 4,156.00 53.82
001-19-510.46.10 OFFICE EQUIPMENT MAINTENANCE 4,832.00 4,832.00 0.00 3,167.28 34.45
001-19-510.46.15 EQUIPMENT MAINTENANCE 31,500.00 31,500.00 0.00 30,197.68 4.13
001-19-510.46.36 PEST CONTROL 3,120.00 3,120.00 0.00 1,570.00 49.68
001-19-510.47.00 PRINTING 900.00 900.00 0.00 799.88 11.12
001-19-510.49.90 ADOPT AN AREA 1,000.00 1,000.00 0.00 939.27 6.07
001-19-510.49.98 CONTINGENCY 25,000.00 25,000.00 0.00 25,000.00 0.00
001-19-510.49.99 MISCELLANEOUS 300.00 300.00 0.00 147.13 50.96
001-19-510.51.00 OFFICE SUPPLIES 11,000.00 11,000.00 0.00 7,623.78 30.69
001-19-510.51.10 POSTAGE 1,500.00 1,500.00 0.00 796.29 46.91
001-19-510.52.10 JANITORIAL SUPPLIES 5,400.00 5,400.00 0.00 3,111.98 42.37
001-19-510.54.00 DUES & SUBSCRIPTIONS 435.00 435.00 0.00 435.00 0.00
001-19-510.64.01 CAPITAL OUTLAY 148,000.00 148,000.00 0.00 143,529.11 3.02
001-19-543.00.00 LICENSES & FEES 20,585.00 20,585.00 0.00 13,381.14 35.00
001-19-581.00.00 TRANSFER OUT 77,000.00 77,000.00 0.00 0.00 100.00

35.48
Department: 21 LAW ENFORCEMENT
001-21-500.12.00 REGULAR SALARIES 721,855.00 721,855.00 0.00 406,972.48 43.62
001-21-500.12.50 HOLIDAY PAY 23,000.00 23,000.00 0.00 3,930.77 82.91
001-21-500.14.00 SALARIES OVERTIME 15,000.00 15,000.00 0.00 9,162.09 38.92
001-21-500.14.16 HURRICANE PAY 18,000.00 18,000.00 0.00 18,000.00 0.00

150



Description ORIGINAL BUDGET Amended EncumbrancAvailable % Used
001-21-500.15.00 EDUCATION INCENTIVE PAY 7,634.00 7,634.00 0.00 4,897.93 35.84
001-21-500.15.01 FIRST RESPONDER 6,000.00 6,000.00 0.00 3,658.93 39.02
001-21-500.21.00 FICA TAXES - EMPLOYER PORTION 54,888.00 54,888.00 0.00 28,888.10 47.37
001-21-500.22.02 POLICE PENSION 142,500.00 142,500.00 0.00 108,446.57 23.90
001-21-500.22.20 RETIREMENT TOWN EMPLOYEES 5,217.00 5,217.00 0.00 3,331.86 36.13
001-21-500.23.01 HEALTH INSURANCE 105,440.00 105,440.00 0.00 64,091.52 39.22
001-21-500.23.02 LIFE INSURANCE 2,900.00 2,900.00 0.00 1,782.44 38.54
001-21-500.23.10 STATUTORY AD&D 1,000.00 1,000.00 0.00 (162.50) 116.25
001-21-500.24.00 WORKERS COMPENSATION 8,848.00 8,848.00 0.00 436.00 95.07
001-21-500.25.00 UNEMPLOYMENT COMPENSATION 2,296.00 2,296.00 0.00 1,835.55 20.05
001-21-520.31.00 PROFESSIONAL SERVICES 725.00 725.00 0.00 525.00 27.59
001-21-520.34.40 DISPATCHING SERVICES 18,319.00 18,319.00 0.00 (549.11) 103.00
001-21-520.35.00 PRE-EMPLOYMENT EXPENSE 1,000.00 1,000.00 0.00 374.00 62.60
001-21-520.40.00 TRAVEL & MEETINGS 3,184.00 3,184.00 0.00 2,689.96 15.52
001-21-520.41.10 COMMUNICATION SERVICES 6,000.00 6,000.00 0.00 2,364.05 60.60
001-21-520.46.10 OFFICE EQUIPMENT MAINTENANCE 7,000.00 7,000.00 0.00 5,650.25 19.28
001-21-520.46.15 EQUIPMENT MAINTENANCE 2,500.00 2,500.00 0.00 (615.65) 124.63
001-21-520.46.16 RADAR CALIBRATION 250.00 250.00 0.00 7.00 97.20
001-21-520.46.20 VEHICLE MAINTENANCE 17,000.00 17,000.00 0.00 7,881.85 53.64
001-21-520.48.00 PROMOTIONAL ACTIVITIES 1,500.00 1,500.00 0.00 1,431.18 4.59
001-21-520.48.50 CRIME PREVENTION 1,500.00 1,500.00 0.00 1,469.26 2.05
001-21-520.49.99 MISCELLANEOUS 100.00 100.00 0.00 72.64 27.36
001-21-520.51.10 POSTAGE 125.00 125.00 0.00 125.00 0.00
001-21-520.52.00 UNIFORMS 8,500.00 8,500.00 0.00 7,703.23 9.37
001-21-520.52.05 PROTECTIVE GEAR 3,500.00 3,500.00 0.00 2,607.66 25.50
001-21-520.52.50 GAS & OIL 25,000.00 25,000.00 0.00 17,681.89 29.27
001-21-520.52.70 MEDICAL 800.00 800.00 0.00 800.00 0.00
001-21-520.52.90 OPERATING SUPPLIES 3,000.00 3,000.00 0.00 2,093.61 30.21
001-21-520.54.00 DUES & SUBSCRIPTIONS 1,175.00 1,175.00 0.00 470.00 60.00
001-21-520.54.10 TRAINING & SCHOOLS 6,400.00 6,400.00 0.00 6,400.00 0.00
001-21-520.64.01 Capital Outlay 8,400.00 8,400.00 0.00 318.57 96.21
001-21-543.00.00 LICENSES & FEES 14,646.00 14,646.00 0.00 7,215.90 50.73

151



Description ORIGINAL BUDGET Amended EncumbrancAvailable % Used
001-21-581.00.00 TRANSFER OUT 15,000.00 15,000.00 0.00 0.00 100.00

42.71
Department: 22 FIRE CONTROL
001-22-500.12.00 REGULAR SALARIES 96,226.00 96,226.00 0.00 54,555.70 43.30
001-22-500.14.16 HURRICANE PAY 1,890.00 1,890.00 0.00 1,890.00 0.00
001-22-500.14.50 STIPEND PAYROLL 44,000.00 44,000.00 0.00 44,000.00 0.00
001-22-500.21.00 FICA TAXES - EMPLOYER PORTION 10,727.00 10,727.00 0.00 7,477.99 30.29
001-22-500.22.01 RETIREMENT - ICMA 9,248.00 9,248.00 0.00 5,063.41 45.25
001-22-500.22.20 RETIREMENT TOWN EMPLOYEES 3,591.00 3,591.00 0.00 2,120.93 40.94
001-22-500.23.01 HEALTH INSURANCE 28,200.00 28,200.00 0.00 15,012.06 46.77
001-22-500.23.02 LIFE INSURANCE 148.00 148.00 0.00 80.44 45.65
001-22-500.23.10 STATUTORY AD&D 207.00 207.00 0.00 (162.50) 178.50
001-22-500.24.00 WORKERS COMPENSATION 16,222.00 16,222.00 0.00 7,810.00 51.86
001-22-500.25.00 UNEMPLOYMENT COMPENSATION 241.00 241.00 0.00 185.04 23.22
001-22-520.34.40 DISPATCHING SERVICES 5,400.00 5,400.00 0.00 4,000.00 25.93
001-22-520.35.00 PRE-EMPLOYMENT EXPENSE 2,060.00 2,060.00 0.00 1,709.00 17.04
001-22-520.36.00 ANNUAL PHYSICALS 4,375.00 4,375.00 0.00 3,775.00 13.71
001-22-520.40.00 TRAVEL & MEETINGS 750.00 750.00 0.00 398.53 46.86
001-22-520.41.10 COMMUNICATION SERVICES 1,944.00 1,944.00 0.00 972.00 50.00
001-22-520.46.15 EQUIPMENT MAINTENANCE 10,000.00 10,000.00 0.00 4,495.18 55.05
001-22-520.46.20 VEHICLE MAINTENANCE 32,000.00 32,000.00 0.00 30,694.15 4.08
001-22-520.46.30 BUILDING MAINTENANCE 1,000.00 1,000.00 0.00 929.78 7.02
001-22-520.51.00 OFFICE SUPPLIES 800.00 800.00 0.00 752.30 5.96
001-22-520.52.00 UNIFORMS 12,650.00 12,650.00 0.00 12,393.03 2.03
001-22-520.52.02 S.C.B.A. 2,550.00 2,550.00 0.00 (507.56) 119.90
001-22-520.52.05 PROTECTIVE GEAR 2,925.00 2,925.00 0.00 1,549.40 47.03
001-22-520.52.10 JANITORIAL SUPPLIES 1,000.00 1,000.00 0.00 620.55 37.95
001-22-520.52.20 TOOLS & HARDWARE 10,500.00 10,500.00 0.00 10,414.30 0.82
001-22-520.52.50 GAS & OIL 5,000.00 5,000.00 0.00 4,031.40 19.37
001-22-520.52.70 MEDICAL 1,400.00 1,400.00 0.00 543.20 61.20
001-22-520.54.00 DUES & SUBSCRIPTIONS 610.00 610.00 0.00 235.00 61.48
001-22-520.54.10 TRAINING & SCHOOLS 5,525.00 5,525.00 0.00 1,622.00 70.64
001-22-520.54.12 TRAINING MATERIALS 3,200.00 3,200.00 0.00 2,907.61 9.14

152



Description ORIGINAL BUDGET Amended EncumbrancAvailable % Used
001-22-520.64.01 Capital Outlay 82,369.00 82,369.00 0.00 2,909.98 96.47
001-22-543.00.00 LICENSES & FEES 13,473.00 13,473.00 0.00 5,885.00 56.32
001-22-581.00.00 TRANSFER OUT 36,500.00 36,500.00 0.00 0.00 100.00

48.88
Department: 29 CODE ENFORCEMENT
001-29-500.12.00 REGULAR SALARIES 15,792.00 15,792.00 0.00 10,600.75 32.87
001-29-500.21.00 FICA TAXES - EMPLOYER PORTION 1,208.00 1,208.00 0.00 725.77 39.92
001-29-500.22.20 RETIREMENT TOWN EMPLOYEES 2,143.00 2,143.00 0.00 1,287.58 39.92
001-29-500.23.10 STATUTORY AD&D 21.00 21.00 0.00 0.00 100.00
001-29-500.24.00 WORKERS COMPENSATION 738.00 738.00 0.00 738.00 0.00
001-29-500.25.00 UNEMPLOYMENT COMPENSATION 51.00 51.00 0.00 42.35 16.96
001-29-520.40.00 TRAVEL & MEETINGS 50.00 50.00 0.00 50.00 0.00
001-29-520.46.12 MAINTENANCE SUPPLIES 100.00 100.00 0.00 100.00 0.00
001-29-520.46.20 VEHICLE MAINTENANCE 150.00 150.00 0.00 150.00 0.00
001-29-520.48.55 FIRE PREVENTION 4,600.00 4,600.00 0.00 2,194.64 52.29
001-29-520.51.00 OFFICE SUPPLIES 125.00 125.00 0.00 97.37 22.10
001-29-520.51.10 POSTAGE 350.00 350.00 0.00 298.16 14.81
001-29-520.51.20 RECORDING COSTS 120.00 120.00 0.00 120.00 0.00
001-29-520.52.00 UNIFORMS 300.00 300.00 0.00 300.00 0.00
001-29-520.54.00 DUES & SUBSCRIPTIONS 150.00 150.00 0.00 150.00 0.00
001-29-520.54.10 TRAINING & SCHOOLS 600.00 600.00 0.00 600.00 0.00
001-29-543.00.00 LICENSES & FEES 1,000.00 1,000.00 0.00 1,000.00 0.00

32.89
Department: 41 PUBLIC WORKS
001-41-500.12.00 REGULAR SALARIES 253,947.00 253,947.00 0.00 163,020.18 35.81
001-41-500.14.00 SALARIES OVERTIME 4,000.00 4,000.00 0.00 3,355.59 16.11
001-41-500.21.00 FICA TAXES - EMPLOYER PORTION 19,427.00 19,427.00 0.00 12,334.70 36.51
001-41-500.22.20 RETIREMENT TOWN EMPLOYEES 34,461.00 34,461.00 0.00 22,034.86 36.06
001-41-500.23.01 HEALTH INSURANCE 46,000.00 46,000.00 0.00 27,908.13 39.33
001-41-500.23.02 LIFE INSURANCE 294.00 294.00 0.00 66.43 77.40
001-41-500.23.10 STATUTORY AD&D 83.00 83.00 0.00 0.00 100.00
001-41-500.24.00 WORKERS COMPENSATION 4,424.00 4,424.00 0.00 4,424.00 0.00
001-41-500.25.00 UNEMPLOYMENT COMPENSATION 813.00 813.00 0.00 686.26 15.59

153



Description ORIGINAL BUDGET Amended EncumbrancAvailable % Used
001-41-530.40.00 TRAVEL & MEETINGS 150.00 150.00 0.00 150.00 0.00
001-41-530.43.15 ELECTRICAL WORK 5,000.00 5,000.00 0.00 1,437.95 71.24
001-41-530.43.50 DUMP SERVICE 2,000.00 2,000.00 0.00 2,000.00 0.00
001-41-530.46.12 MAINTENANCE SUPPLIES 6,500.00 6,500.00 0.00 5,917.43 8.96
001-41-530.46.15 EQUIPMENT MAINTENANCE 5,000.00 5,000.00 0.00 4,781.73 4.37
001-41-530.46.20 VEHICLE MAINTENANCE 9,500.00 9,500.00 0.00 1,904.72 79.95
001-41-530.46.30 BUILDING MAINTENANCE 9,000.00 9,000.00 0.00 7,946.40 11.71
001-41-530.46.31 MAINTENANCE OLD TOWN HALL 600.00 600.00 0.00 600.00 0.00
001-41-530.46.32 RYCKMAN HOUSE 1,000.00 1,000.00 0.00 (700.00) 170.00
001-41-530.46.33 OLD POST OFFICE REPAIRS 2,000.00 2,000.00 0.00 1,869.69 6.52
001-41-530.46.35 PIER MAINTENANCE 1,000.00 1,000.00 0.00 966.84 3.32
001-41-530.46.40 GROUNDS MAINTENANCE 10,000.00 10,000.00 0.00 7,007.81 29.92
001-41-530.52.00 UNIFORMS 3,750.00 3,750.00 0.00 2,630.94 29.84
001-41-530.52.05 PROTECTIVE GEAR 2,500.00 2,500.00 0.00 1,749.34 30.03
001-41-530.52.20 TOOLS & HARDWARE 5,000.00 5,000.00 0.00 4,205.88 15.88
001-41-530.52.25 TOOL RENTALS 1,500.00 1,500.00 0.00 645.85 56.94
001-41-530.52.50 GAS & OIL 7,000.00 7,000.00 0.00 4,190.61 40.13
001-41-530.53.10 STREET REPAIR 7,500.00 7,500.00 0.00 4,438.28 40.82
001-41-530.53.20 STREET SIGNS 8,000.00 8,000.00 0.00 6,666.00 16.68
001-41-530.54.10 TRAINING & SCHOOLS 1,500.00 1,500.00 0.00 1,231.05 17.93
001-41-530.57.25 WELDING 200.00 200.00 0.00 200.00 0.00
001-41-530.64.01 CAPITAL OUTLAY 4,000.00 4,000.00 0.00 3,375.41 15.61
001-41-581.00.00 TRANSFER OUT 10,000.00 10,000.00 0.00 0.00 100.00

36.28
Department: 42 GROUNDS KEEPING
001-42-530.34.91 LANDSCAPING 22,300.00 22,300.00 0.00 16,878.34 24.31
001-42-530.46.15 EQUIPMENT MAINTENANCE 2,500.00 2,500.00 0.00 1,775.38 28.98
001-42-530.46.40 GROUNDS MAINTENANCE 26,000.00 26,000.00 0.00 24,970.65 3.96
001-42-530.46.43 TREE EXPENSE 3,000.00 3,000.00 0.00 3,000.00 0.00
001-42-530.52.00 UNIFORMS 3,125.00 3,125.00 0.00 3,085.10 1.28
001-42-530.52.05 PROTECTIVE GEAR 575.00 575.00 0.00 546.16 5.02
001-42-530.52.20 TOOLS & HARDWARE 500.00 500.00 0.00 424.02 15.20
001-42-530.52.50 GAS & OIL 1,000.00 1,000.00 0.00 858.17 14.18

154



Description ORIGINAL BUDGET Amended EncumbrancAvailable % Used
001-42-530.54.10 TRAINING & SCHOOLS 375.00 375.00 0.00 375.00 0.00
001-42-530.64.01 CAPITAL OUTLAY 0.00 0.00 0.00 (7,134.60) 100.00
001-42-581.00.00 TRANSFER OUT 4,250.00 4,250.00 0.00 0.00 100.00

29.62
Department: 72 PARKS & RECREATION
001-72-570.48.10 FOUNDER'S DAY 8,000.00 8,000.00 0.00 8,000.00 0.00
001-72-570.48.50 MOVIES IN THE PARK 1,800.00 1,800.00 0.00 1,335.00 25.83
001-72-570.48.52 FOURTH OF JULY 1,000.00 1,000.00 0.00 1,000.00 0.00
001-72-570.48.53 CHRISTMAS DECORATIONS PARK 4,000.00 4,000.00 0.00 (592.55) 114.81
001-72-570.48.60 EASTER EGG HUNT 400.00 400.00 0.00 400.00 0.00
001-72-570.48.90 RECREATION PROGRAMS 5,000.00 5,000.00 0.00 4,467.88 10.64
001-72-570.48.91 CHILDREN'S BUSINESS FAIR 5,000.00 5,000.00 0.00 1,371.06 72.58
001-72-570.63.01 TENNIS COURT EXPEDITURES 700.00 700.00 0.00 700.00 0.00
001-72-570.63.02 BBALL & VBALL COURTS 700.00 700.00 0.00 0.00 100.00
001-72-570.64.01 CAPITAL OUTLAY 30,000.00 30,000.00 0.00 30,000.00 0.00

17.52

Overall Expenditure Rate: 45.39

Fund: 104 ENVIRONMENTAL ADVISORY B
Account Category: Revenues
Department: 00 
104-00-271.00.99 CARRY FORWARD 9,977.14 9,977.14 0.00 9,977.14 0.00
104-00-337.90.01 OTHER GRANTS 0.00 0.00 0.00 (568.00) 100.00
104-00-381.00.00 TRANSFERS IN 5,500.00 5,500.00 0.00 0.00 100.00

39.21
Account Category: Expenditures
Department: 72 PARKS & RECREATION
104-72-570.31.00 PROFESSIONAL SERVICES 2,000.00 2,000.00 0.00 2,000.00 0.00
104-72-570.34.91 LANDSCAPING 500.00 500.00 0.00 500.00 0.00
104-72-570.46.40 GROUNDS MAINTENANCE 1,200.00 1,200.00 0.00 956.27 20.31
104-72-570.51.00 OFFICE SUPPLIES 0.00 0.00 0.00 (345.35) 100.00
104-72-570.52.00 UNIFORMS 400.00 400.00 0.00 400.00 0.00

155



Description ORIGINAL BUDGET Amended EncumbrancAvailable % Used
104-72-570.64.01 CAPITAL OUTLAY 6,000.00 6,000.00 0.00 6,000.00 0.00
104-72-570.83.01 SUNSHINE JIM 1,500.00 1,500.00 0.00 107.61 92.83

17.08

Fund: 125 BUILDING DEPT
Account Category: Revenues
Department: 24 PROTECTIVE INSPECTION
125-24-322.00.00 BUILDING PERMITS 240,000.00 240,000.00 0.00 170,136.03 29.11
125-24-322.10.00 ZONING PLAN REVIEW 2,500.00 2,500.00 0.00 2,500.00 0.00
125-24-322.10.10 SITE PLAN REVIEW P&Z 6,000.00 6,000.00 0.00 6,000.00 0.00
125-24-322.20.00 BUILDING PLAN REVIEW 5,500.00 5,500.00 0.00 5,500.00 0.00
125-24-322.31.00 BOA ADVERTISING COSTS 100.00 100.00 0.00 (175.06) 275.06
125-24-322.31.20 P&Z ADVERTISING 200.00 200.00 0.00 200.00 0.00
125-24-329.00.00 OTHER LICENSES, FEES & PERMITS 13,000.00 13,000.00 0.00 9,200.00 29.23
125-24-329.00.10 BOA VARIANCE FEES 1,000.00 1,000.00 0.00 (1,297.00) 229.70
125-24-354.00.00 LOCAL ORDINANCE VIOLATION 6,000.00 6,000.00 0.00 3,682.14 38.63

28.64
Account Category: Expenditures

125-24-500.12.00 REGULAR SALARIES 154,096.00 154,096.00 0.00 92,253.49 40.13
125-24-500.14.00 SALARIES OVERTIME 1,000.00 1,000.00 0.00 1,000.00 0.00
125-24-500.21.00 FICA TAXES - EMPLOYER PORTION 11,788.34 11,788.34 0.00 7,208.79 38.85
125-24-500.22.20 RETIREMENT TOWN EMPLOYEES 20,910.83 20,910.83 0.00 12,518.73 40.13
125-24-500.23.01 HEALTH INSURANCE 17,000.00 17,000.00 0.00 9,810.88 42.29
125-24-500.23.02 LIFE INSURANCE 136.00 136.00 0.00 80.26 40.99
125-24-500.23.10 STATUTORY AD&D 42.00 42.00 0.00 0.00 100.00
125-24-500.24.00 WORKERS COMPENSATION 1,475.00 1,475.00 0.00 1,475.00 0.00
125-24-500.25.00 UNEMPLOYMENT COMPENSATION 493.11 493.11 0.00 409.20 17.02
125-24-520.40.00 TRAVEL & MEETINGS 700.00 700.00 0.00 (238.70) 134.10
125-24-520.46.20 VEHICLE MAINTENANCE 800.00 800.00 0.00 385.07 51.87
125-24-520.51.00 OFFICE SUPPLIES 430.00 430.00 0.00 430.00 0.00
125-24-520.51.10 POSTAGE 75.00 75.00 0.00 75.00 0.00
125-24-520.52.00 UNIFORMS 560.00 560.00 0.00 560.00 0.00

156



Description ORIGINAL BUDGET Amended EncumbrancAvailable % Used
125-24-520.52.20 TOOLS & HARDWARE 100.00 100.00 0.00 100.00 0.00
125-24-520.52.50 GAS & OIL 700.00 700.00 0.00 542.00 22.57
125-24-520.54.00 DUES & SUBSCRIPTIONS 1,500.00 1,500.00 0.00 1,475.00 1.67
125-24-520.54.10 TRAINING & SCHOOLS 400.00 400.00 0.00 50.00 87.50
125-24-543.00.00 LICENSES & FEES 3,490.00 3,490.00 0.00 16.00 99.54
125-24-581.00.00 TRANSFER OUT 20,000.00 20,000.00 0.00 0.00 100.00

45.63

Fund: 145 AMERICAN RESCUE PLAN
Account Category: Revenues
Department: 00 
145-00-271.00.99 CARRY FORWARD 759,385.36 759,385.36 0.00 759,385.36 0.00

0.00
Account Category: Expenditures
Department: 41 PUBLIC WORKS
145-41-530.31.21 ENGINEERING SERVICES 0.00 0.00 0.00 (1,365.00) 100.00
145-41-530.64.01 CAPITAL OUTLAY 758,533.87 758,533.87 0.00 758,293.87 0.03

0.21

Fund: 172 OCEAN PARK PARKING FUND
Account Category: Revenues
Department: 00 
172-00-271.00.99 CARRY FORWARD 51,144.00 51,144.00 0.00 51,144.00 0.00

0.00

Department: 75 TOWN PARKS
172-75-342.10.00 PARKING TICKET REVENUE 12,000.00 12,000.00 0.00 9,050.00 24.58
172-75-344.50.00 PARKING METER REVENUE 95,000.00 95,000.00 0.00 78,689.82 17.17

18.00

157



Account Category: Expenditures Description ORIGINAL BUDGET Amended EncumbrancAvailable % Used

172-75-575.31.02 LIFEGUARD CONTRACT 73,000.00 73,000.00 0.00 73,000.00 0.00
172-75-575.32.90 BANKING FEES 5,500.00 5,500.00 0.00 3,949.11 28.20
172-75-575.34.10 JANITORIAL CLEANING 1,800.00 1,800.00 0.00 900.00 50.00
172-75-575.34.91 LANDSCAPING 1,500.00 1,500.00 0.00 1,278.27 14.78
172-75-575.41.10 IPS COMMUNICATIONS FEE 5,000.00 5,000.00 0.00 4,169.76 16.60
172-75-575.43.10 ELECTRICITY 3,000.00 3,000.00 0.00 2,089.41 30.35
172-75-575.43.20 WATER & SEWER 1,200.00 1,200.00 0.00 846.08 29.49
172-75-575.43.50 DUMP SERVICE 250.00 250.00 0.00 250.00 0.00
172-75-575.46.12 MAINTENANCE SUPPLIES 3,000.00 3,000.00 0.00 836.82 72.11
172-75-575.46.31 BUILDING MAINT RESTROOMS 400.00 400.00 0.00 (185.65) 146.41
172-75-575.46.40 GROUNDS MAINTENANCE 1,200.00 1,200.00 0.00 759.46 36.71
172-75-575.52.10 JANITORIAL SUPPLIES 350.00 350.00 0.00 329.75 5.79
172-75-575.52.25 TOOL RENTAL 3,000.00 3,000.00 0.00 3,000.00 0.00
172-75-575.53.15 PARKING LOT REPAIRS 1,500.00 1,500.00 0.00 1,500.00 0.00
172-75-575.53.20 SIGNS 800.00 800.00 0.00 800.00 0.00
172-75-575.63.03 VOLLEYBALL COURT 2,000.00 2,000.00 0.00 1,950.01 2.50
172-75-575.63.05 BOCCE BALL COURT 0.00 0.00 0.00 (4,579.13) 100.00
172-75-575.64.01 CAPITAL OUTLAY 6,000.00 6,000.00 0.00 5,750.15 4.16
172-75-581.00.00 TRANSFER OUT 1,400.00 1,400.00 0.00 0.00 100.00

12.85

Fund: 175 RYCKMAN CROSSOVER PARKIN  
Account Category: Revenues
Department: 00 
175-00-271.00.99 CARRY FORWARD 120,556.74 120,556.74 0.00 120,556.74 0.00

0.00

Department: 75 TOWN PARKS
175-75-342.10.00 PARKING TICKET REVENUE 3,500.00 3,500.00 0.00 900.00 74.29
175-75-344.50.00 PARKING METER REVENUE 89,000.00 89,000.00 0.00 61,425.64 30.98
175-75-344.50.10 PARK PASS REVENUE 2,500.00 2,500.00 0.00 700.00 72.00

33.66

158



Description ORIGINAL BUDGET Amended EncumbrancAvailable % Used
Account Category: Expenditures

175-75-575.31.00 PROFESSIONAL SERVICES 0.00 0.00 0.00 (3,000.00) 100.00
175-75-575.32.90 BANKING FEES 3,400.00 3,400.00 0.00 2,366.07 30.41
175-75-575.41.15 IPS COMMUNICATION FEE 2,800.00 2,800.00 0.00 2,246.51 19.77
175-75-575.47.00 PRINTING 0.00 0.00 0.00 (954.97) 100.00
175-75-575.48.52 FALL FESTIVAL 4,000.00 4,000.00 0.00 325.06 91.87
175-75-575.48.53 WINTER FESTIVAL 4,000.00 4,000.00 0.00 4,000.00 0.00
175-75-575.50.00 RECREATION PROGRAMS 10,500.00 10,500.00 0.00 6,400.00 39.05
175-75-575.64.01 CAPITAL OUTLAY 50,000.00 50,000.00 0.00 50,000.00 0.00
175-75-575.73.00 CULTURAL SERVICES 3,500.00 3,500.00 0.00 2,963.08 15.34
175-75-581.00.00 TRANSFER OUT 91,500.00 91,500.00 0.00 0.00 100.00

62.08

Fund: 351 LAND & ROAD IMPROVEMENTS
Account Category: Revenues
Department: 00 
351-00-271.00.99 CARRY FORWARD 27,397.17 27,397.17 0.00 27,397.17 0.00
351-00-381.00.00 TRANSFERS IN 90,000.00 90,000.00 0.00 0.00 100.00

76.66
Account Category: Expenditures
Department: 41 PUBLIC WORKS
351-41-570.31.00 PROFESSIONAL SERVICES 5,000.00 5,000.00 0.00 3,777.50 24.45
351-41-570.31.21 ENGINEERING SERVICES 20,000.00 20,000.00 0.00 20,000.00 0.00
351-41-570.34.91 LANDSCAPING 10,000.00 10,000.00 0.00 8,896.00 11.04
351-41-570.46.40 GROUNDS MAINTENANCE 0.00 0.00 0.00 (1,183.10) 100.00
351-41-570.46.43 TREE EXPENSE 9,000.00 9,000.00 0.00 9,000.00 0.00
351-41-570.52.25 TOOL RENTALS 3,000.00 3,000.00 0.00 3,000.00 0.00
351-41-570.53.20 STREET SIGNS 20,000.00 20,000.00 0.00 9,999.36 50.00
351-41-570.64.01 CAPITAL OUTLAY 50,000.00 50,000.00 0.00 50,000.00 0.00

11.55

159



Public Works Activities 

February 2024 

Completely rebuilt 5th Ave. ocean crossover 

Housekeeping of our storage yard 

Composed stormwater information article for next Beach Comber – public education 

Repaired parking kiosks 

Met with Rotary planning for upcoming Founders Day 

Restored the old railroad water tower (1800‘s circa) and installed in Ryckman Park 

Coordinated and obtained supplies for Eagle Scout project OTH – fence painting 

Replaced the solar light at Ocean Park pavilion – replaced 4 year old  

Insured that all storm drains are numbered and have “drains to Lagoon” markers – stormwater 

requirement 

Replaced the rusting chains for the swings at Ocean Park – used stainless steel for extended life 

Replaced a storm water grate 400 block 6th Ave. 

Replaced door closers in PD 

Replaced broken volleyball nets Ocean Park  

Street sweeper some streets 

EAB/Parks Board banners up and down 

Moved speed trailer for PD multiple times 

Replaced flags on pole Ocean Ave. turnaround 

Replaced broken concrete slab under bench 5th Ave. riverpark 

Put one of the covers up over playground 

Trimmed and cleaned Ave. A and Ave.B beach crossovers 

Addressed sewer drain issue Ryckman Park restrooms 

Planted hedge line 5th ave.  river park and mulched 

Replaced signs various areas of Town – ongoing 

160



Installed new trash receptacle front of Community Center 

Trimmed and cleaned 6th ave. beach crossover 

Trimmed seagrapes Shannon and Citrus 

 

Just note of interest reference to street name signs: 

We are phasing to the larger names on the street signs.  Residents over years have made this request to 

me over the years.  Once we have obtained the larger letter signs we can save cost in the years to come.  

This is because what we have learned is when the lettering fades we will be able to just purchase the 

facing material not the entire metal sign. 

 

161



TOWN OF MELBOURNE BEACH 
BREVARD COUNTY’S OLDEST BEACH COMMUNITY ESTABLISHED 1883 

507 OCEAN AVENUE, MELBOURNE BEACH, FL 32951-2523 
(321) 724-5860         FAX: (321) 984-8994       www.melbournebeachfl.org 

 
 
 

Building Department Report   
 

FEBRUARY 2024 
 

 
 

 permits issued 46 

 Construction value of the  $ 970,006.98 permits totaled $16,846.72 

 Total permit fees $16,846.72 

  Inspections completed 81 

  Plans reviewed 46 

  Site plan review for P&Z 0 

  Vacation rental inspections 2 

  New home 0 

  Stop work order 0 
 

162



Melbourne Beach Permit List

Permit AddressType Applicant Issued Expired

03/06/2024
1/2

201 OCEAN AVE 07/30/20202/01/202ATLANTIC COAST REST &
MECH SERVICES LLC

MiscellaneousPMC24-0001

201 OCEAN AVE 07/30/20202/01/202PIETANZA, MARKMechanicalPM24-0006
501 POINSETTIA RD 07/31/20202/02/202AMERICAN ROOFING, LLCReroofPRR23-0075
214 SURF RD 07/31/20202/02/202MEYER, ADAMFencePF24-0002
519 ANDREWS DR 08/27/20202/02/202HEART ROOFING INCReroofPRR24-0009
2206 ROSEWOOD DR 07/31/20202/02/202LYON, NATHANElectricalPE24-0011
210 CHERRY DR 08/13/20202/05/202EC Haas Construction IncReroofPRR24-0008
407 THIRD AVE 08/03/20202/05/202Carrie's Fence of Palm

Bay
FencePF24-0003

414 HIBISCUS TRL 08/20/20202/08/202Space Coast Shotcrete
Inc

PoolPPL24-0002

445 RIVER VIEW LN 08/06/20202/08/202BREVARD SOFFIT & SIDING,
INC DBA BSS EXTERIORS

Window, Door, and Shutter
Permit

PWS24-0016

1902 NEPTUNE DR 08/10/20202/08/202WALLABY WINDOWS OF
BREVARD

Window, Door, and Shutter
Permit

PWS24-0017

320 2ND AVE 08/10/20202/12/202BREVARD POOLS, INCPool ResurfacePPR24-0003
409 5TH AVE 08/27/20202/12/202Brevard Window & Doors

Inc
Window, Door, and Shutter
Permit

PWS24-0018

404 DRIFTWOOD AVE 08/11/20202/13/202Windward Building
Company

Res BuildingPRB24-0002

315 6TH AVE 08/11/20202/13/202Robert MillerMechanicalPM24-0010
1903 REDWOOD AVE 08/12/20202/14/202WESCON CONSTRUCTION INCReroofPRR24-0012
1710 PINE ST 08/13/20202/15/202Florida Native Roofing

Inc
ReroofPRR24-0011

203 SIXTH AVE 8 08/13/20202/15/202HOWARD GARAGE DOORSWindow, Door, and Shutter
Permit

PWS24-0020

400 HIBISCUS TRL 08/13/20202/15/202Johnny Sharrone, JrElectricalPE24-0012
505 BANYAN WAY 08/14/20202/16/202D'AYALA, MARCUSRes BuildingPRB24-0003
502 POINSETTIA RD 08/14/20202/16/202ERASMO TORRESElectricalPE24-0013
1708 ATLANTIC ST 08/31/20202/16/202SHIER, TODD RWindow, Door, and Shutter

Permit
PWS24-0021

441 RIVER VW 08/18/20202/20/202Newsouth Window
Solutions

Window, Door, and Shutter
Permit

PWS24-0012

401 HIBISCUS TRL 08/31/20202/20/202STEPHEN MCANALLYPlumbingPP24-0005
321 OCEAN AVE 08/18/20202/20/202Robert MillerMechanicalPM24-0014
201 RIVERSIDE DR 08/18/20202/20/202JONATHON BlackMechanicalPM24-0015
409 5TH AVE 08/19/20202/21/202ELITE PAVERS & PRICE

RITE PAINTING INC
Paver, Concrete, & DeckPCD24-0002

1906 ROSEWOOD DR 08/19/20202/21/202Space Coast Shotcrete
Inc

Pool ResurfacePPR24-0004

202 S PALM AVE 08/20/20202/22/202KHARISOV, EVGENYElectricalPE24-0014
1700 ATLANTIC ST 08/24/20202/26/202LOWES Home CentersWindow, Door, and Shutter

Permit
PWS24-0019

222 THIRD AVE 08/24/20202/26/202Procell, AndrewMechanicalPM24-0012

163



Melbourne Beach Permit List

Permit AddressType Applicant Issued Expired

03/06/2024
2/2

1902 NEPTUNE DR 08/24/20202/26/202Palm Bay Aluminum CorpAccessory StructurePAS24-0001
213 DOGWOOD AVE 08/25/20202/27/202PEDERSON, RALPHMechanicalPM24-0001
400 SIXTH AVE 08/25/20202/27/202John T ArrigoMechanicalPM24-0013
514 POINSETTIA RD 08/26/20202/28/202MARK SCHWARZBACHElectricalPE23-0050

35Total Permits:

164



Monthly Permit List 03/06/2024

1/5

Accessory Structure
Permit # Applicant Address Fee Total Const. Value

concrete slab and aluminum frame screen room with solid
aluminium roof

Work Description:

$19110.00$400.881902 NEPTUNE DRPalm Bay Aluminum CorpPAS24-0001

Total Permits For Type: 1
Total Fees For Type: $400.88

Total Const. Value For Type: $19110.00

Electrical
Permit # Applicant Address Fee Total Const. Value

replace existing 200 amp meter main with new Work Description:

$1000.00$79.00400 HIBISCUS TRLJohnny Sharrone, JrPE24-0012

ADD AND CHANGE POWERWork Description:

$100.00$79.00202 S PALM AVEKHARISOV, EVGENYPE24-0014

Replace new meter main combo with FPL hookupWork Description:

$8500.00$261.38502 POINSETTIA RDERASMO TORRESPE24-0013

400 amp ekectrical service upgradeWork Description:

$5500.00$169.48514 POINSETTIA RDMARK SCHWARZBACHPE23-0050

installation of hardwires level 2 evse with 50a breaker for
included livel 2 evse at preferred garage location within 15'
of garage electric panel 

Work Description:

$2299.00$79.002206 ROSEWOOD DRLYON, NATHANPE24-0011

Total Permits For Type: 5
Total Fees For Type: $667.86

Total Const. Value For Type: $17399.00

Fence
Permit # Applicant Address Fee Total Const. Value

Installing 225' of 6' tall and 12' of 4' tall PVC privacy fence
with (2) 5' wide walk gates

Work Description:

$4895.00$151.05407 THIRD AVECarrie's Fence of Palm
Bay

PF24-0003

Replace fence on east, west, and front sections of property
approx 200' 

Work Description:

$3500.00$109.00214 SURF RDMEYER, ADAMPF24-0002

Total Permits For Type: 2
Total Fees For Type: $260.05

Total Const. Value For Type: $8395.00

Generator

165



1/2

03/06/2024Inspection Totals

Column & Tie Beam 1

DECK - NAIL OFF 1

Dry In 1

Dry-In 5

Electrical 7

Electrical Underground 1

Equipotential 1

Final 6

Final Building 3

Final Electrical 3

Final Mechanical 8

Final Paver, Concrete, & Deck 1

Final Pool 1

Final Window, Door, & Shutter 8

Fire Inspection 2

Footer 4

Form Board 2

Foundation 1

Framing 1

In Progress 3

166



2/2

03/06/2024Inspection Totals

In Progress 1

In-Progress 1

LINTEL 1

Pan 1

Rebar for Front Entry and Patio 1

Roof Sheathing 1

Rough Electric 1

Rough Electrical 1

Rough Plumbing 4

Rough Plumbing 1

Sewer Connect 1

Slab 2

Steel & Ground 1

Tie Beam 1

Ufer Ground 1

Underground Electrical 1

Up Bars - 2nd Floor 1

Total # of Inspections: 81

167



168

Open Code Enforcement Cases



ClosedCategory Status FiledAddressEnforcement #

Enforcement List
1/1

03/11/2024

Origin

ECE23-0191 325 AVENUE A 09/19/23Closed - Complied 02/13/24Multiple Violations Staff

ECE24-0210 203 SIXTH AVE 8 02/20/24Closed - Complied 02/22/24Trailers, Boats, and
Recreational Vehicles

Public - Walk In

Total # of Enforcements: 2

169

Code Enforcement Cases closed in February



HolderProperty Address Certificate Type Status IssuedCertificate # Expires Amount Due

Certificate List
1/1

03/11/2024

608 MANGO DR Issued $0.00CVR23-0004 06/05/2023 06/05/2024Vacation Rental COMPO, DEVIN

300 THIRD AVE Issued $0.00CVR23-0005 06/05/2023 06/05/2024Vacation Rental GNK PROPERTIES

405 FIFTH AVE Issued $0.00CVR23-0006 06/05/2023 06/05/2024Vacation Rental GNK PROPERTIES LLC

406 HIBISCUS TRL Issued $0.00CVR23-0008 06/09/2023 06/09/2024Vacation Rental PETERS, ERIC RYAN

311 AVENUE A Issued $0.00CVR23-0010 06/09/2023 06/09/2024Vacation Rental K5 INVESTMENT GROUP LLC

415 HIBISCUS TRL Issued $0.00CVR23-0009 06/12/2023 06/12/2024Vacation Rental GOSSELIN, JAKE

501 POINSETTIA RD Issued $0.00CVR23-0002 07/06/2023 07/06/2024Vacation Rental GENNA, PETE

224 FIFTH AVE Issued $0.00CVR22-0044 07/07/2023 07/07/2024Vacation Rental POVICH, ROBYN S

510 BANYAN WAY Issued $0.00CVR23-0007 08/02/2023 08/02/2024Vacation Rental MCGRATH, JEFFREY

400 AVENUE B Issued $0.00CVR23-0011 08/31/2023 08/31/2024Vacation Rental KERR, JOHN

217 FOURTH AVE Issued $0.00CVR23-0016 10/17/2023 10/17/2024Vacation Rental FOURTH AVENUE LLC

317 FIRST AVE Issued $0.00CVR23-0021 10/24/2023 10/24/2024Vacation Rental LESINSKI, ZACH

228 6TH AVE Issued $0.00CVR23-0019 10/26/2023 10/26/2024Vacation Rental WELLENS, DOUGLAS M

211 CHERRY DR Issued $0.00CVR23-0017 10/27/2023 10/27/2024Vacation Rental LA GALA, DEAN

212 DOGWOOD AVE Issued $0.00CVR23-0020 10/27/2023 10/27/2024Vacation Rental DEAN LAGALA

1905 REDWOOD AVE Issued $0.00CVR23-0022 10/30/2023 10/30/2024Vacation Rental ATLANTIC SURFSIDE, LLC

315 AVENUE B Issued $0.00CVR23-0024 11/06/2023 11/06/2024Vacation Rental KOGOK, RONALD C,JR

527 AVENUE B Issued $0.00CVR23-0015 11/08/2023 11/08/2024Vacation Rental SEIDEL, BRIAN R

411 OAK ST Issued $0.00CVR23-0023 11/14/2023 11/14/2024Vacation Rental MOLINA OAK LLC

2201 REDWOOD AVE Issued $0.00CVR23-0025 11/21/2023 11/21/2024Vacation Rental NEWTON, SHEILA D

308 SECOND AVE Issued $0.00CVR24-0001 01/10/2024 12/31/2024Owner Occupied
Exempt

NOBLE, LINDA S

311 FIRST AVE Issued $0.00CVR24-0002 01/10/2024 12/31/2024Owner Occupied
Exempt

JEPPSON, RICHARD C

322 3RD AVE Issued $0.00CVR24-0003 01/10/2024 12/31/2024Owner Occupied
Exempt

BARTON, JOYCE

304 FOURTH AVE Issued $0.00CVR23-0003 01/11/2024 01/11/2025Vacation Rental SAMMELMAN, MARK T

320 2ND AVE Issued $0.00CVR24-0007 02/27/2024 02/27/2025Vacation Rental WAGNER, CHRISTOPHER
WAGNER, KIM 

312 SECOND AVE Issued $0.00CVR24-0005 03/01/2024 03/01/2025Vacation Rental HENSEL, KURT

209 FIRST AVE Issued $0.00CVR24-0006 03/04/2024 03/04/2025Vacation Rental KERR, HOWARD, DIANE

Total Amount Due:

Total # of Certificates: 27

$0.00

170

Current Active Registered Vacation Rental Properties



Page 1 of 3 

 

 

Town of Melbourne Beach 

Fire Department 

 

MONTHLY REPORT – February 2024 
 

 
 
Incident Response 

For the month of February 2024, the Melbourne Beach Volunteer Fire Department 

responded to 9 calls for service.  The average number of responding volunteer 

personnel per paged out call for the month was 10. 

 

Breakdown: 

 4 Fire/Rescue 911 Calls (Paged out) 

 1 EMS Assist (First Responder EMS) 

 1 Public Assist (Fire drill standby)   

 2 Special Event Coverage (Nature Day & South Beach Little League Parade) 

 1 New system fire alarm inspections / tests 

 

 

Department Membership 

 1 Fire Chief (Full-Time) 

 1 Maintenance Technician (Part-Time) 

 16 Certified Volunteer Firefighters 

 7 Support Services Volunteers 

 5 Probationary Members 

 3 Administrative Volunteers 

 1 Volunteer Fire Chaplain  

 

 

 

 

171



Page 2 of 3 

 

Notable Incidents 

 2/10/2024 – Nighttime water rescue incident in Indian River.  The Melbourne Beach Vol. 
Fire Department’s Water Rescue Team was requested to assist the City of Melbourne & 
Town of Indialantic for reports of capsized 17ft boat in the Indian River with 2 victims and 
a dog in the water. Multiple units from the MBVFD responded.  Melbourne Beach’s 
Marine-58 vessel was the first emergency unit on scene, and was able to meet up with a 
good samaritan vessel that had just pulled the victims and dog out of the water.  Both 
victims and the dog were transferred onto Marine-58 for medical assessment and 
transport to shore. Both victims and the dog were in stable condition, and care was 
transferred to Brevard County Fire Rescue at the Front Street boat ramp.  Sunken 
vessel reported to USCG Station Cape Canaveral. 

 

Notable Events 

Chief Brown and Ret. Chief Micka continued working on a FEMA Assistance to Firefighters 

Grant for structural firefighting gear, with a submittal deadline date of March 8th.  The 

Department has submitted multiple grant requests for mobile and portable radios over the past 

few years, but unfortunately due to the highly competitive nature of the grant process, the 

requests were not a high enough priority to be awarded.  This year the Department decided to 

switch up its request strategy to assist in offsetting the increasing cost of personal structural 

firefighting turnout gear.  In addition to this grant, the Fire Department continues to investigate 

other potential creative funding sources for equipment and projects.  It should be noted that 

most grants require a substantial amount of administrative time and effort to complete, and can 

take smaller agencies with limited staffing months to gather the required data and complete. 

The Melbourne Beach Volunteer Fire Department’s Training Division hosted multiple training 

events in February including: 

 Full day vehicle extrication training at A&M Auto World in Melbourne.  The training event 
was a great learning experience, both for our senior members and newer volunteers.  
Crews were able to work together to remove vehicle doors/roofs, lift vehicles, and 
stabilize vehicles on their sides using our Agency’s Hurst E-draulic extrication tools (won 
on a grant), Air lift bags, and Hurst stabilization struts.   

 CPR and First Aid course for internal members as well as members from Indian Harbour 
Beach Volunteer Fire Department. 

 8 Hour Emergency Vehicle Driver Refresher Training. 

 16 Hour Initial Emergency Vehicle Driver Training for students of Melbourne Beach, 
Indialantic Volunteer Fire Department, and Indian Harbour Beach Volunteer Fire 
Department.   

 Weekly 2-3 hour firefighter drill/training nights. 

Huge thanks to Melbourne Beach Resident Tony Presti, of A&M Auto, for donating 2 vehicles 

and the space for the extrication training, to Rickey McLester of MES Fire for coming out to 

assist in teaching the vehicle extrication training, and to Eastern Florida State College for 

allowing us to use their Public Safety Driving Pad to conduct the practical portions of the driving 

courses. 

 

172



Page 3 of 3 

 

Chief Brown attended an Incident Inquiries and Formal Investigations course and FEMA G-191 

(Incident Command System/ Emergency Operations Center Interface) course.  In addition, Chief 

Brown attended multiple meetings including a planning meeting with other Town Department 

Heads for the upcoming PineappleMan Triathlon event hosted by the Melbourne Beach Rotary 

Club, Brevard County 800mhz radio users meeting, and the Space Coast Fire Chiefs 5 bugle 

committee meeting.  

The Volunteer Firefighters Association hosted their annual volunteer appreciation dinner.  In 

addition, the MBVFA board of directors agreed to donate funds to purchase 4 new training 

AEDs, Stop the Bleed kits for new volunteers, and hydration supplies for emergency scenes 

(drinking waters & electrolyte packets).   

173



Melbourne Beach, FL
This report was generated on 3/14/2024 3:40:12 PM

Melbourne Beach VFD

Incident Address and Type for Date Range (Landscape)

INCIDENT # DATE LOCATION 
TYPE ADDRESS INCIDENT TYPE ALARM CLEARED

SCENE
2024-14 02/02/2024 Intersection  Pine ST  / Driftwood Ave., Melbourne Beach, FL, 32951 Smoke scare, odor of smoke 02/02/2024 19:16 02/02/2024 19:28

2024-15 02/07/2024 2051 Atlantic ST , Melbourne Beach, FL, 32951 Special type of incident, other 02/07/2024 11:35 02/07/2024 11:42

2024-16 02/07/2024 2100 Oak ST , Melbourne Beach, FL, 32951 Service Call, other 02/07/2024 13:56 02/07/2024 14:14

2024-17 02/10/2024 2929 Riverview DR , Melbourne, FL, 32901 Watercraft rescue 02/10/2024 19:40 02/10/2024 20:23

2024-18 02/13/2024 401 Oak ST , Melbourne Beach, FL, 32951 Motor vehicle accident with injuries 02/13/2024 15:05 02/13/2024 15:40

2024-19 02/15/2024  6th AVE  / Pine Street, Melbourne Beach, FL, 32951 Medical assist, assist EMS crew 02/15/2024 18:06 02/15/2024 18:17

2024-20 02/23/2024 403 Miami AVE , Melbourne Beach, FL, 32951 Smoke detector activation, no fire - unintentional 02/23/2024 12:29 02/23/2024 12:37

2024-21 02/24/2024 509 Ocean AVE , Melbourne Beach, FL, 32951 Cover assignment, standby, moveup 02/24/2024 11:40 02/24/2024 15:39

2024-22 02/24/2024 1805 Oak ST , Melbourne Beach, FL, 32951 Public service 02/24/2024 14:51 02/24/2024 15:38

Incident Status(s): All Incident Statuses | Start Date: 02/01/2024 | End Date: 02/29/2024

Doc Id: 1251
emergencyreporting.com

Location Type is only filled in when it is marked Intersection, Directions, or National Grid on Basic Info 3.

Page # 1 of 1

174



Melbourne Beach, FL
This report was generated on 3/14/2024 3:40:44 PM

Melbourne Beach VFD

Personnel Count per Incident for Date Range

INCIDENT NUMBER OF PEOPLE

NUMBER DATE INCIDENT TYPE FDID ON 
APPARATUS

NOT ON 
APPARATUS TOTAL

2024-14 2/2/2024 19:16:47 651 - Smoke scare, odor of smoke 19112 1 8 9

2024-15 2/7/2024 11:35:59 900 - Special type of incident, other 19112 1 0 1

2024-16 2/7/2024 13:56:00 500 - Service Call, other 19112 1 0 1

2024-17 2/10/2024 19:40:33 365 - Watercraft rescue 19112 11 1 12

2024-18 2/13/2024 15:05:10 322 - Motor vehicle accident with injuries 19112 9 2 11

2024-19 2/15/2024 18:06:50 311 - Medical assist, assist EMS crew 19112 1 0 1

2024-20 2/23/2024 12:29:04 743 - Smoke detector activation, no fire - 
unintentional 19112 4 4 8

2024-21 2/24/2024 11:40:52 571 - Cover assignment, standby, moveup 19112 1 0 1

2024-22 2/24/2024 14:51:08 553 - Public service 19112 4 0 4

TOTAL # OF INCIDENTS: 9 AVERAGES: 3.7 1.7 5.3

Start Date: 02/01/2024 | End Date: 02/29/2024

Doc Id: 358
emergencyreporting.com

Only REVIEWED incidents included

Page # 1 of 1

**

**
**

**

Total # of incidents 
    paged out for 
volunteer response: 4

** Without EMS Assist or Service Calls:                   6.3              3.8             10.0    
             (Paged out calls only)

Note: 900 series "Special Incidents" include fire inspections performed.

***

175



 

  

Monthly Report Page 1 
 

   
 

Operations:  

In February 2024, the department responded to 1,225 calls for service and 68 house checks.   

Activity: 

 23 Citations / 8 Written Warnings  

 193 Traffic Stops 

 101 Traffic Enforcement 

 4 Traffic Complaint 

 16 Parking Citations 

 Our radar trailer continues to be placed in various locations throughout the Town.     

 PD News 

 The Police Department has lost and found miscellaneous items that have been brought into the 

department, for example, keys, sunglasses, and children's toys. These items were found at our 

beach accesses and Rychman Park. If you believe you may have lost things, come to the Police 

Department during business hours Monday – Friday, 8 am to 5 pm. 

 The portable Speed Radar unit has been placed in Bicentennial Park on Oak Street.   

 Our next Movie in the Park will be "Super Mario Brothers." We will announce the details on 

our Facebook page. 

 FDOT has changed the speed limit on Atlantic Street from Ocean Ave/Atlantic Str - to 2207 

Atlantic Street, from 40 mph to 35 mph.   

 

 

Please see the attachments:  

 Speed Trailer reports 

 Sergeant's monthly reports           

Stay Safe, Chief Melanie Griswold 

 

Melbourne Beach Police Department 

Monthly Report 

February 2024 

176



Jan Feb Mar Apr May June July Aug Sept Oct Nov Dec YTD
Total Calls for Service 1508 1293 2801
Total Felonies 3 3 6
Total Misdemeanors 3 3 6
Total Capias Requests 1 0 1
Total Traffic Arrests 1 0 1
Total Other Arrests 0 1 1
911 Investigation 10 11 21
Alarm Business 1 2 3
Alarm Residence 1 5 6
Alarm Vehicle 0 0 0
Assault 0 0 0
Animal Complaint 3 6 9
AOA Fire/Medical 9 0 9
AOA LEO 0 14 14
Assist Citizen 6 9 15
Assist DCF 3 8 11
Assist Motorist 1 2 3
Attempt To Contact 8 1 9
Baker Act 0 0 0
Battery 3 0 3
Battery-Domestic 1 1 2
Burglary - Residential 1 0 1
Burglary - Vehicle 1 0 1
Civil Matter 1 2 3
Crash 2 5 7
Criminal Mischief 1 0 1
Deceased Person 2 2 4
Disturbance 8 3 11
Disturbance Domestic 1 0 1
Disturbance Noise 5 1 6
Fraud/Forgery 1 2 3
House Checks 75 68 143
Illegal Dumping 0 0 0
Illegal Parking 23 18 41
Indecent/Lewd Act 0 0 0
Information 16 6 22
Injured/Ill Person 17 21 38

Melbourne Beach Police Department
177



Jan Feb Mar Apr May June July Aug Sept Oct Nov Dec YTD
Intoxicated Driver 0 0 0
Intoxicated Person 0 0 0
Investigation 1 1 2
Low Speed Vehicle Insp/Decal 4 2 6
Missing Person 0 0 0
Narcotics 2 0 2
Open Door 0 1 1
Ordinance Violation/Code Enf 0 0 0
Overdose 0 0 0
Parking Citations 15 16 31
Patrol Area 122 90 212
Patrol Area Business 230 226 456
Patrol Area Residential 566 495 1061
Patrol Area School 34 49 83
Phone Call - Threatening 2 1 3
Property Confiscated 3 0 3
Property Found 2 0 2
Property Lost 0 1 1
Reckless Driving 4 6 10
Retail Theft 0 1 1
School Zone 8 19 27
Shooting in the Area 0 1 1
Soliciting 0 0 0
Special Detail 0 1 1
Special Response ATV 0 0 0
Special Response Drone 0 0 0
Standby-Keep the Peace 1 0 1
Suicide 0 0 0
Suicide - Attempt/Threat 0 1 1
Suspicious Incident 17 9 26
Suspicious Person 3 8 11
Suspicious Vehicle 5 12 17
Theft 1 0 1
Traffic Citations 50 23 73
Traffic Complaint 3 4 7
Traffic Enforcement 160 101 261
Traffic Stop 219 135 354
Traffic Obstruction 1 0 1
Trespass 0 1 1

Melbourne Beach Police Department
178



Jan Feb Mar Apr May June July Aug Sept Oct Nov Dec YTD
Vehicle Abandoned 0 0 0
Vehicle Inspection 2 1 3
Vehicle Repo/Tow 0 1 1
Wanted Person 0 0 0
Written Warnings 10 8 18

Vehicle Mileage Jan Feb Mar Apr May June July Aug Sept Oct Nov Dec YTD
Car 300 1158 983 2141
Car 301 822 909 1731
Car 302 1180 1160 2340
Car 360 52 52 104
Car 363 43 1 44
Car 366 471 620 1091
Car 367 779 740 1519
ATV 1 0 1 1
ATV 2 0 23.3 23.3

Melbourne Beach Police Department

179



Monthly Report February 2024 

House Checks: 31

• 02/03: Trespass warning in the 300 block of Ocean Avenue. A male and female were
causing a disturbance in a business. The employee wanted the subjects given a trespass
warning.

• 02/13: Traffic crash in the area of Oak Street and Acacia Blvd. (2) Vehicles involved with
minor damage to each vehicle. One driver was transported to hospital with minor injuries.
One vehicle was towed from the scene. The driver at fault was issued a citation.

• 02/27: Battery in the 200 block of Ocean Avenue. A male suspect was in a physical
altercation with a female. The male subject was placed under arrest for battery.

• 02/28: Death Investigation in the 1600 block of Atlantic Street. Brevard County Fire Rescue
transported a male subject to the hospital, where he later passed away. This case is still
under investigation.

• 02/29: Hospice death in the 400 block of Sixth Avenue. Officers stood by until a Hospice
nurse arrived to take the scene over.

• 02/29: A juvenile female was found wandering in the 300 block of Fifth Avenue. The case
was turned over to the Department of Children and Families.

MELBOURNE BEACH POLICE DEPARTMENT 
Jason Hinchman 

Sergeant 
507 Ocean Ave, Melbourne Beach, FL 32951 

Phone: (321) 723-4343 Fax: (321)725-3253 

180



 

 

   
 

 Sgt. Sadler Monthly Report February 2024 
 

 
02/07- Assist DCF reference possible neglect in the 400 block of Sunset Blvd. Nothing criminal 
occurred case was closed by DCF. 
 
02/09- Fraud in the 200 block of Fifth Avenue. Case open pending investigation. 
 
02/14- Traffic stop in the area of Sunset Blvd and Oak Street on a vehicle for no lights. Drug 
paraphernalia seized for destruction.  
 
02/22- Fraud in the 1800 block of Atlantic Street. Case open pending investigation. 
 
02/23- Dog bite in the 1500 block of Oak Street. Minor injuries from multiple dog bites.  
 
02/23- Traffic crash hit and run in the 500 block of Ocean Avenue. No injuries or major damage.  
 
02/25- Assist the Brevard County Sheriff’s Office with a fight on the beach in the 2300 block of 
Highway A1A. Case turned over to BCSO. 
 
 
 
 

• Total House Checks (Sadler Squad)- 37 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

MELBOURNE BEACH POLICE DEPARTMENT 
Jason Sadler 

Sergeant 
507 Ocean Ave, Melbourne Beach, FL 32951 

Phone: (321) 723-4343  Fax: (321)725-3253 
 

181



 

 

   
 
 

MEMORANDUM 
 

TO: Chief Griswold 
FROM: OFC. Tejeda #329 
RE: Patrol Vehicles 
DATE: 3/5/2023 
 
VEHICLE REPORT FOR: February 2024 
 
 
Car 300 Ford Explorer 2022 
Starting mileage # 17,799  Ending mileage # 18,782 
Total mileage # 983  
Total maintenance bill for the month $0.00  Next oil change due at: 21,730 
 
Car 363 Dodge Charger 2016 
Starting mileage # 68,297  Ending mileage # 68,298 
Total mileage #1 
Total maintenance bill for the month $0.00  Next oil change due at: 71,316 
 
Car 360 Dodge Charger 2019 
Starting mileage # 44,630  Ending mileage # 44,682 
Total mileage # 52 
Total maintenance bill for the month $0.00  Next oil change due at: 45,299 
  
Car 301 Ford Explorer 2022 
Starting mileage # 5,503  Ending mileage # 6,412 
Total mileage # 909 
Total maintenance bill for the month $0.00  Next oil change due at: 10,000 
 
Car 302 Ford Explorer 2022 
Starting mileage # 6,672  Ending mileage # 7,832 
Total mileage #1,160 
Total maintenance bill for the month $0.00  Next oil change due at: 10,000 
 

MELBOURNE BEACH POLICE DEPARTMENT 
OFC. L. TEJEDA 

507 Ocean Ave, Melbourne Beach, FL 32951 
Phone: (321) 723-4343  Fax: (321)725-3253 

 

182



 

 

Car 366 Dodge Charger 2019 
Starting mileage # 39,974  Ending mileage # 40,594 
Total mileage # 620 
Total maintenance bill for the month $1,885.39 - Radiator,thermostat, wheel aligment 
Next oil change due at: 44,693 
 
Car 367 Dodge Charger 2021 
Starting mileage # 27,035  Ending mileage # 27,775 
Total mileage # 740 
Total maintenance bill for the month $0.00  Next oil change due at: 32,500 
 
Atv #1 Honda TRX 420 2021 
Starting Miles # 464 Ending Miles # 465 
Total Miles #1 
Total Maintenance bill for the month $0.00 Next service due at: 586 
 
Atv #2 Honda TRX 420 2021 
Starting Miles # 384 Ending Miles # 407.3 
Total Miles #23.3 
Total maintenance bill for the month $0.00 Next service due at: 592 
 
SPEED TRAILER MAINTENANCE 
 
TRAILER 2  
$0.00 
 
 
Total fleet maintenance cost for February 2024: $1,885.39 
 
Total mileage for February 2024: 4,489.3 

183



184



185



186



 

Town of Melbourne Beach 

 

Town Clerk Report 
 

Records Management Project/ Scanning Project – Imported the first sample of scanned 

documents. Noticed some needed adjustments during the importing process that are being fixed. 

When the adjustments are complete the sample will need to be redone. 

 

New Town Website Project – Received the sample website design. Town staff is providing 

feedback to Granicus regarding design changes. The next step will be reviewing data from our 

current website and what pages/data will be migrated to the new website.  

 

Audio-Visual Equipment Project - The project is scheduled for installation the fourth week in 

April. 

     

Vendor Meetings – Continue to meet bi-weekly with Granicus about the new town website. 

Meeting frequently with MCCi to work through each step of the records management project and 

to work out any glitches in the new records management software. 

 

Town Meetings – Prepared agendas and minutes and attended the meetings for Special 

Magistrate Hearings, Planning and Zoning, and Regular Town Commission. Prepared meetings 

for the Environmental Advisory Board, Parks Board, and the History Center Board. 

 

Training – Attended a webinar on e-filing and form 6.  

Starting in 2024 all Form 1 and Form 6 filers must submit their financial disclosure data through 

the Commission on Ethics portal. Each filer will receive an email from the Commission on 

Ethics roughly in April to set up an account to submit their information. Senate Bill 774 passed 

in 2023 and requires, beginning January 1, 2024, all elected members of the governing body of a 

municipality must file a Form 6 – Full and Public Disclosure of Financial Interests. The due date 

for the Form 1 and Form 6 is July 1st. 

 

 

 

187



Town Commission Meeting  

Section:   Old Business  

Meeting Date:  March 20, 2024 

From:   Town Manager, Elizabeth Mascaro 

Re:   Updated Contract Pricing from Waste Pro 

 

Background Information: 

A new Waste Pro contract with updated pricing was presented to the Town Commission at the 

February 21, 2024 meeting.  The Town Commission voted to send the waste collection services 

out for an RFP.   Waste Pro contact the Mayor asking if they could present updated pricing prior 

to the Town sending out an RFP.  I asked members of the Town Commission individually, if they 

would allow Waste Pro to present new pricing at the March 20, 2024 meeting prior to sending out 

an RFP. The majority of Commissioners agreed to allow Waste Pro to present updated pricing at 

the March 20, 2024 meeting. 

 

Recommendation:  

Review the attached excel spread sheet for comparison pricing 

 

 

 

 

Attachments:   

February Contract 

March Contract 

February Agenda Item 

Indialantic Pricing Waste Management (2 pages) 

 

188



189



190



191



192



193



194



Contract Option 1 ResidentialOption 1 Years 2 Thru 7 Option 2 Residential Years Years 4 Thur 7 Residential Option 1 Commerical Years 2 Thru 7  Commercial

Feb Contract 37.75 Year 1 37.75 +CPI  28.90 Year 1 2& 3 40.18 +CPI 7.48 per cubic yd 7.48 + CPI
Add $5.64  Yr2=34.54 + CPI

Yr3=40.18 +CPI

Mar Contract $35.00 Year 1 $35.00 + CPI  28.90 Year 1 2&3 36.66+ CPI 9.98 per cubic yd 9.98 +CPI
35x7 Years =$245. Add $3.88 Yr 2= 32.78 + CPI

Yr 3= 36.66 + CPI
7 Years=$244.98

195



Town Commission Meeting  

Section:   Old Business  

Meeting Date:  March 20, 2024 

From:   Town Manager, Elizabeth Mascaro 

Re:   Beach Ambassador Program  

 

Background Information: 

Fire Chief Brown presented a Beach Ambassador Program to the Town Commissioners during 

the February 21, 2024 meeting. The Commission requested the Town Manager contact the 

Town’s insurance carrier to determine if the Town had any liability issues with volunteers, 

operating ATV’s on the beach. 

 

Recommendation:  

The Florida League of Cities, our insurer, has responded to Jennifer Kerr’s email confirming all 

volunteers are covered under the Town’s insurance policies to drive the ATV’s. 

I recommend the Town Commission approve the Beach Ambassador Program. 

 

 

 

 

Attachments:   

Email between Jennifer Kerr and Florida League of Cities 

 

196



197



198



Town Commission Meeting  

Section:   Old Business  

Meeting Date:  March 20, 2024 

From:   Town Manager, Elizabeth Mascaro 

Re:   Updated Utility Shed Ordinance 

Background Information: 

A new Utility Shed Ordinance was presented to Planning and Zoning on February 6, 2024, at 

which time, P&Z made changes to the language provided by the Building Official. 

The new Utility Shed Ordinance was presented to the Town Commission on February 21, 2024, 

along with, the recommendations from Planning and Zoning.  The Town Commission voted to 

approved the language as presented-see below 

  160 square feet 

  11.6 feet total above grade inclusive of the base.   

  Substantially screened by a vegetative barrier or fence. 

  Utility Sheds behind the front building line. 

  Roofline must be 5 feet off the property line, 

  There shall be not be any water hooked up to the utility shed. 

 

The Utility Shed Ordinance came back to Planning and Zoning on March 5, 2024, with the 

recommendations from the Town Commission.  The Planning and Zoning Board amended their 

language to reflect the following changes: 

  140 square feet 

  Utility sheds behind the rear of the front building line and behind the building  

  Line of the side of any structure abutting any street with a 2-foot setback.  

 

Recommendation:  

 1. Consider the recommendations of Planning and Zoning.   

2. Approve the development of a new Utility Shed Ordinance reflecting the language selected by 

the Town Commission. 

Attachments:   

Planning and Zoning approved language for new Utility Shed Ordinance 

Town Commission approved language for new Utility Shed Ordinance  

Diagram of recommended corner lot lines for a shed that is behind the rear of the front of the 

building line of the principal structure. 

199



200



201



202



203



Town Commission Meeting  

Section:   Old Business  

Meeting Date:  March 20, 2024 

From:   Town Attorney, Ryan Knight 

Re:   Repeal of Ordinance 2023-02 Second Kitchens 

 

Background Information: 

During the Town Commission meeting of February 21, 2024 a decision to repeal Town of 

Melbourne Beach Ordinance 2023-02, Second Kitchens, was approved by the Town Commission.  

The Commission instructed the Town Attorney to draft a new Ordinance repealing the original 

2023-02 Ordinance. 

 

Recommendation:  

Review the Repeal Ordinance for language. 

 

 

 

 

Attachments:   

Repeal Ordinance 

Ordinance 2023-02 

204



1 

 

ORDINANCE NO. 2024-__ 

 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE TOWN OF MELBOURNE 

BEACH, BREVARD COUNTY, FLORIDA, REPEALING 

ORDINANCE 2023-02 IN ITS ENTIRETY; PROVIDING FOR 

SEVERABILITY; AND PROVIDING FOR AN EFFECTIVE 

DATE. 

 

 WHEREAS, on March 15, 2023, the Town Commission of the Town of Melbourne Beach 

enacted Ordinance No. 2023-02 amending the Land Development Code of the Town of Melbourne 

Beach regarding second kitchens in residential zoning districts in the Town of Melbourne Beach; 

and 

 

 WHEREAS, the Town Commission of the Town of Melbourne Beach, after duly noticed 

public hearings, has determined that the repeal of Ordinance No. 2023-02 in its entirety is in the 

best interests of the citizens of the Town of Melbourne Beach, and promotes the general health, 

safety, and welfare of the residents of the Town of Melbourne Beach; and 

 

 WHEREAS, on April 2, 2024, the Planning and Zoning Board at a duly noticed public 

hearing, reviewed and considered the repeal of Ordinance No. 2023-02 in its entirety and took 

public comment regarding the same; and 

 

 WHEREAS, the Planning and Zoning Board has determined that the repeal of Ordinance 

No. 2023-02 in its entirety is in the best interest of the Town of Melbourne Beach and has 

recommended that the Town Commission approve of the same; and 

 

 WHEREAS, the Town Commission of the Town of Melbourne Beach and the Planning 

and Zoning Board have determined that the repeal of Ordinance No. 2023-02 in its entirety is in 

the best interest of the Town of Melbourne Beach. 

 

 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ENACTED BY THE TOWN OF MELBOURNE 

BEACH, FLORIDA: 

 

NOTE:  Underlined words constitute additions to the Town of Melbourne Beach 

Code of Ordinances, strikethrough constitutes deletions from the original Code of Ordinances, and 

asterisks (***) indicate an omission from the existing text which is intended to remain unchanged. 

 

 Section 1. The definition of “Kitchen or Kitchen Facility” in Article I, Chapter IA, Section 

1A-3, of Appendix “A,” of the Town of Melbourne Beach Code of Ordinances is hereby repealed 

as follows: 

 

§1A-3. DEFINITIONS. 

 

*** 

  

205



2 

 

KITCHEN or KITCHEN FACILITY. A room of area within a room whose primary 

purposes is to store, prepare and cook food. A kitchen will have a refrigerator to store food, counter 

space and a sink to prepare food, and a stove and/or range to cook food. An outdoor or external 

barbeque area with no stove or range shall not constitute a kitchen or kitchen facility. 

 

*** 

 

 Section 2. Section 7A-31(g) of Appendix “A,” of the Town of Melbourne Beach Code of 

Ordinances is hereby repealed as follows: 

 

§7A-31. 1-RS SINGLE FAMILY RESIDENTIAL DISTRICT. 

 

*** 

 

(g) Supplementary regulations: As provided in §§ 7A-50 through 7A-72, and Chapter 9A. 

 

*** 

 

 Section 3. Section 7A-32(g) of Appendix “A,” of the Town of Melbourne Beach Code of 

Ordinances is hereby repealed as follows: 

 

§7A-32. 2-RS SINGLE FAMILY RESIDENTIAL DISTRICT. 

 

*** 

 

(g) Supplementary regulations: As provided in §§ 7A-50 through 7A-72, and Chapter 9A. 

 

*** 

 

 Section 4. Section 7A-33(g) of Appendix “A,” of the Town of Melbourne Beach Code of 

Ordinances is hereby repealed as follows: 

 

§7A-33. 3-RS SINGLE FAMILY RESIDENTIAL DISTRICT. 

 

*** 

 

(g) Supplementary regulations: As provided in §§ 7A-50 through 7A-72, and Chapter 9A. 

 

*** 

 

 Section 5. Article IV, Chapter 7A, Section 7A-72, of Appendix “A,” of the Town of 

Melbourne Beach Code of Ordinances is hereby repealed as follows: 

 

§7A-72. SINGLE-FAMILY RESIDENTIAL SECOND KITCHEN FACILITY. 
 

206



3 

 

 A second kitchen facility may be incorporated into a single-family residence located in the 

1-RS, 2-RS, and 3-RS zoning districts, provided the second kitchen facility meets the following 

conditions: 

 

(1) The second kitchen facility and the area or quarters it serves shall be integrated 

architecturally into the principal single-family dwelling unit or may be located within separate 

quarters connected to the principal single-family dwelling unit by a common wall or common roof. 

For purposes of this Section, a breezeway connection between the principal single-family dwelling 

unit structure and the separate quarters served by the second kitchen may constitute a common 

roof. Access to the second kitchen shall be as required by the Florida Building Code. 

 

(2) A permit for construction must be obtained, and a floor plan of the entire single-

family residence, including the additional kitchen facility, demonstrating compliance with the 

conditions set forth in this section, shall be submitted to the Building Official for plan review and 

approval prior to construction of any second kitchen. The approved floor plan shall be binding 

upon all future construction plans in regard to the single-family residence and the second kitchen 

facility. 

 

(3) No portion of the single-family dwelling unit shall be utilized for rental purposes, 

and the single-family dwelling unit shall be served by only one electrical and water meter. 

 

(4) The single-family dwelling unit shall continue to be utilized by no more than one 

family. 

 

(5) The property upon which the second kitchen is planned to be installed must have a 

valid Brevard County property tax homestead exemption at the time of permit application. A 

second kitchen facility must be removed within one year of the loss or removal of the homestead 

exemption maintained on the property. 

 

Section 6. If any section, sentence, phrase, word or portion of this ordinance is determined 

to be invalid, unlawful or unconstitutional, said determination shall not be held to invalidate or 

impair the validity, force or effect of any other section, sentence, phrase, word or portion of this 

Ordinance not otherwise determined to be invalid, unlawful or unconstitutional. 

 

Section 7. This Ordinance shall become effective immediately upon its passage and 

adoption. 

 

PASSED AND ADOPTED this ____ day of ________________, 2024, by the Town 

Commission of the Town of Melbourne Beach, Florida. 

 

PASSED ON FIRST READING: ___________________ 

 

PASSED ON SECOND READING: ___________________ 

 

       

 

207



4 

 

TOWN OF MELBOURNE BEACH, FLORIDA 

 

 

      By:________________________ 

      ALISON DENNINGTON, Mayor 

 

ATTEST: 

      (TOWN SEAL) 

______________________ 

Amber Brown, Town Clerk 

208



209



210



211



212



213



Town Commission Meeting  

Section:   Old Business  

Meeting Date:  March 20, 2024 

From:   Town Manager, Elizabeth Mascaro 

Re:   Obtain Traffic Study 

 

Background Information: 

On February 21, 2024, Commission Walker brought an agenda item to the TM to obtain a traffic 

study for Riverside Drive along with calming options. 

The Town Commission voted to bring this item to a workshop held on March 6, 2024. 

The consensus of the workshop was to the TM to obtain the cost of a traffic study for  

all of the major roadways in Melbourne Beach. 

 

 

Recommendation:   

Approve the Town Manager contacting three firms to obtain pricing to perform a traffic study. 

 

 

 

Attachments:   

Agenda item from 2/21/2024 

 

214



215



Town Commission Meeting  

Section: New Business   

Meeting Date: 3/20/24  

From: Commissioner Runte    

RE: Coordination of Upcoming RTCM Dates     

 

Background Information: The Intent of this agenda item is for a quick and simple discussion to 

review, select, and confirm dates for the RTCM’s the April, May, and June RTCM’s to ensure 

these meetings not only have quorum but have the best potential for full attendance by the full 

commission in the best interests of all. It is important to recognize the commission position is not 

a full-time position, and most on the commission have full-time jobs. So long as residents are 

provided ample notice and the town calendar is updated accordingly.  

 

Recommendation:  Select mutually agreeable dates for upcoming RTCM’s at the discretion of 

the commission. 

 

 

Attachments:  Town Calendar 

 

216



Town Commission Meeting  

Section:   New Business  

Meeting Date:  March 20, 2024 

From:   Town Manager, Elizabeth Mascaro 

Re:   Salary Approval Police Chief Tim Zander 

 

Background Information: 

Tim Zander was selected as the Town of Melbourne Beach’s new Police Chief.  Mr. Zander’s 

background check was satisfactorily completed and he will be sworn in as the Town’s acting 

Police Chief on April 1, 2024. 

Mr. Zander has requested a salary of $105,000. Based on his impressive background I feel his 

ask is justified.  Our Police Department and Indialantic’s Police Department are similar in size and 

makeup.  The Indialantic Police Chief’s salary is currently $104,883. 

 

Recommendation:  

Approve the request from Tim Zander for an annual salary of $105,000. 

 

 

 

Attachments:   

None 

 

217



Regular Town Commission Meeting Agenda    
 

Section:   New Business  

Meeting Date:  March 20, 2024  

Subject: Resolution 2024-02 Budget Amendment    

Submitted By:  Jennifer Kerr, Finance Manager 

 

Background Information 
 

Re-allocate the capital funds were to be used for the Skate Park in Ryckman Park to 
now be used for a ramp to the Community Center that is in compliance with The 
Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA).  
   
Recommendation:   

Consideration and approval of Budget Resolution 2024-02 

Attachments: 

Proposed Resolution 2024-02  

218



 

RESOLUTION NO. 2024-02 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE TOWN OF MELBOURNE BEACH, BREVARD 
COUNTY, FLORIDA, AMENDING THE BUDGET FOR THE FISCAL 
YEAR 2023-2024; AMENDING RESOLUTION NO 2023-09; AMENDING 
EXPENDITURES FOR ALL FUNDS INCLUDING THE TOWN’S 
GENERAL FUND; ESTABLISHING AUTHORITY FOR THE TOWN 
MANAGER TO IMPLEMENT THE BUDGET; AND PROVIDING FOR 
ADOPTION 

WHEREAS, the Town Commission adopted the Budget for the Town of Melbourne Beach for 
the fiscal year beginning October 1, 2023 and ending September 30, 2024 by Resolution No 2023-
09; and 

WHEREAS, this Resolution amends Resolution No 2023-09 covering the period October 1, 2023 
to September 30, 2024; and 

WHEREAS, the Town Commission of the Town of Melbourne Beach has conducted the requisite 
public hearing(s) on this resolution as required by Section 166.241, Florida Statues and Section 
15-6, Melbourne Beach Code of Ordinances. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Town Commission of the Town of Melbourne 
Beach, Florida, as follows: 

Section 1. That the 2023-2024 Town Budget for the General Fund and Resolution No 2024-
02 adopting the aforesaid amended budget, is hereby amended with the following amendments.  
Not all funds or accounts are depicted. Funds, accounts, and departmental budgets or 
appropriations not shown are not amended.  There are no revenue increases.  The overall 
budget bottom is not increased.  

#1 Re-Allocate Capital Funds in Fund 175:  
 
Utilize the remaining capital funds in the amount of $47,000, which are designated for the Skate 
Park in 175-75-575.64.01 (Ryckman Parking Fund Short Term Capital), for a ramp at the 
Community Center that is in compliance with The Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA) at the 
Community Center located in Ryckman Park from 175-75-575.64.01 (Ryckman Parking Fund 
Short Term Capital).   
 
 

Section 2. That the amounts shown in Section 1 of the Resolution are hereby appropriated 
out of the treasury of the Town and any revenues accruing to the Town available for said 
purposes of the Town’s budgetary accounts. 

Section 3. That the Town Manager is hereby authorized and directed to proceed with the 
implementation of the service programs and projects provided for in the budget. Such 

219



 

Page | 2 

implementation is to be consistent with the provisions of the Town Code of Ordinances and 
policies established by the Mayor and Town Commission.  

Section 4. That the appropriations and authorizations provided in this resolution are hereby 
made effective as of March 20, 2024. 

 
 
PASSED AND ADOPTED by the Town Commission of the Town of Melbourne Beach, Brevard 
County, Florida, at its regular meeting this 20th day of March, 2024. 
 
 
       TOWN OF MELBOURNE BEACH, 
       FLORIDA, a Florida Municipal Corporation 
 
 
       By: ________________________________ 
        Alison Dennington, Mayor 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
_____________________________ 
Amber Brown 
Town Clerk 
 
(TOWN SEAL) 

220



Town Commission Meeting 

Section:  New Business 

Meeting Date: March 20, 2024 

From: Vice Mayor Sherri Quarrie 

RE: Prohibit Sleeping / Camping in all zoned public places, vehicles, or any  properties 
within Town Limits  

Background Information: 

Satellite Beach has discovered homeowner’s allowing occupation of non-permitted 
structures (tents) on their property for prolonged periods of time. This practice is not 
excluded in any of our Ordinance’s. Only sleeping in motorhomes is addressed.  

This is not a vacation rental. It is camping in someone’s yard causing unsanitary 
conditions.  

Recommendation:  Give legal authority to make a Town Ordinance to prohibit prolonged 
outdoor sleeping and camping on any lots or in non-permitted structures, or areas within 
a residence not permitted to be occupied by non-residents for the purpose of sleeping and 
eating within the Town limits 

Attachments:  Satellite Beach draft ordinance 1244 

221



222



223



Town Commission Meeting  

Section: New Business   

Meeting Date: March RTCM  

From: Commissioner Corey Runte    

RE: Consider Installing Children’s GaGa Ball Pit  

Background Information: After receiving numerous requests from local families, I would like to 

request consideration of  installing a small Youth GaGa Ball Pit at Ryckman Park. GaGa Ball has 

been around for decades but has really grown in popularity over the last 10 years, notably the last 

2 years with the youth. It is a simple game that can be played by all ages and most abilities, it is 

very inexpensive, safe, durable, and does not require any infrastructure. Indialantic recently 

installed one in the past 6 months that has been a great addition to Orlando Park, with extremely 

positive feedback from Indialantic residents (Per the Mayor McDermott, and multiple visits 

personally to Orlando Park). Shall be coordinated with the Parks Board as well for review and 

feedback.  

Health & Public Benefits: 

1. https://www.schoolsin.com/why-add-a-gaga-ball-pit-to-your-playground.html 

2. https://www.weareteachers.com/gaga-ball-pits/ 

Location: Ryckman Park (East Side, there are multiple open areas). This park feature does not 

have foundations, so it CAN be moved if needed. 

Cost:  Roughly $1,200.00 +/- 

Parts: $650.00  

Shipping: $150.00  

Lumber: $300.00  

Mulch: $100.00  

Install: 6 Hours x 2 PW Employees (Or volunteers) 

 

Recommendation:  Discuss, Review and Approve Cost and allow PW to coordinate. 

Attachments:   

1. Online Quote for Gaga Ball Pit Parts 

2. Informational Articles about Public & Health Benefits 

3. Pictures of Gaga Ball at Orlando Park (Town of Indialantic) 

224



The terms set forth at https://www.gagaballpits.com supersede all prior statements or understandings, whether oral or written, with regard to the purchase 

of goods and services from Coach Cliff's Gaga Ball Pits LLC and are incorporated by reference into the estimate and control over any inconsistent terms in 

your purchase order or other acceptance.

Coach Cliff's Gaga Ball Pits LLC

PO Box 704
Libertyville, IL  60048
847.573.2377
info@gagaballpits.com

Estimate
ADDRESS

Town of Melbourne Beach
Corey Runte
507 Ocean Ave.
Melbourne Beach, FL 32951
321-724-5860

SHIP TO

Town of Melbourne Beach
Corey Runte
507 Ocean Ave.
Melbourne Beach, FL 32951
321-724-5860
crunte@melbournebeachfl.org

ESTIMATE # 26885
DATE 03/08/2024

EXPIRATION DATE 03/22/2024

  

SHIP VIA P.O. NUMBER SALES REP
FEG Corey R #8986 LSZ

QTY SKU DESCRIPTION RATE AMOUNT

1 00830-GRN OCTAGON 30H - HUNTER GREEN
Gaga Ball Pit Bracket System: 8-Oct 30H brackets, Template, Assembly 
Instructions, Fastener Pack and Cut-Out templates and instructions

650.00 650.00T

1 Estimated ship cost will be finalized once order is placed. 107.00 107.00

 

PLEASE SEND TAX EXEMPT FORM IF APPLICABLE SUBTOTAL 757.00
TAX (0%) 0.00
TOTAL $757.00

Accepted By Accepted Date

225



226



227



228



229



4 Back to Cheat Sheets

Why Add a GaGa Ball Pit to Your Playground?
When choosing playground equipment, there are many points to consider such as safety, affordability, durability and versality. GaGa Ball Pits check all those boxes.

GaGa Ball has been around for decades but has really grow in popularity over the last 10 years. It is a simple game that can be played by all ages and most abilities, which makes it a great choice 
for schools.

Rules of GaGa Ball
GaGa Ball doesn't require any special skills or fancy setup, which makes it enjoyable to most anyone. An eight-sided pit and a foam ball are the only equipment needed.

Players start off inside the pit with a hand or foot touching the sides. The ball is thrown in the air and after two bounces, it is officially in play. Participants scramble to hit the ball with one hand toward 
their opponents. If the ball touches a player anywhere below the knees, that person is out of the game for that round and must exit the pit.

If a player knocks the ball out of the pit, they are eliminated. The ball cannot be caught inside the pit, but an eliminated player can earn a second chance by catching the ball outside of the pit. 
Continue until just one player remains – that's your GaGa winner!

Add your own variations and rules to customize the game for your students.

Here's why GaGa Ball could be a great choice for your playground:

It's Versatile
Some GaGa Ball pits must be anchored and are best set up on grass but portable pits can be placed on any flat surface, even a gym floor when the weather isn't cooperating. You can build your 
own GaGa Ball pit or purchase a set that is easy to snap together without tools.

It Gets Kids Moving
GaGa Ball is an excellent source of exercise for kids. The game requires constant movement and children tend to have so much fun they don't realize they are even exercising. Since everybody 
starts the game in the pit, there is no waiting around for a turn like many other playground games. Before you know it, everybody will be jumping, running and skipping in the pit.

It's Safe
GaGa is similar to dodgeball but without the excessive roughness. Since players can only be struck by the ball below the knees, there are no dangerous shots to the head and face. Allowing the ball 
to be hit with only one hand also reduces the impact.

It Can Be Learned Quickly
With only a handful of rules, children can pick up on the concept of the game quickly. More time is spent playing instead of arguing about rules or constantly teaching the basics. The simple concept 
makes GaGa Ball enjoyable for even preschoolers.

It is Affordable
GaGa Ball pits like those sold by Action Play Systems feature panels made of recycled plastic that stands up to wear and tear in any weather conditions. They pits are a great investment that require 
little to no maintenance over the years.

When selecting playground equipment for your school playground or park, consider giving GaGa Ball a try. It's a fast-paced, easy-to-learn game that kids of all ages love.

230

javascript:void(0)
tel:877-839-3330
https://www.schoolsin.com/blog.html
https://www.schoolsin.com/blog.html
https://www.schoolsin.com/esser-funds-and-your-school.html
https://www.schoolsin.com/how-to-make-eans-funds-work-for-your-school.html


Every product is independently selected by (obsessive) editors. Things you buy through our links may earn us a commission.

ADVERTISEMENT

©
D
isn

y

BY JILL STAAKE NOV 8, 2023

Visit a school playground or local park these days, and there’s a good chance
you’ll �nd gaga ball pits. (They were even featured on an episode of Bob’s
Burgers!) Kids love it because just about anyone can play, and the rules are
extremely simple. Educators like Deb B. say gaga ball is a recess game
changer because “the games are so fast, the kids get out in groups of 3, 4, 5
rather than 1, and then as soon as it’s over, BOOM! it starts again.” Wondering
what a gaga ball pit is or “how do we play gaga ball?” Read on for the answers.

Jump to:

What Is Gaga Ball?
Gaga Ball Rules
How To Make a Gaga Ball Pit
Gaga Ball Pit Kits
DIY Gaga Ball Pits
Gaga Ball Accessories

HEALTHY STUDENTS

Everything You Need To
Know About Gaga Ball
Pits and Rules
It’s a playground must-have.

FREE Pi Day Worksheets! News, Vocab, Fractions, and More ✨ DOWNLOAD HERE

231

https://privacy-center.sharethrough.com/en/consumer-privacy-notice/#4
https://adssettings.google.com/whythisad?source=display&reasons=ATItlYMUNO-1blCSSrKAD4OHOcbNIJNkKQ8mWoxN4sUi5M0KKb5ZtMHP0fXJjNH83uIJTDG9tKUdXotNmUyZ2SmKNtg6T3O9ZE5vQegnJC4QV4dXrPy0svyIfx2842Nil1WHyLhVWLnUj11u_01C3i1Uf64tI7ZtfbXd2TODOUCbZ4PLTr7Kfbb-94XXe3xW7OJAkrYo8HmZUJmA6H8w67XvPhrCkzB9p_uGbLruFk30jWU7vuY-1rLEj7ZykgQKKgMbJvVSipKopmv50tgshT1q86vN9kqHT2HvNrijTSIUDAKtN1ATwISXbON_iTHiUBDsdLEohurldZyv62PrLGnyocFTNDlSaTcoTi5Wv_arNdW_jiruNK7UGIOyrF0kYJLkwh9hK-WjNA9AGqn3ptjQY4CmtlnjamwrE1MuRignuIcGgYcy6U3NJ-MuoYEHhAjFdRpUvKe-pzGckzHWmLoBlMP57-iwpk6pVuwPqCb1QXpgKTuhBcUd0aCvyIUD1yGyyFUuZc6H_-A5_Zh562JKRfQP-AJvVnuNIKw0TDfOZWzV5_0FT83LLnQP7xeO0fAaNJepVxRqizvWUs8ZMdugxOJgR4qjUdL-SEMnDGc5jV2gRhdhRhscR69sSxPUB-j6qyPHITD_VmxidbIjQEu9klpvupgSvoSJdIspYCfpebv5BXenTRV1iAUeu7O1-zcAopBjoKOov46QJr_U0q9bPyNQynr-1k4qo0_2UEo5e4vN7GgDE-0w4hnAanCJb0ybTwHArXIiDjwEOUYnFJscc9Pw5USm1PUyAj97w1KDcHvc24obAvRzhPTwhBR6AIeNfVuT3rfSO-5mUpV4qp0Lso2WfDv57FegtpcDZhFYIr4efrFSsfSBcYQvVhR_xgQA9Tg2gCVvJ3CtFI7-teIJPeMJlku7OYF_HHz4KWsvhgc5uf0CW3HZiaIaAioYzHuIbyYEJ4UeElZuoAJG2DoBuep7q4YhGVevvnxFtFvR0vxEZfsghN1ui2baJNft-1kKdQVO9LpKj9xPzzqP7ohhma8j2e0BI4hIVFlRG4yl8g-swQUujwzCq42ddwO-MwsovAvQExE&opi=122715837
https://www.weareteachers.com/author/jstaake/
https://youtu.be/-qxFzAmkFG8
https://youtu.be/-qxFzAmkFG8
https://www.weareteachers.com/topics/healthy-students/
https://www.weareteachers.com/pi-day-worksheets/?&utm_source=ticker


What Is Gaga Ball?

The Newport Daily News

Gaga ball is a variant of the classic playground sport dodgeball. But instead of
running around throwing balls that can smack kids in the face, head, and
other sensitive body parts, gaga ball limits the impact. Players slap or hit the
ball, aiming to hit other players at or below the knees. If you’re hit, you’re out.
The last player in the pit is the winner. The game is relatively inclusive, since
kids don’t need to be able to run fast, and smaller kids may even have an
advantage over taller ones.

Though it’s been around since at least the mid-20th century, the game has
only gained popularity in the United States recently. No one is completely sure
where it was invented, but most think it originated in Israel (“ga-ga” means
“touch-touch” in Hebrew) and spread throughout the world via Jewish
summer camps. About 10 years ago, the game spread from camps to schools,
with kids passing it along to parents and teachers. Today, schools and
communities everywhere are adding gaga ball pits to get in on the trend.

Gaga Ball Rules

Gaga ball rules vary a little bit depending on who you ask, but these are the
basics of play:

Gaga Ball RulesGaga Ball Rules

232

https://www.newportri.com/story/sports/2021/02/23/portsmouth-recreation-department-offer-gaga-ball/4554207001/
https://www.nytimes.com/2012/07/19/us/gaga-playground-game-is-popular-at-camps.html
https://www.nytimes.com/2012/07/19/us/gaga-playground-game-is-popular-at-camps.html
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=XWM_z6__3_Y


Any number of players can join, as long as everyone can �t in the pit and
stand touching the wall at the beginning. (Some schools limit the number
of kids and ask them to line up outside, �rst-come, �rst-served.)
To start, a referee or any player tosses a ball into the middle. On the �rst
and second bounces, everyone yells, “Ga!” On the third bounce, they yell,
“Go!”
Once the ball is in play, any player can hit or slap the ball with an open or
closed hand. Everyone may move around the pit as they play.

Players cannot hold, throw, or scoop the ball, only bounce or roll it
o� the ground or wall.
A player can only hit the ball once, unless it �rst bounces o� the wall
or another player.

If someone catches the ball before it bounces, the person who hit the ball
is out and must leave the pit.
When a player is hit by the ball on or below the knee, they’re out. This
includes getting hit by a ball after it bounces o� a wall or another person,
even if you bounced it yourself.

If the ball hits above the knee, the player stays in.
If a player hits the ball out of the pit, they’re out of the game.
Using the wall: Some rules allow players to use the wall to jump higher,
while others state that if you do, you’re out. Decide in advance which you
prefer (it may depend on how sturdy your pit is).

We Are Teachers

Ski

233



Gaga ball pits are generally octagonal (though some are hexagonal), with eight 
walls of the same size except that one is usually lower in height to make it 
easier to enter. There is no standard size, so you can alter your gaga ball pit 
dimensions to suit your space. They usually range from 15 to 30 feet in 
diameter, with wall heights from 24 to 36 inches.

If you’re building a gaga ball pit for schools, you may want to make one large 
one or several smaller ones. Larger pits tend to lead to longer games, 
although that can vary. Smaller ones mean faster turnaround time, which is 
great when you have limited recess minutes available. Whichever you choose, 
opt for sturdy materials to stand up to lots of active use.

Gaga Ball Pit Kits

The easiest way to bring gaga ball to your space is to invest in a kit. Here are 
some models to consider.

Coach Cli�’s Gaga Ball Pits

Coach Cli�’s Gaga Ball Pits

These kits come in a variety of sizes, so you’ll �nd something to �t any space.
This is a favorite brand of educators. You can customize your kit to include
just the gaga ball pit brackets, templates, and instructions, then buy the
lumber locally. Or you can buy a complete kit that includes composite lumber.
Deon D. shares, “We selected the hexagon kit with the 30″ sides and ‘synthetic
lumber’ for long-lasting, sprinkler and weatherproof, splinter-free and

HoGRADES 6-12w To MakSCHOOL LEADERSe a Gaga Ball Pit

234

https://privacy-center.sharethrough.com/en/consumer-privacy-notice/#4
https://www.weareteachers.com/
https://www.weareteachers.com/grades/k-5/
https://www.weareteachers.com/grades/6-12/
https://www.weareteachers.com/category/school-leaders/
https://www.weareteachers.com/


maintenance-free fun. We also purchased the rubber matting to go
underneath and around the perimeter to protect the grass and avoid mud. I
would do the exact same thing again.” Check out all their options here.

Buy it: Coach Cli�’s Gaga Ball Pits

Playground Out�itters Gaga Ball Pits

Playground Out�tters

This retailer o�ers ready-to-go gaga ball pit kits, with both outdoor and indoor
versions available. The outdoor versions can be staked into the ground for
extra stability, while the indoor option breaks down quickly for easy storage.
Find all their options on their website.

Buy it: Playground Out�tters

In�atable Gaga Ball Pit

ADVERTISEMENT

235

https://www.gagaballpits.com/
https://www.gagaballpits.com/
https://www.playgroundoutfitters.com/independent-play/gaga-ball-pits/
https://www.playgroundoutfitters.com/independent-play/gaga-ball-pits/20-foot-gaga2go-ball-pit/


Amazon

In�atable models are another terri�c option if you’re looking for a portable
gaga ball pit. You’ll need access to an electrical outlet, since they work via a
blower fan (similar to those holiday in�atables for people’s yards). This might
not be as good for kids who like to use the wall to jump higher, but an
in�atable pit sets up and tears down in no time �at.

Buy it: 30-Foot In�atable Gaga Pit at Amazon

Mamba GaGa Ball Pits

Mamba GaGa

These kits are lightweight and made of nylon mesh panels with steel frames.
You can use them indoors or out, and they’re easy to set up and tear down.
They o�er a variety of sizes, including peewee versions for younger kids. See
all their o�erings here.

Buy it: Mamba GaGa

ADVERTISEMENT

236

https://www.amazon.com/Inflatable-Gagaball-Inflates-Minutes-Activity/dp/B0B6VS3P3S?&linkCode=ll1&tag=wear03e-20&linkId=7d43a4aa80c553265acef1da2e8f6a61&language=en_US&ref_=as_li_ss_tl
https://mambagaga.com/
https://mambagaga.com/
https://mambagaga.com/


Treehouse Supplies Gaga Pit Kit

Treehouse Supplies

This kit includes all bolts and brackets needed to construct your kit. A variety
of brackets are available to match your school colors. Lumber isn’t included in
this kit.

Buy it: Treehouse Supplies

DIY Gaga Ball Pits

It’s fairly easy to build your own gaga ball pit, and you can save big bucks that
way. Try these DIY ideas.

DIY Wooden Gaga Ball Pits

Kaboom!

237

https://go.skimresources.com/?id=111248X1569318&xs=1&url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.treehousesupplies.com%2Fcollections%2Fgaga-pit-kits%2Fproducts%2Fgaga-pit-kit-multiple-colors


These DIY wooden gaga ball pit plans are simple and don’t require any fancy
parts. You can get everything you need at the home improvement store and
build it in just a few hours. Many educators share that their local scouting
groups built gaga ball pits at school as a community service project.
Alternatively, you can make it a PBL math project for older students. Sarah H.
said the students at her school were given a budget and then had to research
costs, as well as calculate perimeter and area. Then parents and high school
students who were taking a construction class helped build the pit. Get
Kaboom’s wooden gaga ball pit plans here.

Learn more: Kaboom!

DIY Collapsible Plywood Gaga Ball Pits

The Creative Mom

This DIY gaga ball pit is even easier to make, using just a few sheets of
plywood. It’s easy to set up and take down, so you can store it out of the way
when you need to use the space for other things. Get the how-to from The
Creative Mom here.

Learn more: The Creative Mom

DIY Pool Raft Gaga Ball Pits

ADVERTISEMENT

238

https://kaboom.org/resources/enhancement-projects/how-to-build-a-gaga-pit
https://kaboom.org/resources/enhancement-projects/how-to-build-a-gaga-pit
https://kaboom.org/
https://www.thecreativemom.com/how-to-build-a-gaga-ball-pit-the-easy-way/
https://www.thecreativemom.com/how-to-build-a-gaga-ball-pit-the-easy-way/
https://www.thecreativemom.com/how-to-build-a-gaga-ball-pit-the-easy-way/
https://youradchoices.com/


Aaron on Scouting

On a tight budget? Try this clever idea! Some Cub Scout leaders used
in�atable pool rafts and duct tape to make their own pit, and it turned out to
be a hit. This is a terri�c way to try out gaga ball to see if you like it, without a
major commitment. Try these inexpensive in�atable rafts on Amazon for your
own DIY build.

Learn more: Aaron on Scouting

DIY Fence Panel Gaga Ball Pits

Instructables

Here’s another way to save time and money: fence panels. Keep an eye out
for used fence panels, or buy them new. Then use the plans from
Instructables to turn them into a ball pit.

Learn more: Instructables

Gaga Ball Accessories

Ready to up your gaga ball game? Check out these accessories to add to your
pit.

ADVERTISEMENT

239

https://www.amazon.com/Intex-Pack-59703EP-Float-Lounger/dp/B01GZNPCQC?&linkCode=ll1&tag=wear03e-20&linkId=2ac0e1d7cf7b1fa14fdb4e99a04100e0&language=en_US&ref_=as_li_ss_tl
https://blog.scoutingmagazine.org/2018/06/27/pack-invents-homemade-inflatable-gaga-ball-pit/
https://www.instructables.com/Portable-Gaga-Pit-From-Repurposed-Fence/
https://www.instructables.com/Portable-Gaga-Pit-From-Repurposed-Fence/
https://www.instructables.com/Portable-Gaga-Pit-From-Repurposed-Fence/


Gaga Balls

Amazon

You’ll de�nitely need a ball to play, and it’s a good idea to have some extras in
case one gets lost over the fence or pops. This option comes in a set of three
and includes a handheld air pump.

Buy it: Gaga Balls Set at Amazon

Gaga Ball Pit Wall-Top Covers

ADVERTISEMENT

240

https://www.amazon.com/SCS-Direct-Playground-Balls-inches/dp/B076HC7W7B?crid=1UZRNXZDDQUL3&keywords=gaga%2Bball&qid=1699058769&sprefix=gaga%2Bball%2Caps%2C165&sr=8-1-spons&sp_csd=d2lkZ2V0TmFtZT1zcF9hdGY&th=1&linkCode=ll1&tag=wear03e-20&linkId=2cf9e1df0fa5ba653fa5acf746aebb45&language=en_US&ref_=as_li_ss_tl


Coach Cli�’s Gaga Ball Pits

Protect the rough edges of your gaga ball pit walls with these covers, which
come in a variety of colors to match your school.

Buy it: Gaga Ball Pit Wall-Top Covers at Coach Cli�’s Gaga Ball Pits

Gaga Ball Pit Rubber Flooring

241

https://www.gagaballpits.com/product/wall-top-covers/


Coach Cli�’s Gaga Ball Pits

Avoid injuries in your gaga ball pit with these rubber �ooring tiles.

Buy it: Gaga Ball Pit Rubber Flooring at Coach Cli�’s Gaga Ball Pits

Portable Electronic Scoreboard

242

https://www.gagaballpits.com/product/gaga-ball-pits-rubber-flooring-mats/


243



244



Code Review related to Existing Ordinances and STRs, 
Tighten Up Code, Handbook Creation and Officer and 
Staff Enforcement Guidelines and Training

Section: New Business 
Meeting Date:  Regular Town Commission Meeting, to 
be held Wednesday, March 20, 2024

Submitted by/From: Mayor, Alison Dennington

Topic/Subject:  Code Review, Revision, and Training 
related to STR and Town Rules as to Occupant, Noise, 
Parking and similar STR issues.

I would like to have a vote to authorize the Town Attorney 
to conduct a review and training.  

I would like part of that review to include a discussion of 
Newly Enacted law (SB280).   

I would specifically like to vote to direct the Town 
Attorney to proceed with a targeted existing Town Code 
Review related to our Existing STR and related/implicated 
Ordinances on Parking, Occupancy, Noise, and matters of 
Safety (fire, accessibility, and sexual predators), 
including but not limited to review and report as to 
whether certain provisions are enforceable or not by the 
police officers and/or Code Compliance, and under what 
circumstances and means greater enforcement can be 
achieved, and if not why those provisions are not actually 
enforceable.  I would also like the direction to the Town 
Attorney to include a determination what and how our 
Code could be Tighten Up Code so that it can be 

245



1.

enforceable and/or stronger in certain areas.   And, 
finally, to include direction to the Town Attorney and 
Management and Police to conduct some future Officer 
and Staff Training for greater Enforcement of existing 
code as it related to STRs, including some training and 
guidance to officers and staff on how to go about issuing 
warnings and/or prompt notices of violation.  

Recommendation:  

I would like to formally request a Vote by the Town 
Commission that would authorize and direct the Town 
Attorney to undertake review of our Town Code as it 
exists now, whether certain provisions are or are not 
enforceable, and to determine whether there could be 
amendments to make them more likely to be enforceable 
both legally and practically and to offer some training and 
guidances to our Code and Police officers in how to go 
about enforcing certain provisions including but not 
limited illegal/excess occupancy and parking, noise, and 
other safety issues at STRs, particularly problematic 
party houses and/or party guests who have or will rent 
them in the future.  

Materials submitted (or to be pulled for Submission by 
the Town Clerk):\

Will the Clerk Please print and attach to this propose 
those emails I sent earlier this afternoon for this item, 
which were approximately 5 emails with attachments. 

See materials provided to the Town Clerk today by email to be printed 
including some communications by and between myself and the Town of 
Jacksonvil’e Beach and attachments thereto related to the newly passed 
SB 280, and letter to the Governor

246



2. See an email from resident Mr. McBride with discussion points and 
references to Town Code provisions and references to Cocoa Beach’s 
similar but tighter code provisions and attachment thereto. 

247



image003.jpg

From: Alison Dennington
To: Melbourne Beach Town Clerk; Melbourne Beach Town Manager
Subject: 3rd of a couple materials for inclusion re my Agenda material related to my STR code discussion Fwd: SB 280/

Short-Term Vacation Rentals City of Jacksonville Beach
Date: Thursday, March 14, 2024 1:11:24 PM
Attachments: image001.png

SB280 Jacksonville Beach.pdf

Please add the attached Letter and when my letter is done tomorrow I will send it so.

Sincerely,

Mrs. Alison Dennington
Mayor, Town of Melbourne Beach

507 Ocean Avenue
Melbourne Beach, FL 32951
(321)724-5860
 

The information in this email is intended only for the use of the recipient
individual or entity named above.   

If you have received this communication in error, please destroy it and immediately notify me
in response.

PUBLIC RECORDS NOTICE:
Under Florida law, e-mail addresses are public records. If you do not want your e-mail address
released in response to a public records request, do not send electronic mail to this entity.
Instead, contact this office by phone.  

Begin forwarded message:

From: Sandy Golding <sgolding@jaxbchfl.net>
Date: March 13, 2024 at 9:59:36 AM EDT
To: Alison Dennington <adennington@melbournebeachfl.org>
Subject: Fw: SB 280/ Short-Term Vacation Rentals City of Jacksonville Beach


Hi Alison,

Here is the letter the City of Jacksonville Beach sent the Governor's Budget Director, Chris
Spencer.

When you get a chance, please send me the Florida Statute you referenced about accessory

248

mailto:adennington@melbournebeachfl.org
mailto:TownClerk@melbournebeachfl.org
mailto:TownManager@melbournebeachfl.org

JAX

BEACH






CITY OF JACKSONVILLE BEACH 


OFFICE OF THE MAYOR 


  


 


11 North Third Street, Jacksonville Beach, Florida 32250 | www.jacksonvillebeach.org 
 


    


Chris Spencer   March 8, 2024 


The Capitol 


400 S. Monroe Street 


Tallahassee, FL 32399-0001 


 


Mr. Spencer, 


The City of Jacksonville Beach (City) appreciates the opportunity to express its concern on issues 
related to the recently passed Senate Bill 280, Short Term Vacation Rentals (STVR).  For 
background, the City did not have an STVR restriction in place when State preemption was 
enacted in 2011.  In 2019, the City did adopt an ordinance focused on registration and inspection, 
to know where STVRs are located within the City, and to ensure the safety of our residents and 
visitors. 


There are several observed positives associated with SB 280: 


• STVR overnight occupancy requirements have been exempted from a 15-day cure period.  
The City will be able to cite violators based on advertised occupancy of the home; 
however, enforcement in the field by local police or code enforcement will be difficult.  If 
an officer responds to a complaint of overnight occupancy violation, there is no probable 
cause for entry into the premises or method to verify who is staying overnight in the STVR. 
 


• A municipality can fine an STVR owner $500 per day until compliance with registration is 
achieved. SB 280 requires the City give notice, with the STVR owner having 15 days to 
cure a registration deficiency.  If registration is not obtained within that period, the City can 
initiate fines. 


While these areas of improvement are appreciated, there are other sections of SB 280 that are 
seen as problematic: 


• SB 280 pre-empts local registration, while grandfathering Flagler County.  It is unknown 
why Flagler County, and Flagler alone, is exempted from this particular provision.   
Jacksonville Beach took the adoption of an STVR ordinance seriously, modeling 
numerous parts of it after Flagler County’s ordinance.  The City spent months working on 
an ordinance that is reasonable, ensures the safety of our visitors, and protects our 
neighborhoods.  The City’s ordinance includes important requirements that will be wiped 
out by SB 280, reversing local authority the legislature gave local governments a decade 
ago. 
 


• SB 280 doesn't address the concern of sex offenders who may stay in a vacation rental 
next door to our children and near our schools.  House sponsor Griffitts said on the House 
floor he would be willing to work with the Senate sponsor to address this concern because 
he agrees we don’t want sex offenders in our neighborhoods around our children.  The 
Senate, however, did not address this topic.  
 
 
 







CITY OF JACKSONVILLE BEACH 


OFFICE OF THE MAYOR 


  


 


11 North Third Street, Jacksonville Beach, Florida 32250 | www.jacksonvillebeach.org 
 


 
 
 


• SB 280 allows vacation rentals to operate BEFORE obtaining a license, while all other 
public lodging establishments must obtain a license before they can commence operation. 
It is not right to have a different set of standards for vacation rentals versus other public 
lodging establishments.  The City, and numerous others across the State, believe safety 
standards for guests of a STVR should be required like those for hotels.   SB 280 should 
require that the State license be conditioned on the issuance of the local registration 
AFTER proper safety inspections have been performed. This will ensure the STVR is safe 
for guests before they start operation. 
 


Representative Griffitts, the bill sponsor, stated on the House floor, "If the police, fire and code 
enforcement did their job, the state wouldn't have to use an 800-mile screwdriver to tighten the 
screws."  With all due respect, the problem is not with local police departments or code officers 
doing their job; the problem is that SB 280 and existing STVR legislation makes it extremely 
difficult for municipalities to hold problem STVRs accountable for the negative impact they are 
having on our neighborhoods.  As it stands, the standard is being set so high, it will be virtually 
impossible to suspend the operation of bad actors.  Nuisance violations (noise, parking, etc.) are 
typically “resolved” when the tenant vacates the STVR, thus never triggering an officially recorded 
violation through a magistrate or code enforcement board.  Under SB 280, residents will have to 
endure 5 or more violations before anything can be done, an unacceptable proposition for those 
living next to a problematic STVR. 


The City of Jacksonville Beach appreciates the opportunity to express its position on SB 280.  For 
all the above stated reasons, we do not support SB 280 and ask the Governor to veto the bill. 
This is not an easy problem to solve, and we, along with the Florida League of Cities and its 
members, are willing to work with the State to develop meaningful legislation addressing this 
topic.  We appreciate your interest in our opinions, and your representation of the State of Florida, 
its residents, and businesses. 
 
 
Sincerely, 
 
 
 
 
 
Christine Hoffman, Mayor 
City of Jacksonville Beach 
E: choffman@jaxbchfl.net 
 
 
cc: Rep. Kiyan Michael 
 Sen. Clay Yarborough 
 Amanda Thorpe, Executive Office of the Governor 
 Jack Cory, PAC 
 Jacksonville Beach City Council 



mailto:choffman@jaxbchfl.net

malleger

Pencil



malleger

Stamp







dwelling units in single family zones.

Thanks!

Sandy Golding
Vice Mayor
Council Seat 6, District 3
City of Jacksonville Beach
11 North Third Street
Jacksonville Beach, FL  32250
( 904-877-0675 (call or text)
Sign Up to Receive Email Updates

Please be advised that due to Florida’s very broad public records law, correspondence to and from public
officials is considered a public record and must be disclosed upon request.

From: Molly Alleger <malleger@jaxbchfl.net>
Sent: Friday, March 8, 2024 3:29 PM
To: 'chris.spencer@laspds.state.fl.us' <chris.spencer@laspds.state.fl.us>;
'amandathorpe@eog.myflorida.com' <amandathorpe@eog.myflorida.com>
Cc: 'Destiny.Davis@myfloridahouse.gov' <Destiny.Davis@myfloridahouse.gov>; 'Podvia, David'
<Podvia.David@flsenate.gov>; Jack Cory <jackcory@paconsultants.com>; All City Council
<All_City_Council@jaxbchfl.net>; Mike Staffopoulos <mstaffopoulos@jaxbchfl.net>
Subject: SB 280/ Short-Term Vacation Rentals City of Jacksonville Beach
 
Mr. Spencer,
 
The City of Jacksonville Beach appreciates the opportunity to provide input on recently passed
legislation related to short-term vacation rentals known as SB280. Attached to this email is a letter
expressing the City’s position. We hope the Governor considers vetoing SB280. Should you or any
member of the Governor’s Executive Office have questions related to our letter or short-term
vacation rentals in general, please feel free to contact us.
 
Sincerely,
 
 

  Molly Alleger
Assistant to the City Manager
City of Jacksonville Beach
  
Phone: 904-270-1651             

249

https://mailchi.mp/7392bfa37fd9/sandygoldingemailsignup


CITY OF JACKSONVILLE BEACH 

OFFICE OF THE MAYOR 

  

 

11 North Third Street, Jacksonville Beach, Florida 32250 | www.jacksonvillebeach.org 
 

    

Chris Spencer   March 8, 2024 

The Capitol 

400 S. Monroe Street 

Tallahassee, FL 32399-0001 

 

Mr. Spencer, 

The City of Jacksonville Beach (City) appreciates the opportunity to express its concern on issues 
related to the recently passed Senate Bill 280, Short Term Vacation Rentals (STVR).  For 
background, the City did not have an STVR restriction in place when State preemption was 
enacted in 2011.  In 2019, the City did adopt an ordinance focused on registration and inspection, 
to know where STVRs are located within the City, and to ensure the safety of our residents and 
visitors. 

There are several observed positives associated with SB 280: 

• STVR overnight occupancy requirements have been exempted from a 15-day cure period.  
The City will be able to cite violators based on advertised occupancy of the home; 
however, enforcement in the field by local police or code enforcement will be difficult.  If 
an officer responds to a complaint of overnight occupancy violation, there is no probable 
cause for entry into the premises or method to verify who is staying overnight in the STVR. 
 

• A municipality can fine an STVR owner $500 per day until compliance with registration is 
achieved. SB 280 requires the City give notice, with the STVR owner having 15 days to 
cure a registration deficiency.  If registration is not obtained within that period, the City can 
initiate fines. 

While these areas of improvement are appreciated, there are other sections of SB 280 that are 
seen as problematic: 

• SB 280 pre-empts local registration, while grandfathering Flagler County.  It is unknown 
why Flagler County, and Flagler alone, is exempted from this particular provision.   
Jacksonville Beach took the adoption of an STVR ordinance seriously, modeling 
numerous parts of it after Flagler County’s ordinance.  The City spent months working on 
an ordinance that is reasonable, ensures the safety of our visitors, and protects our 
neighborhoods.  The City’s ordinance includes important requirements that will be wiped 
out by SB 280, reversing local authority the legislature gave local governments a decade 
ago. 
 

• SB 280 doesn't address the concern of sex offenders who may stay in a vacation rental 
next door to our children and near our schools.  House sponsor Griffitts said on the House 
floor he would be willing to work with the Senate sponsor to address this concern because 
he agrees we don’t want sex offenders in our neighborhoods around our children.  The 
Senate, however, did not address this topic.  
 
 
 

250



CITY OF JACKSONVILLE BEACH 

OFFICE OF THE MAYOR 

  

 

11 North Third Street, Jacksonville Beach, Florida 32250 | www.jacksonvillebeach.org 
 

 
 
 

• SB 280 allows vacation rentals to operate BEFORE obtaining a license, while all other 
public lodging establishments must obtain a license before they can commence operation. 
It is not right to have a different set of standards for vacation rentals versus other public 
lodging establishments.  The City, and numerous others across the State, believe safety 
standards for guests of a STVR should be required like those for hotels.   SB 280 should 
require that the State license be conditioned on the issuance of the local registration 
AFTER proper safety inspections have been performed. This will ensure the STVR is safe 
for guests before they start operation. 
 

Representative Griffitts, the bill sponsor, stated on the House floor, "If the police, fire and code 
enforcement did their job, the state wouldn't have to use an 800-mile screwdriver to tighten the 
screws."  With all due respect, the problem is not with local police departments or code officers 
doing their job; the problem is that SB 280 and existing STVR legislation makes it extremely 
difficult for municipalities to hold problem STVRs accountable for the negative impact they are 
having on our neighborhoods.  As it stands, the standard is being set so high, it will be virtually 
impossible to suspend the operation of bad actors.  Nuisance violations (noise, parking, etc.) are 
typically “resolved” when the tenant vacates the STVR, thus never triggering an officially recorded 
violation through a magistrate or code enforcement board.  Under SB 280, residents will have to 
endure 5 or more violations before anything can be done, an unacceptable proposition for those 
living next to a problematic STVR. 

The City of Jacksonville Beach appreciates the opportunity to express its position on SB 280.  For 
all the above stated reasons, we do not support SB 280 and ask the Governor to veto the bill. 
This is not an easy problem to solve, and we, along with the Florida League of Cities and its 
members, are willing to work with the State to develop meaningful legislation addressing this 
topic.  We appreciate your interest in our opinions, and your representation of the State of Florida, 
its residents, and businesses. 
 
 
Sincerely, 
 
 
 
 
 
Christine Hoffman, Mayor 
City of Jacksonville Beach 
E: choffman@jaxbchfl.net 
 
 
cc: Rep. Kiyan Michael 
 Sen. Clay Yarborough 
 Amanda Thorpe, Executive Office of the Governor 
 Jack Cory, PAC 
 Jacksonville Beach City Council 

251

mailto:choffman@jaxbchfl.net
malleger
Pencil

malleger
Stamp



image003.jpg

From: Alison Dennington
To: Melbourne Beach Town Clerk; Melbourne Beach Town Manager
Subject: 1 of a couple materials for inclusion re my Agenda material related to my STR code discussion
Date: Thursday, March 14, 2024 1:08:57 PM
Attachments: Ordinance Handout for Commisioners.docx

Please include this email and attachments in full with my agenda item related STR code
enforcement Toghtening, Handbook creating, and Training.

Sincerely,

Mrs. Alison Dennington
Mayor, Town of Melbourne Beach

507 Ocean Avenue
Melbourne Beach, FL 32951
(321)724-5860
 

The information in this email is intended only for the use of the recipient
individual or entity named above.   

If you have received this communication in error, please destroy it and immediately notify me in
response.

PUBLIC RECORDS NOTICE:
Under Florida law, e-mail addresses are public records. If you do not want your e-mail address
released in response to a public records request, do not send electronic mail to this entity. Instead,
contact this office by phone.  

Begin forwarded message:

From: mmcbride@cfl.rr.com
Date: March 13, 2024 at 4:39:11 PM EDT
To: Alison Dennington <adennington@melbournebeachfl.org>
Subject: Town Ordinances for STRs


Hi Ali,
 
It was good seeing you at the STR Workshop yesterday. As you requested, I’m emailing you
the handout I gave you and the commissioners, I believe, at the January 2024 workshop
meeting.

252

mailto:adennington@melbournebeachfl.org
mailto:TownClerk@melbournebeachfl.org
mailto:TownManager@melbournebeachfl.org

[bookmark: _Hlk161238887][bookmark: _GoBack]Melbourne Beach 1/3/2024 Town Workshop

Submitted by Mark McBride

310 Second Ave.



I. Are Our Melbourne Beach Vacation Rental Ordinances Enforceable?

  § 74-38. PARKING, SOLID WASTE DISPOSAL, LEGAL COMPLIANCE, EVACUATIONS, MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS.

   (A)   All vehicles associated with the vacation rental, including visitors not residing at the vacation rental, must be parked in compliance with §§ 30-41 through 30-48 of the Town of Melbourne Beach Code of Ordinances. All vehicles utilized by the occupants of the vacation rental must be parked within a driveway located on the subject property. There shall be no sidewalk, on street, right-of-way, or grass parking.

 § 74-37. MAXIMUM OCCUPANCY BASED ON SITE CAPACITY/LIMITATIONS/GRANDFATHERING.

   (A)   The maximum occupancy of a vacation rental shall be stated in the vacation rental registration form and shall be limited to two occupants per bedroom plus two occupants in one common living area, with a maximum capacity of 12 persons in any vacation rental.

  

II. July 2023 Cocoa Beach Short-Term Rental Ordinance Changes

·  “Sec. 26.5-55. - Parking regulations; penalties”: “The maximum collective number of automobiles, trucks, boats, motorcycles, and trailers shall be limited to a total of four (4) at any vacation rental.”

· “Sec. 26.5-56. - Noise regulations; exceptions”: “No person located in or around a vacation rental at any time shall create, or cause to be created any noise or sound which is clearly audible within any other residence in the RS-1 single family residential district when the residence in which the noise or sound is clearly audible has its windows and doors closed.”

· “Sec. 26.5-57. - Noise regulations; penalties”: “If there are 3 noise violations with citations,” and the consequences are detailed in the ordinance. 

 

III. The December 2022 Redington Beach Short-Term Rental Ordinance Changes

 -Sec. 12-176. - Minimum safety and operational requirements and limitations.

(i) No vacation rental may be advertised or used as an event venue. Events which draw or invite persons other than the occupant guests who have rented the property from the owner, including weddings, family reunions, movie shoots, and corporate retreats, are prohibited. 

(j) No persons other than the occupants who have rented the property from the owner may remain in or on the property between the quiet time hours of 9:00 p.m. and 7:00 a.m. 

(k) No pool, spa, jacuzzi, or outdoor sport courts on the property of a vacation rental may be used by any person between the quiet time hours of 9:00 p.m. and 7:00 a.m. 

(l) Amplified music or other sound, including spoken voices, is strictly prohibited from being played at any time on the property of a vacation rental, except where such amplified music or sound is played within the residential structure, over speakers located only within and not on the exterior of the residential structure, and where the windows and doors of the vacation rental are closed. 



Sec. 12-177. - Maximum occupancy based on site capacity/limitations.

(a) The maximum occupancy of a vacation rental shall be stated in the vacation rental registration form, and shall be limited to two occupants (as defined herein) per bedroom (as defined in this article), but with a maximum capacity of eight persons.



Sec. 12-178. - Parking, solid waste disposal, legal compliance, evacuations, miscellaneous provisions.

(a) All vehicles associated with the vacation rental, including the vehicles of temporary visitors present between the hours of 7:00 a.m. and 9:00 p.m. must be parked in compliance with the town's parking regulations and must be parked within the legal boundaries of the property and on a paved or bricked parking surface depicted in the registration application's parking diagram. Vehicles associated with the vacation rental are strictly prohibited from parking in any other manner or location within the town, including on any town sidewalk, street, right-of-way, swale, or grass parking. Recreational vehicles (RVs), boats, jet skis and similar watercraft, campers, and trailers may not be parked at vacation rentals. Commercial motor vehicles, as defined in section 21-1 may not be parked at vacation rentals. 

 

NOTE: For the 7:00 to 9:00 curfews and for the amplified music ordinances, we need to add that screened-in rooms, such as porches, are also included with the definition of outside.  



 

 



I will drop it below here and attach it.

The first item (I) has our established ordinances for Mel. Bch. Melanie wasn’t sure if they were
enforceable.

For 74-38, I read it for what it says, “All vehicles utilized by the occupants of the vacation
rental must be parked within a driveway located on the subject property. There shall be no
sidewalk, on street, right-of-way, or grass parking.” Melanie had a problem with the first
sentence, suggesting, I guess, that “visitors” were different than “occupants.” The first
sentence basically says “visitors” have to follow our laws, which to me doesn’t need stating. Of
course they do. Also, STR “occupants” are by nature “visitors.”

Ordinance 74-37 reads, “The maximum occupancy….shall be limited to two occupants per
bedroom plus two occupants in one common living area, with a maximum capacity of 12
persons in any vacation rental.” I read that literally: if there are more than 12 people at an
Airbnb then the ordinance is broken.
 
I’m no lawyer, but I believe that if these two ordinances are enforced the way I read them,
then the 20-car gender party that happened in December at the Airbnb next door should have
been dispersed upon officers arriving.
 
So what I’m asking for is (a) a clear reading of these ordinances and then (b) education to the
public and law enforcement.
 
Items II and III are ordinances that have been enacted within the last two years in Cocoa
Beach and Redington Beach. The nine ordinances I’ve selected below are stricter than our
ordinances, and I believe would help contain STR nuisances. 

I am asking for these nine ordinances to be adopted by our town.

At Wednesday’s meeting, I will be prepared to hand this ordinance handout to our new
lawyer.

Thank you again for leading the way on this issue and the hard work you’ve already given.
 
All good things,
 
Mark
 
 

253



Melbourne Beach 1/3/2024 Town Workshop Handout
 
I. Are Our Melbourne Beach Vacation Rental Ordinances Enforceable?
 § 74-38. PARKING, SOLID WASTE DISPOSAL, LEGAL COMPLIANCE, EVACUATIONS,
MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS.
   (A)   All vehicles associated with the vacation rental, including visitors not residing at the
vacation rental, must be parked in compliance with §§ 30-41 through 30-48 of the Town of
Melbourne Beach Code of Ordinances. All vehicles utilized by the occupants of the vacation
rental must be parked within a driveway located on the subject property. There shall be no
sidewalk, on street, right-of-way, or grass parking.
 § 74-37. MAXIMUM OCCUPANCY BASED ON SITE CAPACITY/LIMITATIONS/GRANDFATHERING.
   (A)   The maximum occupancy of a vacation rental shall be stated in the vacation rental
registration form and shall be limited to two occupants per bedroom plus two occupants in
one common living area, with a maximum capacity of 12 persons in any vacation rental.
  
II. July 2023 Cocoa Beach Short-Term Rental Ordinance Changes

“Sec. 26.5-55. - Parking regulations; penalties”: “The maximum collective number of
automobiles, trucks, boats, motorcycles, and trailers shall be limited to a total of four (4)
at any vacation rental.”
“Sec. 26.5-56. - Noise regulations; exceptions”: “No person located in or around a
vacation rental at any time shall create, or cause to be created any noise or sound which
is clearly audible within any other residence in the RS-1 single family residential district
when the residence in which the noise or sound is clearly audible has its windows and
doors closed.”
“Sec. 26.5-57. - Noise regulations; penalties”: “If there are 3 noise violations with
citations,” and the consequences are detailed in the ordinance. 

 
III. The December 2022 Redington Beach Short-Term Rental Ordinance Changes
-Sec. 12-176. - Minimum safety and operational requirements and limitations.
(i) No vacation rental may be advertised or used as an event venue. Events which draw or
invite persons other than the occupant guests who have rented the property from the owner,
including weddings, family reunions, movie shoots, and corporate retreats, are prohibited.
(j) No persons other than the occupants who have rented the property from the owner may
remain in or on the property between the quiet time hours of 9:00 p.m. and 7:00 a.m.
(k) No pool, spa, jacuzzi, or outdoor sport courts on the property of a vacation rental may be
used by any person between the quiet time hours of 9:00 p.m. and 7:00 a.m.
(l) Amplified music or other sound, including spoken voices, is strictly prohibited from being
played at any time on the property of a vacation rental, except where such amplified music or
sound is played within the residential structure, over speakers located only within and not on
the exterior of the residential structure, and where the windows and doors of the vacation
rental are closed.

254

https://codelibrary.amlegal.com/codes/melbournebeach/latest/melbournebeach_fl/0-0-0-18661#JD_30-41
https://codelibrary.amlegal.com/codes/melbournebeach/latest/melbournebeach_fl/0-0-0-18796#JD_30-48


 
Sec. 12-177. - Maximum occupancy based on site capacity/limitations.
(a) The maximum occupancy of a vacation rental shall be stated in the vacation rental
registration form, and shall be limited to two occupants (as defined herein) per bedroom (as
defined in this article), but with a maximum capacity of eight persons.
 
Sec. 12-178. - Parking, solid waste disposal, legal compliance, evacuations, miscellaneous
provisions.
(a) All vehicles associated with the vacation rental, including the vehicles of temporary visitors
present between the hours of 7:00 a.m. and 9:00 p.m. must be parked in compliance with the
town's parking regulations and must be parked within the legal boundaries of the property
and on a paved or bricked parking surface depicted in the registration application's parking
diagram. Vehicles associated with the vacation rental are strictly prohibited from parking in
any other manner or location within the town, including on any town sidewalk, street, right-
of-way, swale, or grass parking. Recreational vehicles (RVs), boats, jet skis and similar
watercraft, campers, and trailers may not be parked at vacation rentals. Commercial motor
vehicles, as defined in section 21-1 may not be parked at vacation rentals.
 
NOTE: For the 7:00 to 9:00 curfews and for the amplified music ordinances, we need to add
that screened-in rooms, such as porches, are also included with the definition of outside.  
 
 
 

255

https://library.municode.com/fl/redington_beach/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=PTIICOOR_CH21TRVEPA_ARTIINGE_S21-1DE


Melbourne Beach 1/3/2024 Town Workshop 

Submitted by Mark McBride 

310 Second Ave. 

 

I. Are Our Melbourne Beach Vacation Rental Ordinances Enforceable? 

  § 74-38. PARKING, SOLID WASTE DISPOSAL, LEGAL COMPLIANCE, EVACUATIONS, 

MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS. 

   (A)   All vehicles associated with the vacation rental, including visitors not residing at the 

vacation rental, must be parked in compliance with §§ 30-41 through 30-48 of the Town of 

Melbourne Beach Code of Ordinances. All vehicles utilized by the occupants of the vacation 

rental must be parked within a driveway located on the subject property. There shall be no 

sidewalk, on street, right-of-way, or grass parking. 

 § 74-37. MAXIMUM OCCUPANCY BASED ON SITE CAPACITY/LIMITATIONS/GRANDFATHERING. 

   (A)   The maximum occupancy of a vacation rental shall be stated in the vacation rental 

registration form and shall be limited to two occupants per bedroom plus two occupants in one 

common living area, with a maximum capacity of 12 persons in any vacation rental. 

   

II. July 2023 Cocoa Beach Short-Term Rental Ordinance Changes 

  “Sec. 26.5-55. - Parking regulations; penalties”: “The maximum collective number of 

automobiles, trucks, boats, motorcycles, and trailers shall be limited to a total of four (4) 

at any vacation rental.” 

 “Sec. 26.5-56. - Noise regulations; exceptions”: “No person located in or around a 

vacation rental at any time shall create, or cause to be created any noise or sound which 

is clearly audible within any other residence in the RS-1 single family residential district 

when the residence in which the noise or sound is clearly audible has its windows and 

doors closed.” 

 “Sec. 26.5-57. - Noise regulations; penalties”: “If there are 3 noise violations with 

citations,” and the consequences are detailed in the ordinance.  

  

III. The December 2022 Redington Beach Short-Term Rental Ordinance Changes 

 -Sec. 12-176. - Minimum safety and operational requirements and limitations. 

256



(i) No vacation rental may be advertised or used as an event venue. Events which draw or invite 

persons other than the occupant guests who have rented the property from the owner, 

including weddings, family reunions, movie shoots, and corporate retreats, are prohibited.  

(j) No persons other than the occupants who have rented the property from the owner may 

remain in or on the property between the quiet time hours of 9:00 p.m. and 7:00 a.m.  

(k) No pool, spa, jacuzzi, or outdoor sport courts on the property of a vacation rental may be 

used by any person between the quiet time hours of 9:00 p.m. and 7:00 a.m.  

(l) Amplified music or other sound, including spoken voices, is strictly prohibited from being 

played at any time on the property of a vacation rental, except where such amplified music or 

sound is played within the residential structure, over speakers located only within and not on 

the exterior of the residential structure, and where the windows and doors of the vacation 

rental are closed.  

 

Sec. 12-177. - Maximum occupancy based on site capacity/limitations. 

(a) The maximum occupancy of a vacation rental shall be stated in the vacation rental 

registration form, and shall be limited to two occupants (as defined herein) per bedroom (as 

defined in this article), but with a maximum capacity of eight persons. 

 

Sec. 12-178. - Parking, solid waste disposal, legal compliance, evacuations, miscellaneous 

provisions. 

(a) All vehicles associated with the vacation rental, including the vehicles of temporary visitors 

present between the hours of 7:00 a.m. and 9:00 p.m. must be parked in compliance with the 

town's parking regulations and must be parked within the legal boundaries of the property and 

on a paved or bricked parking surface depicted in the registration application's parking diagram. 

Vehicles associated with the vacation rental are strictly prohibited from parking in any other 

manner or location within the town, including on any town sidewalk, street, right-of-way, 

swale, or grass parking. Recreational vehicles (RVs), boats, jet skis and similar watercraft, 

campers, and trailers may not be parked at vacation rentals. Commercial motor vehicles, as 

defined in section 21-1 may not be parked at vacation rentals.  

  

NOTE: For the 7:00 to 9:00 curfews and for the amplified music ordinances, we need to add 

that screened-in rooms, such as porches, are also included with the definition of outside.   

 

  

257



image003.jpg

Caution: This email originated from outside the City. Do not click links or open attachments unless you recognize the sender and know the content is safe.

From: Alison Dennington
To: Melbourne Beach Town Manager; Melbourne Beach Town Clerk
Subject: 2 of of a couple materials for inclusion re my Agenda material related to my STR code discussion Fwd: Revised: Legislative Action Alert: SB 280 Vacation Rentals
Date: Thursday, March 14, 2024 1:10:03 PM
Attachments: image001.png

Please VOTE NO on SB 280 HB 1537 Vacation Rentals.docx
revised 3 6 2024 CSSB 280 Vacation Rentals 1 pager.docx

See below.  
please add this too with attachments.

Sincerely,

Mrs. Alison Dennington
Mayor, Town of Melbourne Beach

507 Ocean Avenue
Melbourne Beach, FL 32951
(321)724-5860
 

The information in this email is intended only for the use of the recipient individual or entity named above.   

If you have received this communication in error, please destroy it and immediately notify me in response.

PUBLIC RECORDS NOTICE:
Under Florida law, e-mail addresses are public records. If you do not want your e-mail address released in response to a public records request, do not send electronic mail to this
entity. Instead, contact this office by phone.  

Begin forwarded message:

From: Sandy Golding <sgolding@jaxbchfl.net>
Date: March 13, 2024 at 9:58:00 AM EDT
To: Alison Dennington <adennington@melbournebeachfl.org>
Subject: Fw: Revised: Legislative Action Alert: SB 280 Vacation Rentals


Hi Alison,

Here is the alert from our lobbyist with information about contacting the Governor and copying his Budget Director Chris Spencer.

I will forward you the letter the City of Jacksonville Beach sent to Chris Spencer.

Sandy Golding
Vice Mayor
Council Seat 6, District 3
City of Jacksonville Beach
11 North Third Street
Jacksonville Beach, FL  32250
( 904-877-0675 (call or text)
Sign Up to Receive Email Updates

Please be advised that due to Florida’s very broad public records law, correspondence to and from public officials is considered a public record and must be disclosed upon request.

From: Jack Cory <jackcory@paconsultants.com>
Sent: Tuesday, March 12, 2024 9:56 AM
To: Jack Cory <jackcory@paconsultants.com>
Subject: Revised: Legislative Action Alert: SB 280 Vacation Rentals
 

Revised with new email for Chris Spencer the Governors Director of the Office of Policy and Budget (OPB)! 

 

Legislative Action Alert, SB 280 Vacation Rentals, Passed out of the Senate and is on the way to the Governor We need
immediate and continuous Action!

Please email and Call the Governor and ask him to VETO SB 280!

You can Email Governor Ron DeSantis at: Email the Governor (flgov.com) AND call him at: (850) 717-9337 also please CC
his Budget Director Chris Spencer at Chris.spencer@eog.myflorida.com  and call him at 850-717-9506. The volume of emails and
calls will be very important!

Speak in your own words but Attached is a 1-page explanation of SB 280 and a summary of the 1 pager, that is sited to
the lines in the Bill,  that can be used as talking points and in your emails sent to the Governor and his Staff.

Let them know:

The Bill would limit Local Governments to “Identifying” Information not the name and contact information of the
Owner or Property Manager!

The Bill would permit a Vacation Rental Owners or Property Mangers to provide a 1-800 number for complaints even
for Emergences. It does not require action to be taken!

258

mailto:adennington@melbournebeachfl.org
mailto:TownManager@melbournebeachfl.org
mailto:TownClerk@melbournebeachfl.org
https://mailchi.mp/7392bfa37fd9/sandygoldingemailsignup
https://www.flgov.com/email-the-governor/

A\ -
()

PUBLIC AFFAIRS
CONSULTANTS





Please VOTE NO on SB 280!  

[image: May be an image of 7 people, lighting and wedding] [image: May be an image of text] [image: May be an image of text that says 'Florida TaxWatch THE IMPACT OF UNLICENSED VACATION RENTALS ON FLORIDA'S ECONOMY JANUARY 2024']

SB 280 as Amended by Bar Code 814927 preempts Local protection of your neighborhood from Mini Hotels! 

Florida TaxWatch estimates that unlicensed vacation rental activity... could cost Florida...over $30 Million a year. https://floridataxwatch.org/



This Bill Would restrict Local Governments to only “Identifying” information of the owner, which could be the ABC Delaware Corporation owned by the XYZ Grand Cayman Corporation.



To a party who is capable of responding to complaints or emergencies by telephone. This could be a 1-800 answering service. It does not require actions to be taken in a reasonable time even in case of emergencies. 



The court may award attorney fees, costs, and damages to a vacation rental owner. This will increase Litigation and provides for 1-way attorney fees.  It exempts Out of State Big Tech Companies from Litigation. 



The Bill would erode the property rights of over 5 million of your constituents who bought and want to live in a Homestead Residential Property. They do not want to live next to a Mini Hotel! 





image1.jpeg

g _‘}, ';%n.

g
l Y ‘ﬁ
) " ¢ Fimi
“w (: —
—-—""— LT e

— -






image2.jpeg

ShortTerm 08
Renlals RUN £
Neighborhoods (=

wiw HomesNotHotelsIRB.org







image3.jpeg

Florida
TaxWat:

THE IMPACT OF
UNLICENSED
VACATION RENTALS
ON FLORIDA'S
ECONOMY








CSSB 280 Vacation Rentals as Amended by Bar Code 814927 



Lines 323 t0 325 (d): Subsection (8) does not apply to any county law, ordinance or regulation initially adopted on or before January 1, 2016 



· This Section exempts Flagler County from the Bill. 



Line 357-359: “…local vacation rental registration program may only require…”



Line 360: “1. Submit identifying information about the owner…”



· This could be the ABC Delaware Corporation owned by the XYZ Grand Cayman Corporation.



Line 372: “6. Designate and maintain at all times a responsible party who is capable of responding to complaints or emergencies related to the vacation rental including being available by telephone at a provided contact telephone number 24 hours a day 7 days a week…



· This could be a 1-800 answering service. It does not require any actions to be taken in a reasonable time even for emergencies. 



Line 636: (8) This section does not create a private cause of action against advertising platforms. 



· This section exempts Out of State Big Teck Companies from Litigation. 



Line 924 to 9268 Appropriates $3 Million Dollars for 9 full-time employees “with a total associated salary rate off ($) 513,417 (.00)” each at DBPR to administer Mini Hotel - Vacation Rentals in 478 Local communities from Pensacola to Key West. 



The Current Law Fs. 2014-71 (SB 356 – 2024) is a 1 Page Law it has been working for 10 years. Vacation Rentals are booming. Tourism is at an all-time high. 



Amendment Bar Code 814927 is a Strike All to CSSB 280 is a 45-pages with potential unintended consequences. 













      







The Bill would erode the property rights of over 5 million Floridians who bought single family Homes and who want
to live in a neighborhood that is safe for their children not next to a “Mini Hotel”!

The Bill would change Florida forever! 

Be Humble-Be Nice-Be Positive Be Polite! But pleas act today and every day until the Governor Vetoes SB 280 !!!

Thank you for all you are doing.

 

Jack Cory

Public Affairs Consultants Inc.

730 East Park Avenue

Tallahassee, Fl 32301

Office (850)681-1065

Cell (850)566-9175

jackcory@paconsultants.com

www.paconsultants.com     
                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                

 

 

259



Please VOTE NO on SB 280!   

   

SB 280 as Amended by Bar Code 814927 preempts 
Local protection of your neighborhood from Mini 
Hotels!  
Florida TaxWatch estimates that unlicensed vacation 
rental activity... could cost Florida...over $30 Million a 
year. https://floridataxwatch.org/ 
 
This Bill Would restrict Local Governments to only “Identifying” 
information of the owner, which could be the ABC Delaware 
Corporation owned by the XYZ Grand Cayman Corporation. 
 
To a party who is capable of responding to complaints or 
emergencies by telephone. This could be a 1-800 answering 
service. It does not require actions to be taken in a 
reasonable time even in case of emergencies.  

 
The court may award attorney fees, costs, and damages to a 
vacation rental owner. This will increase Litigation and 
provides for 1-way attorney fees.  It exempts Out of State Big 
Tech Companies from Litigation.  
 
The Bill would erode the property rights of over 5 million of 
your constituents who bought and want to live in a 
Homestead Residential Property. They do not want to live 
next to a Mini Hotel!  

260



CSSB 280 Vacation Rentals as Amended by Bar Code 814927  
 

Lines 323 t0 325 (d): Subsection (8) does not apply to any county law, 
ordinance or regulation initially adopted on or before January 1, 2016  
 

 This Section exempts Flagler County from the Bill.  
 
Line 357-359: “…local vacation rental registration program may only 
require…” 
 
Line 360: “1. Submit identifying information about the owner…” 
 

 This could be the ABC Delaware Corporation owned by the XYZ 
Grand Cayman Corporation. 

 
Line 372: “6. Designate and maintain at all times a responsible party who is 
capable of responding to complaints or emergencies related to the 
vacation rental including being available by telephone at a provided 
contact telephone number 24 hours a day 7 days a week… 
 

 This could be a 1-800 answering service. It does not require any 
actions to be taken in a reasonable time even for emergencies.  

 
Line 636: (8) This section does not create a private cause of action 
against advertising platforms.  
 

 This section exempts Out of State Big Teck Companies from 
Litigation.  
 

Line 924 to 9268 Appropriates $3 Million Dollars for 9 full-time 
employees “with a total associated salary rate off ($) 513,417 (.00)” 
each at DBPR to administer Mini Hotel - Vacation Rentals in 478 Local 
communities from Pensacola to Key West.  
 
The Current Law Fs. 2014-71 (SB 356 – 2024) is a 1 Page Law it has 
been working for 10 years. Vacation Rentals are booming. Tourism is 
at an all-time high.  
 
Amendment Bar Code 814927 is a Strike All to CSSB 280 is a 45-
pages with potential unintended consequences.  

261



Citizens Advisory Board Creation

Section:  New Business  

Meeting Date:   Regular Town Commission Meeting, to be held Wednesday, March 
20, 2024

Submitted by/From:   Mayor, Alison Dennington

Topic/Subject:  The creation of a Citizens Advisory Board (CAC)

Further Detail and Mayor Dennington’s Proposed Outline and Options for the 
Creation of Such a Board:

I would like to proposer the creation of new advisory board, to be called the 
Citizens Advisory Board.  This Board would function like other volunteers boards.   
There are a number of cites and towns, large and small in Florida and elsewhere 
that have various types of Citizens Advisory Boards.  The Town of Melbourne 
Beach has several boards including the BOA, and the Planing and Zoning Board, as 
well as the Parks Board and 2 History Boards.  These boards are helpful in many 
ways, including providing citizens and residents a chance to be involved in various 
phases of planning and discussion on various issues related to the nature of the 
Board itself, and are also additional means of getting the public engaged and 
disseminating information about the potential future changes in Town, and these 
boards are also cost effective in many ways.  There are numerous benefits and 
very few if any downsides to the creation of such a board.   
Proposed Potential Structure, Size, Districts, Quorum, Number of Minimum 
Meetings, and General Purpose and Mission of the Board

Overall Size and Established, Distinct Geographical District for each Seat (to be 
determined)  
I am proposing the creation of a Voluntary Citizen Advisory Board with at least 9 
and up to a maximum of 15 members, and that the seats be restricted by 
designated districts, which taken together, encompass all the areas of the Town.  

I would propose that these spots on the Board be determined based on a yet to be 
determined delineation of specific districts/areas.  For example, you would not be 
able to have 2 or 3 seats held by someone on the same street or in the very close 
area, but rather areas would be determined and there would be 1 seat for each of 
those areas so that the Town as a whole is fairly represented on the board, or at 
close as is possible.

262



Even though the Town is small and none of the other boards in Town, nor the Town 
Commission itself is by “district” - I do propose a “district” type manner of seats 
for this board.  There are many issues in town that affect all of the residents to a 
certain extent, however, there are in various areas of Town certain issues which 
affect one area more than another, and/or to a greater extent, by virtue of their 
location.  For example, some of the issues that might affect those who live along 
Riverside or Oak Street, are different than those who live alone the interior streets.  
Likewise, there are issues which may different in the Tree Streets from those in the 
North End of Town; and there are issues that affect those who live close to Ocean 
Ave, or that boarder Ocean Ave, and these issues may be different from the things 
that affect those along Pine Street, or along the further areas farther away from 
the Central/Commercial areas.   Thus, I propose a Citizens Advisory Board that has 
enough seats to account for enough “particular” areas, and yet that is not so small 
nor so large as to be ineffectual.  I do think that 9 is a minimum number for a 
couple of reasons.  First, if the board is too small some areas will feel left out, and 
the concentration in a smaller number of people will be or could be unjust, or 
result in a failure of the purpose of the Board.  I think anything over 13 or 15 would 
be too large.  The board probably needs an odd number for voting purposes.   

Quorum

I would propose a much smaller number be required to meet the “quorum” 
requirements, so that people will be willing to volunteer and there will be enough 
persons who will likely attend each meeting in order to have a meeting and make 
advisory opinions and recommendations.  Therefore, I would propose that if the 
Board has 9 members, then 5 are required for a quorum; or if there are 11-15 
members then there must be at least 7 members present for a quorum.  It is also 
possible that there could be an additional non-voting, or voting member, that 
could be drawn from a Commercial Business interest located in the Town.  That is 
for the TC to decide and I take no position, but that is an option for consideration 
in order to also include their thoughts, opinions, expertise as to matters that come 
up and as part of the Advisory deliberative process. 

Requirements, Terms and Number of Meetings

I would propose terms of 1-2 years, or 2 years for all at the outset, to be decided 
by application and appointment to the Town Commission in accordance with all 
other provisions and requirements in line with our town charter and code as is 
done for all of the Town’s other boards.  We could add additional requirements for 
application and appointment to this board, which can be discussed.  For example, 
we could require that anyone seeking appointment to the board for their District 
must in addition get the signature of a certain number of residents within their 
district.  I do not think that this signature requirement should be too onerous, 

263



however, but having such a requirement or something similar, such as a certain 
established number of support letters, or something similar would ensure that the 
person is interested in the position enough to reach out to those in their district 
and that those in that particular district from which they come are supported by at 
least a certain number of residents therein. 

Minumum of 4-6 times per year, or more as needed or desired on a case by case 
basis.   

I would propose that this CAC board be required to meet at least 4 to 6 times per 
year, rather than every month.  However, I would propose that they can if they 
choose to have monthly meetings.  I would propose that their mission is to public 
vet and discuss “hot bottom” issues as they come up.  For example, if the Town 
Management is aware that an issue is likely to be a hot button issue, or might be, 
they can voluntarily submit the issue to the CAC for a public meeting which will 
allow a greater chance at public discussion and debate at the CAC meeting, and 
which will benefit all in the Town as well as the Town Commission.  Thereafter, the 
CAC can write a short report and recommendation as to the public discussions 
that take place and whether there is overwhelming support for one issue or 
another, or not, or whether additional ideas and options are discovered, and at the 
very least this will be an additional opportunity for various persons to discuss and 
raise pros and cons, and other considerations and concerns about important topic 
which can be detailed in a report to the Town Commission at the next meeting.   

Advisory Only, with Written Reporting and Recommendations  

The CAC will be advisory only will not have any final decision-making authority, 
and it will prepare its own Agenda, Packets, and Meeting Minutes which will be 
published by the Town Clerk just as all the other Volunteer Boards do, and the CAC 
will also when requested or when they deem it advisable, will prepare in addition 
Summaries on specific issues and/or reports and recommendation on specific 
issues that are vetted and discussed at those board meetings.  Those will then be 
presented to the Commission, or sent to the Clerk as a report which will be 
included in the Town Commission packets.  The Town Commission and citizens will 
then be able to have a second opportunity to discuss and debate those issues.  
This may seem duplicative, but in fact, I believe that the extra time is in fact useful 
in the sense of making sure the residents are included in the process and have 
additional opportunity and time to learn and discuss important matters.  Further, I 
believe there is in fact the possibility that this process will in fact shorten some of 
the Town Commission meetings, and thus SAVE staff time and money. 

Because of the State and Town laws and policy of Open Government and 
Sunshine, the Town Commission meetings are the only time the Town 
Commissioners are allowed to discuss Town issue and matters, and at those 

264



meetings there is often a great deal of things that must be reviewed and 
discussed, and not all of that is necessarily interesting to residents.  Yet when 
there is an issue of interest, and when residents do attend Town Commission 
meetings, they do often have to wait a while until that issue comes up.   

Shorter Town Commission Meetings, Fiscally Cheaper, but with Greater 
Opportunity and More Time for Public Participation

Town residents might prefer to go a shorter, more specific, and (less contentious) 
public CAC meeting where a particular topic of interest is to be discussed and to 
make their opinions known there, and hopefully trust that the CAC will report those 
various viewpoints back to the Town Commission.  This might result in shorter and 
more peaceful discussions at Town meetings, and might make those meetings not 
as long, which in turn, saves the Town money on Staff and legal time.  Further, 
these boards cost very little fort the Town.  The Town need only publish the 
agendas, meetings, packets, and minutes - all of which are prepared by volunteers 
and simply posted online by the Clerk.  And the minutes of these meetings and 
reports are also preprared by the Boards themselves and not the Clerk, thus it will 
not place any additional strain or requirements on the Town Clerk or front office.  
The only other issue is scheduling a time and place each month for the meetings, 
but there are many places and time where this could be done, such as at the 
Community Building which is not in use many nights throughout the month, as well 
as the Masney room, etc.  

Sub-Groups or Workshop Committees on Discrete Topics that need or desire to 
meet on specific issues, or long-term issues

Finally, I would also propose the authority for this board to create sub-groups/
issue committees as needed.  For example, the issue of Short Term Rentals is an 
important issue for some residents but may not be for others.  Thus, I would 
propose the authority for the Board to determine and designate sub-committees 
for research and workshops on particular issues which would need to be public 
meetings, but which would not require the full board.   

Conclusions and Benefits:

A CAC as proposed above has the potential for:
Cost and time Savings
Greater Information Dissemination and Resident Inclusion in Important Discussions 
about Potential Decisions and/or Changes
Additional Vetting of issues by those who it will impact in a fair, open, transparent 
way.
A means of promoting more communication and harmony and staying ahead of 
issues and concern.   A means conducting surveys on future ideas and yearly 

265



Vision Planning
A means of promoting greater interest and access to Town Government and 
volunteering that may encourage more citizens to run for Town Commission office 
if they gain some knowledge and experience and enjoy the process.   

Recommendation:   

Vote to instruct the Town Attorney to draft a Resolution and/or Ordinance (if 
required) for the Creation of a Citizens Advisory Board upon general guidelines as 
will be discussed at the March 20, 2023, and thereafter, for the Town Attorney 
consult with  Management, and with the Town Commission as needed at future 
meetings to revise the same, and eventually prepare a final version for passage in 
accordance with statutes and local law for notice, publication, and public hearings.   

Materials submitted (or to be pulled for Submission by the Town Clerk)

Will the Clerk please pull the following 2 items:

   • The Town Charter and Code provisions related to the TC’s authority to create 
Advisory Boards, and 
   • The provisions related to the Parks Board itself a potential introductory model, 
but with variation as discussed above.  

I do have a large number of example cities who have created these and have 
previously given those to the clerk, but I don’t feel that those are necessary to 
present at this time.  Once this issue is decided as to whether to move forward or 
not, I can provide these as various representative examples either to the 
Management and/or Town Attorney, or at a future meetings as examples of types 
of model language used in other places.  At this time, I believe the Town Provisions 
establishing the authority to create such a board, as well as the outline and 
discussion I laid out above is sufficient of itself.  The Districting of the Seats and 
the Sizes will need to be determined, and if this is something the Commission 
would like to proceed with, I would envision another meeting on that precise issue 
might be in order and therefore, I would propose providing some concrete 
examples from other towns at that juncture would be in order.   

266



Sec. 3.12. ADVISORY BOARDS.

   The Commission may establish advisory boards to make recommendations concerning economic development,
recreation, parks, playgrounds, and their facilities and activities as well as planning and zoning and such other municipal
functions as the Commission deems advisable. Such boards shall be composed of a representative membership of
registered electors of the Town.

(Adopted by electorate 11-6-73)

267



ARTICLE VII. TOWN PARKS BOARD
§ 11-90. ESTABLISHMENT; APPOINTED MEMBERS.

   There is hereby created the Melbourne Beach Parks Board, which shall consist of five members plus two alternate
members established by the Town Commission. The alternate members will have a voice but not a vote in all Town Parks
Board deliberations, unless one or more regular members are absent, in which case the alternate members are authorized
to vote in accordance with their designation as alternate member No. 1 and alternate member No. 2, in that order. Each
member and alternate member shall be at all times a resident and registered voter of the Town.

(Ord. 87-17, passed 12-8-87; Am. Ord. 90-3, passed 3-14-90)

§ 11-91. TERMS.

   The members and the alternate members of the town Parks Board shall be appointed for two-year terms. Successor
members and alternate members shall be appointed for a period of two years whether for a new term or to replace a
member whose term expired prematurely.

(Ord. 87-17, passed 12-8-87; Am. Ord. 90-3, passed 3-14-90)

§ 11-92. OFFICERS; RULES AND PROCEDURES.

   Members of the Parks Board shall annually appoint one of the members as Chairperson. The presence of three members
shall constitute a quorum. The Board shall formulate its own rules, policies, and procedures as needed.

(Ord. 87-17, passed 12-8-87)

§ 11-93. POWER AND AUTHORITY.

   The Park Board is created and shall have the power and authority to research and study all resources and assets
available to the town in an effort to furnish recommendations and suggestions to the Town Commission and Town Manager
to improve, enhance, and manage existing parks and to create and develop new parks and park facilities. In addition, said
Board shall give its recommendations to the Town Manager as to approval or denial of each special events permit request.

(Ord. 87-17, passed 12-8-87)

Cross-reference:

   Special events, see Chapter 52

§ 11-94. PARKS AND PARK FACILITIES.

   Parks and park facilities shall include the town pier, parks and beach accesses, community center building and
recreational facilities, and any other facilities which may in the future be used for museums, zoological gardens,
observatories or such other facilities utilized for cultural events.

(Ord. 87-17, passed 12-8-87)

§§ 11-95. – 11-99. RESERVED.

268



FEBRUARY 2024 TASK LIST 

 

ITEM OPENED DUE DATE CLOSED REQUESTOR ASSIGNED TO 

Sixth Ave boat ramp 

improvements 

8/17/2022 2/7/2024  Commissioner 

Runte  

Town Manager/ PW Director 

DATE DIRECTION/NOTES 

8/16/2023 At the workshop next week. 

7/19/2023 Mayor – Neighboring property put in a taller dock that is getting destroyed, so if the Town put in a small 

dock it would not last long 

6/28/2023 Look into grant opportunities 

3/15/2023 Put on the Town Commission Workshop 

2/15/2023 Tom Davis- met with Bowman Engineering at Sixth Ave boat ramp to get them to draw something up 

1/18/2023 Tom Davis – installed the geogrid and painted the wall, considering installing a kayak rack 

Commissioner Corey Runte – come up with future vision plans and get concept drawings/proposals to 

beautify it and address parking 

11/16/2022 Joyce Barton – Spoke about possible grant options 

Corey Runte – Research funding options 

Mayor Hoover – Start with fixing the seawall 

9/21/2022 Discussed under new business agenda item D. 

8/17/2022 Research what the exact issue is with parking that prevents the Town from getting grant money  

ITEM OPENED DUE DATE CLOSED REQUESTOR ASSIGNED TO 

Lifeguard coverage 3/15/2023 3/20/2024  Wyatt Hoover  

DATE DIRECTION/NOTES 

9/21/2023 Fire Chief – Presented the different options and costs.  Continue with BCOR for the next fiscal year then 

reassess. 

7/12/2023 Create a staffing plan, budget, equipment list, and all other details to bring a lifeguard program in-house.  

What would Ocean Park parking fees need to increase to in order to cover the cost. 

6/28/2023 Town Manager – Met with County Manager, waiting on the County Commission.  

269



FEBRUARY 2024 TASK LIST 

 

Corey Runte – Asked to look into the cost of having our own lifeguard program. 

5/17/2023 Town Manager – Fire Chief Gavin Brown is the liaison for this.  Right now the Brevard County Commission is 

looking into it 

3/15/2023 Added to Action Items – Fact finding related to funding from other municipalities, open a dialogue with 

Indialantic, reach out to US Lifesaving Association and Florida Beach Patrol to see what other heavy-traffic 

beaches are doing, make sure flag signs are up to date, options and costs to get a lifeguard at our beach 

year round. 

 

 

270


	Agenda Packet Cover Page.pdf (p.1)
	Table of Contents.pdf (p.2)
	240320 RTCM Agenda.pdf (p.3-5)
	Consent 1 Board app board_volunteer_application (002).pdf (p.6)
	Consent 2 Section (1).pdf (p.7-10)
	Consent 2 Section (2).pdf (p.11-14)
	Consent 2 Section (3).pdf (p.15-36)
	Consent 2 Section (4).pdf (p.37-43)
	Consent 2 Section (5).pdf (p.44-52)
	Consent 2 Section (6).PDF (p.53)
	FD Presentation 1 Agenda Cover Sheet - 33 Years of Service Steve Stewart, Swearing In, MBVFA Donation.pdf (p.54-55)
	FD Presentation 2 Proclamation - 33 Years of Service Steve Stewart.pdf (p.56)
	Attorney Training Melbourne Beach Training Packet..pdf (p.57-69)
	Binder1.pdf

	Audit 1 Agenda Item Cover for Audit Presentation FY23.pdf (p.70)
	Audit 2 Audit Presentation.pdf (p.71-77)
	Slide Number 1
	Slide Number 2
	Slide Number 3
	Slide Number 4
	Slide Number 5
	Slide Number 6
	Slide Number 7

	Audit 3 Final SAS 114 Letter.pdf (p.78-81)
	Audit 4 2023 Financial Statements.pdf (p.82-145)
	Finance 1 February FY24 Finance Memo.pdf (p.146)
	Finance 2 FY Parking Revenue Comparison.pdf (p.147)
	Finance 3 February FY24 Revenues and Expenditures.pdf (p.148-161)
	REVENUEANDEXPENDITURE

	Public Works Activities FEBRUARY 2024.pdf (p.162-163)
	Building 1 2024_02 Building Department Report.pdf (p.164)
	Building 2 MELBOURNE PERMIT LIST.pdf (p.165-166)
	Building 3 Monthly Permit List 2024_02.pdf (p.167)
	Building 4 Inspection Totals 2024_02.pdf (p.168-169)
	Code 1 Open Enforcement List FEB24.pdf (p.170)
	Code 2 Closed Enforcement List FEB24.pdf (p.171)
	Code 3 Issued Vacation Rental Certificate List FEB24.pdf (p.172)
	FD 1 FD Report 2-2024.pdf (p.173-175)
	FD 2 Incident Address Feb 2024.pdf (p.176)
	FD 3 Personnel Count March 2024.pdf (p.177)
	PD 1 February 2024.pdf (p.178-179)
	PD 2 2024 Monthly..pdf (p.180-186)
	2024
	VEHICLE REPORT FOR: February 2024
	Car 300 Ford Explorer 2022
	Car 363 Dodge Charger 2016
	Car 360 Dodge Charger 2019
	Car 301 Ford Explorer 2022
	Car 302 Ford Explorer 2022
	Car 366 Dodge Charger 2019
	Car 367 Dodge Charger 2021
	Atv #1 Honda TRX 420 2021
	Atv #2 Honda TRX 420 2021
	SPEED TRAILER MAINTENANCE

	TRAILER 2

	PD 3.pdf (p.187-189)
	Town Clerk Report.pdf (p.190)
	Waste 1 Waste Pro Contract Pricing 3-2024.pdf (p.191)
	Waste 2 Waste Pro Spread Sheet.pdf (p.192-199)
	Beach 1 Beach Ambassador Progam Agenda.pdf (p.200)
	Beach 2 FLOC Insurance Memo.pdf (p.201-202)
	Shed 1 Utility Shed Ordinance 3-2024.pdf (p.203)
	Shed 2 Utility Shed Ordinance.pdf (p.204-207)
	Repeal 1 Repeal Ordinance Second Kitchens.pdf (p.208)
	Repeal 2 Ordinance Repeal of Ordinance 2023-02.pdf (p.209-212)
	Repeal 3 Executed Ordinance 2023-02 Second Kitchens.pdf (p.213-217)
	Traffic Study Cover Page 3-2024.pdf (p.218)
	Traffic Study Town of Melbourne Beach.pdf (p.219)
	dates Agenda Item - Rescheduling RTCM Dates.pdf (p.220)
	Chief salary Tim Zander Salary.pdf (p.221)
	Resolution 1 Agenda Item Cover for Resolution 2024-02.pdf (p.222)
	Resolution 2 Resolution 2024-02 Budget Amendment.pdf (p.223-224)
	Camping 1 agenda cover sheet for Feb 21.pdf (p.225)
	Camping 2 Satellite Beach Ordinance.pdf (p.226-227)
	Gaga 1 Agenda Item - Youth Gaga Ball.pdf (p.228)
	Gaga 2 Town of Melbourne Beach_Estimate 26885.pdf (p.229)
	Gaga 3 Youth GaGa Ball Pit - Orlando Park Pictures.pdf (p.230-233)
	Gaga 4 Why Add a GaGa Ball Pit to Your Playground__ Schools In..pdf (p.234)
	Gaga 5 Everything You Need To Know About Gaga Ball Pits and Rules..pdf (p.235-246)
	Gaga 6 OCT 30H_Green BKT_Stained Lumber_Green WTC.pdf (p.247)
	Gaga 7 Octagon 30 Green with Black SCL.pdf (p.248)
	STR 1 Code Review related to Existing Ordinances and STRs, Tighten Up Code….pdf (p.249-251)
	STR 2 3rd of a couple materials for inclusion re my Agenda material related to my STR code discussion Fwd_ SB 280_ Short-Term Vacation Rentals City of Jacksonville Beach.pdf (p.252-254)
	STR 3 SB280 Jacksonville Beach.pdf (p.255-256)
	STR 4 1 of a couple materials for inclusion re my Agenda material related to my STR code discussion.pdf (p.257-260)
	STR 5 Ordinance Handout for Commisioners.pdf (p.261-263)
	STR 6 2 of of a couple materials for inclusion re my Agenda material related to my STR code discussion Fwd_ Revised_ Legislative Action Alert_ SB 280 Vacation Rentals.pdf (p.264-265)
	STR 7 Please VOTE NO on SB 280 HB 1537 Vacation Rentals.pdf (p.266-267)
	STR 8 revised 3 6 2024 CSSB 280 Vacation Rentals 1 pager.pdf (p.268-269)
	CAB 1 Citizens Advisory Board Creation.pdf (p.270-274)
	CAB 2 melbournebeach-fl-1 (15).pdf (p.275)
	CAB 3 melbournebeach-fl-2 (7).pdf (p.276)
	Z Task List.pdf (p.277-278)

	Name: Lisa kishegyi
	Home Phone: 
	Address: 221 Surf Road
	Mobile: 5168488897
	Email: Summergirlfla@gmail.com
	Business Phone: 
	Business Name: 
	DOB: 
	Text1: Parks Board
	Text2: 
	Experience: 
	CheckBox11: Off
	CheckBox12: Off
	CheckBox13: Off
	CheckBox14: Off
	CheckBox15: Off
	CheckBox16: Off
	CheckBox17: Off
	CheckBox18: Yes
	CheckBox19: Off
	CheckBox20: Off
	CheckBox1: Yes
	CheckBox2: Off
	CheckBox3: Yes
	CheckBox4: Off
	CheckBox4_13: Off
	CheckBox4_21: Yes
	CheckBox4_22: Yes
	CheckBox4_23: Off
	CheckBox4_31: Yes
	CheckBox4_32: Off
	CheckBox4_33: Off
	CheckBox5: Off


